Evaluating a Novel Oral Vaccine Particle for use in Disease Prevention in Rainbow Trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) and Development of Important Tools for the Study of Immunity in Sablefish (*Anoplopoma fimbria*)

A Thesis Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science with a Major in Natural Resources in the College of Graduate Studies University of Idaho by Evan M. Jones

Approved by: Major Professor: Kenneth D. Cain, Ph.D Committee Members: Diana M. Mitchell, Ph.D.; Michael C. Quist, Ph.D. Department Administrator: Lisette Waits, Ph.D.

August 2022

Abstract

Vaccination is an important tool in preventing diseases in animals and humans. As the aquaculture industry has grown, so too has the demand for efficacious and efficient vaccination strategies. Vaccines in aquaculture are mainly administered by injection or immersion, with relatively few exceptions for orally administered vaccines against enteric pathogens. Oral vaccines encounter several problems associated with their delivery but most important may be the degradation during intestinal travel. A novel alginate-based oral vaccine delivery platform was developed by researchers at Oregon State University (OSU) that is designed to protect vaccine antigens during gastrointestinal travel. In cooperation with the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) and OSU, this project evaluated the ability of this oral vaccine platform to induce a specific immune response and provide protection against *Aeromonas salmonicida*, the causative agent of furunculosis, when fed to rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*).

The immune response and efficacy of a simple formalin killed *A. salmonicida* vaccine was tested by using comparing routes of immunization in rainbow trout: intraperitoneal injection, immersion, anal intubation, and the experimental oral vaccine particle. Fish were given a booster dose of vaccine using the same protocols two weeks after the initial dose. Rainbow trout were then challenged with the virulent *A. salmonicida* strain that was used for vaccine development. Results show that intraperitoneal injection induced the highest level of specific antibodies out of all treatments, and protection was significantly higher than other vaccination routes only after Freund's adjuvant was included with injections. Immersion and anal intubation treatments produced similar levels of both specific antibodies and protection against pathogen challenge. The novel oral vaccine particle successfully stimulated antibody production and provided significant short term protection, but insignificant long term protection during a pathogen challenge. Interestingly, fish fed the novel alginate particle without vaccine showed reduced disease related mortality, indicating a potential adjuvant effect of the particle formulation itself.

Beyond the vaccine study in rainbow trout, parallel studies in sablefish (*Anoplopoma fimbria*) at OSU and NOAA were underway. To assist in evaluation of an immune response in this species, a monoclonal antibody (mAb) specific to sablefish Immunoglobulin M (IgM) was also developed as a tool to measure the immune response when vaccinated with similar alginate particle vaccines. This mAb , known as UI-25A, was created using mice and recognizes the conserved heavy chain of sablefish IgM. UI-25A is highly specific to sablefish IgM and lacks any reactivity to blood antigens of rainbow trout, Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*), coho salmon (*Oncorhynchus kisutch*), or burbot

(*Lota lota*) as well as antigens found in lysed preparations of *A. salmonicida*. Using UI-25A, an enzyme linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) was developed to measure specific antibodies in plasma of vaccinated sablefish. This ELISA was successful at differentiating between vaccinated and unvaccinated sablefish based on the level of antibody titers from each group. UI-25A was further characterized and used to visualize immunogenic antigens in western blot analysis for both whole cell protein profiles and isolated lipopolysaccharide of *A. salmonicida*. Further, immunofluorescent staining of head kidney tissue imprints showed that UI-25A could detect membrane bound IgM on the surface of B-cells. These applications of the UI-25A mAb demonstrate its broad applicability to aid research into sablefish immunology.

Acknowledgments

Funding for this work was provided by the Western Regional Aquaculture Center under (Award No. 2020-38500-32561). I want to thank my major professor, Dr. Kenneth Cain, for the opportunity to conduct research in his laboratory and his provided guidance and support. I want to thank the principal investigators of the grant from which this project was funded; Matt Hawkyard, Mary Arkoosh, and Joseph Dietrich. I would also like to thank all those at various agencies and institutions who generously donated bacterial isolates, specifically Laura Sprague, Renee Yamamoto, Rod Getchell, David Burbank, Jesse Trushenski, Stacy King, and Rick Cordes. I would also like to express my appreciation for the technical advice and support of Jie Ma, Luke Oliver, Veronica Myrsell, Victoria Hulubei, Dorah Mtui, Thomas Williams, James Stone, Whitney Thiel, and Tim Bruce.

Dedication

I dedicate this work to those close to me who have provided unwavering support as long as I have known them. To my parents, Carol and Bruce Jones, who have always believed in me no matter where my path has taken me. I am fortunate to be raised by them, I could not have asked for better examples of what I should grow up to be; caring, thoughtful, and loving. To my fiancé, Whitney Thiel, who grounded me during this process, and was always there for me no matter the circumstance. I may not spend as much time on my vows as I have on this, but I will spend more time reliving the memories we've shared. I can't wait to marry you in 3 weeks <3.

Table of Contents

Abstract	ii
Acknowledgments	iv
Dedication	<i>v</i>
List of Tables	ix
List of Figures	x
Chapter 1: Literature Review	1
1.1 Oral Vaccination	1
1.1.1 Humoral Immunity	1
1.1.2 Mucosal Immunology	3
1.1.3 Intestinal Immunology	3
1.1.4 History and Present Status of Oral Vaccination	3
1.2 Aeromonas salmonicida	5
1.2.1 Background	7
1.2.2 Virulence Factors	9
1.2.3 Vaccines	11
1.3 Sablefish (Anoplopoma fimbria)	13
1.3.1 Life History	13
1.3.2 Aquaculture	14
1.3.3 Immunology and Disease Susceptibility	15
1.4 References	17
Chapter 2: A novel oral vaccine delivery platform stimulates adaptive immunity and	
provides protection against Aeromonas salmonicida in rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus	
mykiss)	42
2.1 Abstract	42
2.2 Introduction	43
2.3 Materials and Methods	44
2.3.1 Declaration of Conflicting Interests and Animal Care and Use	44
2.3.2 Animals	45
2.3.3 Vaccine Production	45
2.3.3.1 Bacterial Growth	45

2.3.3.2 Particle Production	
2.3.4 Vaccination	
2.3.4.1 Trial 1	
2.3.4.2 Trial 2	
2.3.5 Sample Collection	
2.3.5.1 Whole Blood and Mucus	
2.3.5.2 Tissues	
2.3.6 Pathogen Challenge	
2.3.6.1 Trial 1	
2.3.6.2 Trial 2	
2.3.7 ELISA to Measure A. salmonicida Specific Antibodies	
2.3.8 RNA Extraction and RT-PCR Analysis	
2.3.9 Statistical Analysis	
2.3 Results	
2.3.1 A. salmonicida Specific Antibody Titers	
2.3.1.1 Trial 1	
2.3.1.2 Trial 2	
2.3.2 Pathogen Challenge	
2.3.2.1 Trial 1	
2.3.2.2 Trial 2	
2.3.3 Gene Expression	
2.4 Discussion	
2.5 References	
2.6 Tables and Figures	
2.7 Supplemental Material	

Chapter 3: Production of a monoclonal antibody specific to sablefish (Anoplopoma fimbria) IgM and its application in ELISA, western blotting, and immunofluorescent

staining	
3.1 Abstract	
3.2 Introduction	
3.3 Materials and Methods	
3.3.1 Declaration of Conflicting Interests and Animal Care and Use	
3.3.2 IgM Purification	
3.3.3 Hybridoma Production	
3.3.4 mAb Screening	
3.3.4.1 Indirect ELISA	

3.3.4.2 Western Blot	
3.3.4.3 Cloning and mAb Characterization	
3.3.5 ELISA to Measure A. salmonicida Specific Antibodies	
3.3.6 Western Blot Analysis of A. salmonicida Protein and LPS	95
3.3.7 Immunofluorescent Staining of Membrane Bound IgM	
3.3.8 Statistical Analysis	97
3.4 Results	97
3.4.1 IgM Purification	
3.4.2 Hybridoma Production	
3.4.3 mAb Screening	
3.4.3.1 ELISA	
3.4.3.2 Western Blot	
3.4.4 Cloning and Characterization	
3.4.5 Development of ELISA to Measures A. salmonicida Specific Antibodies in Sablefish	
3.4.6 Western Blot Analysis of A. salmonicida	
3.4.7 Immunofluorescent Staining of Membrane Bound IgM	
3.5 Discussion	
3.6 Acknowledgements	101
3.7 References	102
3.9 Tables and Figures	108
3.8 Supplementary Material	116
Chapter 4: Conclusion	117
4.1 General Discussion	117
4.2 Bibliography	

List of Tables

Table 2.1 Treatment groups and vaccine doses for both trials. Stock concentration refers to the
vaccine stock used for treatment, in the case of the OV group, the total mg of vaccine per gram of
particles is indicated. Dose per fish describes the total cfu's or mg of vaccine administered to an
individual fish for an entire vaccination dose, in the case of the OV group it is the total amount
administered over the 3 consecutive days of feedings71
Table 2.2 Primer sequence details and references for RT-qPCR. For each reaction, 500 nM of each
forward and reverse primers were used72
Table 2.3 Endpoint survival (± standard error of the mean) and relative percent survival at the
conclusion of a 28 day challenge experiment for each trial. The pathogen challenge for trial 1
took place 13 weeks post vaccination, and trial 2 took place 4 weeks post vaccination. Superscript
letters denote significantly different survival percentages among treatment groups after Dunn's
test of multiple comparisons72

Supplemental Tables

Supplemental Table 2.1 Average OD_{405} (± SEM) of intestinal mucus samples from fish collected prior
to vaccination and each treatment at 2, 4, 6, and 8 w.p.v
Supplemental Table 2.2 Number of biological replicates, out of three, in parenthesis followed by the
average Ct value \pm SEM for IgD and IgT expression in various tissues in trial 1
Supplemental Table 3.1 Absorbance values (± SEM) of mAb candidates with different coating
antigens

List of Figures

Figure 2.1 Average A. salmonicida specific log antibody titers from fish serum (n = 10) at each timepoint in trial 1, error bars indicate the standard error of the mean. Fish were boosted at 2 weeks post vaccination and exposed to A. salmonicida 13 weeks post vaccination. Lines above bars indicate significant difference in comparisons, asterisks indicate level of significance (*, p < pFigure 2.2 Average absorbance value (405 nm) of skin mucus samples (2 fish per sample, 5 samples per treatment) representing A. salmonicida specific IgM measured via ELISA, error bars indicate the standard error of the mean. Fish were boosted at 2 weeks post vaccination and exposed to A. salmonicida 13 weeks post vaccination. Lines above bars indicate significant differences in comparisons, asterisks indicate level of significance (*, p < 0.05; **, p < 0.01; ***, p < 0.001; Figure 2.3 Average A. salmonicida specific log antibody titers from fish serum (n = 5) at each timepoint in trial 1, error bars indicate the standard error of the mean. Fish were boosted at 2 weeks post vaccination and exposed to A. salmonicida 4 weeks post vaccination. Lines above bars indicate significant difference in comparisons, asterisks indicate level of significance (*, p < 0.05; Figure 2.4 Trial 1 challenge results showing overall survival probability of treatment groups after 24 hour immersion challenge with 3×107 cfu mL⁻¹ of A. salmonicida isolate 15-021. Fish were challenged 13 weeks post vaccination, A. salmonicida was reisolated from mortalities for 28 days. Figure 2.5 Trial 2 challenge results showing overall survival probability of treatment groups after 24 hour immersion challenge with 1.34×107 cfu mL⁻¹ of A. salmonicida isolate 15-021. Fish were challenged 4 weeks post vaccination, A. salmonicida was reisolated from mortalities for 28 days. Figure 2.6 Statistically significant relative fold changes in genes of interest for specific tissues at certain timepoints. Lines above bars indicate statistically significant differences between groups (p < 0.05). A, IL-1 β expression in kidney 24 hrs post vaccination; B, IL-1 β expression in kidney 72 hrs post vaccination; C, CD4 expression in kidney 168 hrs post vaccination; D, IL-18 expression in spleen 24 hrs post vaccination; E, IL-1ß expression in spleen 72 hrs post vaccination; F, CD4 expression in spleen 168 hrs post vaccination; G, IgM expression in spleen 168 hrs post vaccination; H, IgM expression in skin 168 hrs post vaccination; I, IgM expression in

Figure 2.7 Relative fold changes of IgM, CD4, IL-1B, IgT, and IgD in spleen tissue at 24, 72, and 168
hours post vaccination in trial 1
Figure 2.8 Relative fold changes of IgM, CD4, and IL-1ß in kidney tissue at 24, 72, and 168 hours
post vaccination in trial 1
Figure 2.9 Relative fold changes of IgM, CD4, and IL-1ß in gill tissue at 24, 72, and 168 hours post
vaccination in trial 1
Figure 2.10 Relative fold changes of IgM, CD4, and IL-1ß in intestinal tissue at 24, 72, and 168 hours
post vaccination in trial 1
Figure 2.11 Relative fold changes of IgM, CD4, and IL-1ß in skin tissue at 24, 72, and 168 hours post
vaccination in trial 1
Figure 3.1 Purified IgM from sablefish plasma analyzed by SDS-PAGE. Lane L, protein standard
ladder; Lane 1, purified sablefish IgM; Lane 2, raw sablefish plasma. Banding at 75 and 25 kDa
represent the heavy and light chains of sablefish IgM respectively108
Figure 3.2 Screening serum from mice immunized with sablefish IgM for specificity to various
coating antigens (BBT = burbot; RBT = rainbow trout; SBL = sablefish) at different
concentrations (From 1 to 5: 0.625, 0.312, 0.156, 0.078, and 0.039 μ g mL ⁻¹ for sera and plasma;
$0.125, 0.062, 0.031, 0.015, 0.007 \ \mu g \ mL^{-1}$ for purified sablefish IgM). X-axis indicates coating
antigen concentrations. Y-axis indicates absorbance values at OD405. Values are mean of
duplicates \pm SEM. Different letters above bars indicate statistically significant differences among
groups at specific antigen concentrations ($p < 0.05$)
Figure 3.3 Screening of mAb candidates produced by 32 different hybridoma colonies recognizing
purified sablefish IgM. MS, mouse serum positive control. Dashed line at OD405 of 1.0 was used
as a threshold of high reactivity to target antigen. Values are mean of duplicates \pm SEM. Plates
were coated with 1 µg mL ⁻¹ of purified sablefish IgM110
Figure 3.4 Screening of top 24 mAb candidates at a 1:50 dilution with wells coated in 0.0625 $\mu g \ mL^{\text{-1}}$
of purified sablefish IgM. MS (dark gray), mouse serum positive control. Top four candidates,
bars in light gray (mAbs 1, 9, 25, 30), were chosen for further analysis. Values are mean of
duplicates ± SEM
Figure 3.5 Screening of the top four mAb candidates at different serial dilutions. X-axis indicates
mAb dilution in KPBS-T. Y-axis indicates average absorbance value at 405 nm. Values are mean
of 3 replicates \pm SEM. Letters above bars indicate statistical significance among groups at
specific dilutions ($p < 0.05$)
Figure 3.6 Western blot analysis of mAb candidates and their binding specificity to proteins in

sablefish plasma. An SDS-PAGE was performed with sablefish plasma, then probed with

List of Supplemental Figures

Supplemental Figure 2.1 Average A. salmonicida specific Log Antibody Titer in fish serum at each	1
timepoint, PC refers to post challenge samples. Challenge experiments occurred at 13 weeks po	əst
vaccination for Trial 1 (A), and 4 weeks post vaccination for Trial 2 (B). For all PC	
measurements, $n = 10$; 10 samples per timepoint were measured in Trial 2 (B) and 5 samples p	er
timepoint measured in Trial 1 (A).	. 84
Supplemental Figure 2.2 Average optical density (O.D.) at 405_{nm} from skin mucus samples (2 fish	per
sample, 5 samples per timepoint) in an ELISA measuring A. salmonicida specific antibodies	. 85

Chapter 1: Literature Review

1.1 Oral Vaccination

The first study of disease prevention using vaccines in fish was likely in 1938, where common carp (*Cyprinus carpio*) were protected against disease after immunization with *Aeromonas caviae* [1]. This was followed closely by another study in 1942 that demonstrated protection in cutthroat trout (*Oncorhynchus clarkii*) against *Aeromonas salmonicida* infection [2]. In the 1980s, Norway's aquaculture industry experienced a devastating loss due to disease caused by *Vibrio salmonicida* [3]. Since 1988, most salmonids in Norway have been vaccinated against this pathogen, and as a result mortality and antibiotic use have been greatly reduced [4]. As aquaculture production has increased, so too has the research and availability of fish vaccines. New biotechnological tools and research has allowed for the development of a variety of vaccine types including killed, live attenuated, subunit, DNA, and RNA based vaccines [5]. Though the commercialization of new types of vaccines is an arduous process [6], they remain one of the most important tools in the aquaculture industry and are an essential component to any large scale intensive culture facility.

For oral vaccines, the major structures of interest are the gut associated lymphoid tissue (GALT), because it is the first immune system structure exposed to the vaccine and thus key for antigen absorption. Humoral, or antibody mediated, immunity remains the most common parameter measured to evaluate vaccination success. This is because of a lack of tools to identify surface markers related to T cells in many fish species, which are the foundation of cell mediated immunity. Monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) specific to fish immunoglobulin exist for a variety of species and are a necessary tool to measure the adaptive immune response, and this is discussed in Chapter 3. To understand oral vaccination, this section will first review humoral and mucosal immunity before reviewing oral vaccination specific studies.

1.1.1 Humoral Immunity

Immunology is an important discipline within vaccinology, with a special focus on the activation of the adaptive immune response. However, it is important to note that without the innate immune response's ability to recognize and signal potential infectious bodies within a host, the adaptive response would be dead in the water. The adaptive response is characterized by a slow response that can take days to weeks to manifest and is highly dependent on water temperature with lower temperatures associated with a slower response [7,8]. The adaptive immune response can be broadly split into two categories; humoral and cell mediated responses [9]. The cell lineage vital to this process is the lymphocyte, divided into B (humoral) and T (cell mediated) cells [10]. In teleost fish,

both T and B cells originate in the head kidney; B cells mature here while T cells migrate to the thymus for maturation [11,12].

B cells are responsible for the humoral, or antibody mediated, immune response. To express and secrete antibodies, B cells are first exposed to antigens, with the help of the innate system and antigen presenting cells (APCs), before developing into plasmablasts and eventually mature plasma cells secreting specific antibodies [13]. Three distinct types of immunoglobulins have been described in teleost fish, each following the basic structure of 2 heavy chains and 2 light chains: IgM, IgD, and IgT/IgZ [14]. The most abundant was also the first discovered immunoglobulin in fish, IgM, which is also found in almost all vertebrates [15]. IgM can be found on B cell membranes and in its secreted, tetrameric form in blood circulation and mucus. Some amount of IgM can be detected in circulation without antigen stimulation, but levels are increased after exposure to an antigen and subsequent immune system activation [14]. Studies have also shown that the secreted tetrameric form of IgM can be transported into the skin mucus [16]. This antibody class assists with a wide range of pathogen defenses including complement activation, agglutination, and neutralization [14,17,18]. As the most abundant immunoglobulin, it is a popular parameter to measure in fish vaccination studies to evaluate immune stimulation and predict efficacy [19–21].

Other immunoglobulin classes are not nearly as well described in function or origin relative to IgM. IgD was first discovered in channel catfish (Ictalurus punctatus) in 1997 [22], and its functions remain somewhat of a mystery, even in mammalian species [14]. There is evidence of B cells expressing both IgM and IgD, as well as solely IgD [23]. IgD has been found in several other fish species [24–26] and the highest levels have been generally found within the head kidney [27]. A monoclonal antibody specific for rainbow trout IgD has been used to measured levels within sera, finding that levels were up to 400 times lower relative to sera IgM [28]. IgT (known as IgZ in zebrafish) has been the focus of several recent studies aimed at characterizing mucosal immunity of fish [23]. It was first discovered in rainbow trout and zebrafish in 2005, and no ortholog has been found in mammals or birds to date [29,30]. One study found that specific IgT antibodies were increased in the mucosal barriers of the gastrointestinal tract, but sera antibodies were dominated by IgM during a parasitic infection [23]. Bath and oral vaccinations, which act on the mucosal barriers of skin and intestinal tract, have also been shown to induce greater levels of IgT expression in tissues, for both bacterial and viral antigens [31,32]. To date, no B cells have been identified that jointly express IgT and IgM, indicating a separate development and lineage for each isotype [18]. These separate lineages are further supported by the current lack of evidence demonstrating class switching

capabilities of Igs in teleost fish [33]. Results from these studies are only possible because monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) have been developed that are specific to various Ig forms in teleosts.

1.1.2 Mucosal Immunology

Fish lack the traditional, organized structures of lymphoid tissues found in other animals such as lymph nodes and Peyer's Patches [34], except for some evidence of similar structures in the gills of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) [35]. Teleost do possess diffuse networks of leukocytes at their mucosal barriers, known as mucosal associated lymphoid tissues (MALT). These tissues have been characterized at several mucosal sites of fish including skin (SALT), gill (GiALT), gut (GALT), nasal (NALT), buccal, and pharyngeal [36,37]. Each of these lymphoid tissues are colonized with a diverse arrangement of commensal microbes, and any immune response must strike a balance between pathogen defense and over stimulation [38].

Immune function of the NALT has been the subject of several recent papers in rainbow trout, finding that vaccines can stimulate a local and systemic response through the nasal cavity [39,40], and in response to parasitic infection [41]. It is hypothesized that immersion vaccination also stimulates a local nasal response in fish, but further research is needed to determine the extent of local stimulation [42]. The epidermis of fish contains mucus secreting cells, making it the largest diffuse lymphoid tissue. IgM plays a major role in the SALT, but IgT levels are much higher in the skin mucus relative to sera [43,44]. The buccal and pharyngeal ALTs are relatively new discoveries in rainbow trout, with both being characterized by a strong IgT response after parasitic infection, with only limited IgM and IgD detection [45]. The GiALT is unique to fish, and the only tissue that also contains organized lymphoid structures, the interbranchial lymphoid tissue (ILT), thus far found only in salmonid species [46] and more recently zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) [47]. These structures are characterized by a site of maturation or development of immune cells.

1.1.3 Intestinal Immunology

In terms of oral vaccination, the gut associated lymphoid tissue (GALT), is the most important site of immune activation. This may also be the most well researched ALT in fish and was first reviewed in 1988 [48]. Gut B cells, both IgM+ and IgT+, are primarily found in the lamina propria, with IgT+ cells making up 54% of total resident B cells in rainbow trout [23]. A major role in the GALT is its ability to absorb antigens to stimulate an immune response, this was first reported in carp [49,50] and later sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*) [51]. In most fish, the gastrointestinal tract can be divided into three segments; the first being dedicated to protein absorption [52], the second specializes in

macromolecule uptake [53], and the full function of the third segment is still debated but ostensibly is not involved with nutrient absorption due to limited presence of microvilli [54].

Absorption was closely characterized in carp with both soluble and particulate antigens delivered to the gastrointestinal tract in several studies. Researchers found that both antigen types were absorbed in the second gut segment by epithelial cells, then transported through vacuoles before being presented to interepithelial macrophages [55]. They also found specific antibodies in the skin mucus and sera for the particulate antigen, but the soluble antigen only provoked an antibody response in the sera [56]. This demonstrates a common mucosal system throughout the fish, since gut antigen exposure led to skin antibody production, and that the transportation of sera antibodies to mucosal sites is somewhat limited. Differences were also found in the processing time for the antigen types, with the receptor mediated uptake of particulate antigens transporting them to the blood in as little as 30 minutes in trout [57] and carp [58], while the soluble antigen presence in the blood was only observed 4 hours after exposure in carp [56]. These studies confirmed that the second gut segment was the primary site of immune activation, with large numbers of resident macrophages present in a stable state and smaller, mobile macrophages arriving after antigen exposure [56]. Though it should be noted, due to the diversity of teleosts, there are likely differences in the sites and structures important for antigen sampling among species [59].

Tolerance of antigens is an important part of mucosal and gut immunity because the mucosal barriers are permanently exposed to foreign substances as the host's first line of defense. Over exposure, or continuous stimulation of the GALT has been shown to limit the immune response over time in several species including trout [60], coho salmon [61], and carp [62]. Known as 'oral tolerance' due to the focus on oral vaccination, this effect has also been observed with anal delivery of antigens [56,63]. Mucosal surfaces of animals, including fish, are required to be somewhat tolerogenic due to the constant interaction with commensal microbes. The process of this tolerance and its effect on stimulation of the systemic immune system is not well understood, though as our understanding of the microbiome of animals increases it should help illuminate these unknowns [38].

Presence of immunoglobulins in the gut mucosa are difficult to measure in part due to the difficulty of obtaining high quality samples [64]. Research has demonstrated that sera IgM is quickly degraded in the presence of gut mucus, but not skin mucus, likely because of the high proteolytic activity [65]. Several authors have also hypothesized that there are subtle differences in the structure or specificity of sera and mucus IgM and that current mAbs used to identify Igs may not be sensitive to these [23,50,64]. One study found that a mAb could be specific to the heavy (H) chain of mucus IgM, but not sera IgM in carp [65]. There is still difficulty in using tools to measure specific IgT levels in

mucosal samples. Much of the research has focused on rainbow trout, where the isotype was originally discovered, and on mucosal surfaces other than the gut [41,66,67]. Recently, a mAb was developed for IgT in yellow croaker (*Larimichthys crocea*), which will likely provide a useful comparison as IgT and other mucosal immune responses are characterized in multiple fish species [68].

1.1.4 History and Present Status of Oral Vaccination

Oral vaccination refers to any formulated vaccine that is delivered through the buccal cavity into the gastrointestinal tract. The earliest oral vaccination experiment in the literature is by Duff in 1942, who used a killed *A. salmonicida* preparation to coat feed particles which successfully protected cutthroat trout (*Oncorhynchus clarkii*) in a pathogen challenge [2]. Since then, advancements in both preparation and administration of oral vaccines have been made for fish and there are currently several commercial products used to protect against the following pathogens: infectious pancreatic necrosis virus (IPNv), spring viremia of carp virus (SVCv), infectious salmon anemia virus (ISAv), *Piscirickettsia salmonis, Yersinia ruckeri, Vibrio spp.*, and *Lactococcus garviae* [5,69–71]. One of the main obstacles to developing efficacious oral vaccines is protecting the antigen during passage through acidic environment of the stomach until it reaches the second gut segment [72]. This destruction means that oral vaccines more often require higher doses of antigen, compared to anal vaccination, in order to stimulate similar levels of specific IgM. In one case, oral vaccination required a dose 50x higher than anal vaccination to achieve similar specific IgM levels in sera [73]. Though oral vaccination is proven to stimulate an immune response and provide protection against disease, this inefficiency currently makes it a less attractive commercial option in the industry.

Various strategies have been used for antigen encapsulation or delivery preparation for use in oral vaccines, and it remains an active area of study [74]. One common method is coating feed particles directly with vaccine antigens either by mixing with feed in a liquid form [75] or using an oil to bind other forms of vaccine (encapsulated particles or powdered) to the surface of the feed particle [76]. These methods are simple; however, they leave the vaccine exposed to potential degradation during gut transit. Vaccines can be incorporated into the feed during the formulation process, but only at later stages because temperatures and pressures during other production stages would destroy the vaccine [72].

Encapsulation of oral vaccines, to protect them prior to absorption, is achieved in several ways. Microalgae research is growing quickly and has great potential because of the wide availability and low costs. One study transformed algae to promote expression of an antigenic protein from *Renibacterium salmoninarum*, the causative agent of bacterial kidney disease, and found that oral vaccination with the algae promoted a specific antibody response [77]. Another study encapsulated green fluorescent protein (GFP) in microalgae and detected it in intestinal tissues of zebrafish after oral feeding [78]. Though these results are promising, no evidence of disease protection from a microalgal encapsulated oral vaccine has been published. Encapsulation within microparticles is another common method for oral vaccine delivery. Alginate microparticles (AM), a natural polysaccharide found in the cell wall of brown algae species, is an extremely promising drug delivery system in human and animal medicine [79]. AMs have been tested for oral vaccination in fish at least since 1994 [80], and include many vaccines against a variety of pathogens such as V. anguillarum [81], A. hydrophila [82], L. garvieae [83], IHNv [84], S. iniae [85], SVCv [86], IPNv [87], LCDv [88], and A. salmonicida [89]. All studies were successful at promoting a specific immune response, though the type of vaccine varied, with DNA vaccines being well represented [84–89] relative to whole cell or antigen preparations [81–83]. Nanoparticles are another promising method of encapsulation that have recently been the subject of several reviews [74,90–92]. Nanoparticles with inactivated virus reduced mortality in Atlantic salmon challenged with ISAv, though an adjuvant within the nanoparticles was required for significant protection [93]. In rohu (Labeo rohita) an outer membrane protein vaccine to A. hydrophila stimulated specific antibody production and reduced mortality during challenge after oral administration of nanoparticles [94]. Several studies have obtained relative percent survival (RPS) greater than 70% using nanoparticles or virus like particles (VLP) orally administered in a variety of species including black seabream (Acanthopagrus schlegelii) [95], Atlantic salmon [93], rohu [96], and grouper [97].

Some microorganisms are hearty enough to weather the digestive environment, and bacteria, yeast, and plant cells are all potential carriers for oral vaccines [71]. Oral vaccines that protect against enteric pathogens, or those that normally colonize and infect the gastrointestinal tract, have had the most widespread success. The first commercial oral vaccine, AquaVac ERM Oral [98], was developed after a long history of successful experimental oral vaccines for rainbow trout starting in 1965 [99]. This is an inactivated whole cell bacterium that ultimately offers better protection through injection and immersion routes. Therefore, the commercial product is offered strictly as a secondary booster to the more effective primary routes. More recently there has been progress in a live attenuated vaccine against *Edwardsiella ictaluri* for use in channel and hybrid catfish (*Ictaluris punctata*) [75,100]. This is a unique and simple preparation, with the live bacterial vaccine diluted in well-water before being sprayed onto feed immediately before feeding. Significant protection has been demonstrated with RPS ranging between 80-100% depending on the dose used. Other research into live attenuated oral vaccines is limited, partly because few live attenuated vaccines are available for any immunization route. Instead of coating feed directly, other studies have utilized oral gavage or

microparticle encapsulation to administer the vaccines. In Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*), an avirulent *Streptococcus agalacitae* was delivered by oral gavage and provided an RPS of 71% during challenge 15 days after vaccination, but this declined to 53% at 30 days post vaccination and both were outperformed by the injection vaccination [101]. Another study tested alginate microparticles both unencapsulated and encapsulation with a live vaccine *Flavobacterium psychrophilum* [102]. Researchers demonstrated that the attenuated vaccine was still viable after encapsulation, though a stronger serum antibody response was observed in the nonencapsulated treatment that was equal to the antibody response of fish vaccinated by injection. There was evidence of protection during pathogen challenge; however, a high challenge dose overwhelmed protection even in injection vaccinated groups, muddling interpretation of the results. An older study encapsulated a live attenuated VHSv in lipid particles fed directly to fish which provided RPS values of 37% and 100% during challenge 28 days after vaccination [103]. However, this study did not report specific antibody responses or duration of protection.

Though their effectiveness is variable and generally lower than injection or immersion, orally administered vaccines can stimulate immune responses and, in some cases, provide acceptable levels of protection. In certain situations, like the live attenuated *E. ictaluri* vaccine [100], it is preferred over immersion, because fish are stocked into ponds prior to immunocompetence. Harvesting fish for vaccination is prohibitively expensive and stressful, reducing the economic returns of vaccination, so oral delivery is ideal for pond raised fish. The same argument can be made for fish stocked in net pens, since limited access to animals requires a much easier and efficient vaccination strategy for implementation. Enteric pathogens, such as *Y. ruckeri*, are good candidates for oral vaccination because of the reduced complexity of encapsulation requirements [99]. Though few oral vaccines have widespread use, the potential benefits provide incentive enough for continued research and development. To create more successful oral vaccines, research should aim to improve encapsulation techniques, develop more tools to evaluate mechanisms of mucosal immunity, and further characterize the relationship between commensals and the mucosal lymphoid tissues.

1.2 Aeromonas salmonicida

1.2.1 Background

Diseases caused by *Aeromonas salmonicida* are some of the oldest described in aquaculture facilities, dating back to 1890 in brown trout (*Salmo trutta*) [104]. According to the name '*salmonicida*' it was originally thought that the bacteria inhabited only cultured salmonid species, but epidemiological investigations into wild fish, both salmonid and other, have revealed the wide variety of species and aquatic environments where the bacteria is present. Many members of the Aeromonas are associated

with diseases in fish; however, relatively few are primary pathogens that cause disease in healthy fish populations, *A. salmonicida* being one of the most important in the aquaculture industry.

Within the species A. salmonicida there exist 5 currently described subspecies; salmonicida, achromogenes [105], masoucida [106], smithia [107], pectinolytica [108]. Subspecies salmonicida was the first discovered and most important fish pathogen in aquaculture for decades. The others, collectively known as 'atypical' strains, were discovered later, and are separated mainly because they lack the characteristic brown pigment developed on agar cultures of 'typical' A. salmonicida subsp. salmonicida. These atypical strains are relatively diverse in their physiological, genetic, and biochemical characteristics compared to the more homologous typical strains [107,109,110]. Even with modern genetic and biochemical assays to describe bacteria, grouping novel isolates into specific subspecies has been anything but straightforward [111], and new phenotypes are still being discovered [112]. Recent reports of ulcer diseases caused by atypical A. salmonicida infection in marine species include lumpfish (Cyclopterus lumpus) [112], common dab (Limanda limanda) [113], ballan wrasse (Labrus bergylta) [114], and black rockfish (Sebastes schlegeli) [115]. The occurrence of atypical infections in a variety of hosts has been reviewed extensively in recent years [116,117]. Reports of novel species infections and literature reviews emphasize to the diversity of the bacterium and its ability to infect a variety of hosts, causing similar diseases with a variety of names including trout ulcer disease, goldfish ulcer disease, carp erythrodermatitis, furunculosis, or simply ulcer disease [117,118].

Typical *A. salmonicida* subsp. *salmonicida* was the first characterized group and is the causative agent of furunculosis [119,120]. It is most often identified as a nonmotile, gram-negative rod bacterium that produces a brown diffuse pigment when grown aerobically in the presence of tyrosine, which is still the main characteristic to presumptively identify typical *A. salmonicida* growth [120]. Infections are grouped into several categories based on clinical signs of disease [121]. Latent infections, or carrier status, is quite common in fish farms and result in no mortality or signs of disease even though the bacterium may be isolated from apparently healthy fish. Chronic and subacute infections are characterized by the skin lesions, or furuncles, which the disease is named for, and are most often seen in older fish. Acute infections are associated with darkened skin, reduced feeding, petechial hemorrhaging, and internal pathology such as softened kidney, enlarged spleen, pale liver, and extensive visceral hemorrhaging [121].

Transmission of the pathogen is still not completely clear, though research continues to illuminate potential mechanisms. Currently, *A. salmonicida* is known to survive in fresh, brackish, and salt water; however, methods used for these studies are questioned due to unrealistic (i.e., sterilized)

preparation of the growth cultures [122]. These questions, combined with the difficulty of isolating the pathogen from mixed cultures obtained from water samples, indicate that there may be other environmental reservoirs of the pathogen other than covert (i.e., no clinical signs of disease) fish carriers of the bacteria [122,123]. It was recently shown that microplastics in the marine environment can harbor *A. salmonicida* and be a possible vector of transmission [124]. One study attempted to induce vertical transmission in rainbow trout, but the bacteria could not be isolated from offspring of either naturally or experimentally infected groups [125] and no other research has demonstrated its significance in spreading disease. Horizontal transmission through carrier fish, contaminated water, or contaminated equipment is viewed as the most significant contributor to disease spread. This mode has been proven by experiments where a small number of 'donor' fish were injected with large concentrations of virulent bacteria and placed into tanks with other fish that eventually succumbed to disease and mortality [126–129]. However, it should be stated that transmission of the pathogen does not necessarily equate to a disease outbreak and mortalities. In some cases, high water temperatures [129] and corticosteroid injections [123,130] have been successfully used to induce an outbreak in carrier fish.

The uptake of bacteria into fish has been experimentally demonstrated through the gill, lateral line, abraded skin, anus, and oral cavity [131]. In one study, *A. salmonicida* was found in the blood, kidney, and spleen of rainbow trout within 2 minutes of immersion in tank water containing 10^4 bacterial cells, though it did not induce disease and by 24 hours after immersion the pathogen could not be cultured from fish tissues unless a corticosteroid injection was administered [132]. There has been debate about the ability of *A. salmonicida* to infect fish through the gastrointestinal tract, several studies were unable to induce infection by coating feed with viable *A. salmonicida* [133,134], or by oral intubation [123]. However, at least one study was successful in causing disease in Atlantic salmon through oral intubation [135], and another recent experiment demonstrated the ability of *A. salmonicida* to be translocated across the intestinal epithelia of rainbow trout *in vitro* [136]. There is likely no single route of entry for the pathogen, and its ability to infect or cause disease is a result of a variety of abiotic and biotic factors influencing the host-pathogen relationship.

1.2.2 Virulence Factors

There are numerous factors that contribute to virulence of *A. salmonicida*, the main mechanisms defined in the literature include the A-layer, a Type III Secretion System, and various extracellular products [137]. Possibly the most studied is the presence of an additional layer on the outside of the cell membrane, found on 'rough' colonies that are traditionally more virulent than their smooth counterparts [138,139]. Known as the A-layer and encoded by the *vapA* gene, it is the main cell

surface protein and arranged in a repeating tetragonal patterned structure attached to a diazoidosulfanilic acid associated with the cell surface lipopolysaccharide (LPS) [140]. Garduno et al. [141] showed that colonies possessing this structured protein were able to adhere and survive within macrophages after engulfment, this was confirmed by Graham et al. [142] who found that isolates without the A-layer were destroyed by macrophages. It is now thought that the A-layer is not required for a virulent strain because isolates lacking it can still be moderately virulent [143] and virulence varies widely across isolates with similar phenotypes [144]. The A-layer is an important component of immune avoidance during early stages of infections, but the precise mechanisms of how it relates to virulence after initial phagocytosis remains unclear. The outer membrane LPS is an immunoreactive cell surface antigen; however, purified A. salmonicida LPS has not been demonstrated as pathogenic [145,146]. On the other hand, LPS has been shown to aggregate important toxins for virulence, most notably glycerophospholipid cholesterol acyltransferase (GCAT) [147]. This GCAT/LPS complex demonstrated higher leukocytolytic, cytotoxic, and hemolytic tendencies compared to GCAT in isolation when administered to Atlantic salmon, indicating that LPS is an important component of virulence for this toxin [147]. Originally, evidence of a capsule around A. salmonicida cells, grown under specific in vitro conditions or in vivo with intraperitoneal chambers, was attributed to the LPS [148] but is now recognized as a capsule [149]. Merino et al. [150,151] demonstrated its ability to increase invasion into cells and resist complement by decreasing the binding ability of C3b to the surface of bacteria.

A Type III secretion system (T3SS) was discovered in *A. salmonicida* in 2002 [152] and is likely necessary for virulence [153]. The T3SS has been extensively reviewed and diverse forms have been found in over 25 species of gram negative bacteria [154]. By using mutants of *A. salmonicida* with inhibited T3SS it has been demonstrated that T3SS is the primary virulence mechanism of *A. salmonicida* [152,155–157]. It has also been shown that growing *A. salmonicida* at high temperatures can inhibit virulence [158]. This occurs due to rearrangement of the relatively unstable pAsa5 plasmid, high temperatures can also disrupt A-layer formation further altering virulence [157]. The detailed structure, function, and effects on host cells of T3SS in *A. salmonicida* has been reviewed by Vanden Bergh and Frey [159], and more recently by Frey and Origgi [160]. The T3SS appears to be necessary to cause disease and mortality in fish, one study showed that A. salmonicida isolates lacking the T3SS were unable to suppress the immune system of infected rainbow trout and caused no mortality [161]. There has also been research into possible virulence mechanism of a type IV pili system [162]. Even though it exists in *A. salmonicida* subsp. *salmonicda*, its relationship to virulence has not been well characterized to date [122].

Extracellular products (ECP), primarily proteases and lipases, also aid in the virulence of *Aeromonas* spp. by overcoming host defenses and sourcing nutrients from the host for bacterial use [163]. There are a wide variety of proteases characterized in *A. salmonicida* [164], and without them some mutants become avirulent [165]. Recently it was found that expression of the enzyme lactoylglutathione lyase was significantly overexpressed in the bacteria during the early stages of infection in rainbow trout [166]. This enzyme is associated with resistance to oxidative stress and cellular detoxification in other bacteria [167]. There is evidence that combinations of protease and lipases can form toxins that cause the traditional pathology of furunculosis [168,169], and the current list of known ECPs produced by *A. salmonicida* is well described [122].

1.2.3 Vaccines

Earlier sections of this chapter have described the importance of vaccines in aquaculture and the mechanisms of the adaptive immune response. Vaccines to protect against furunculosis, or any disease caused by typical or atypical A. salmonicida infection, are still an important area of research for aquaculture. The call for widespread vaccination came in the early 1980s, as Scotland's Atlantic salmon industry was experiencing heavy mortalities after asymptomatic carrier fish were transferred to marine net pens [170]. First attempts at formalin killed and purified cell surface antigen vaccines resulted in little to no protection against disease [171], and previously infected rainbow trout showed no protection during subsequent infections [172]. These early results suggest the difficulty of obtaining immunity against A. salmonicida, as well as providing some evidence that disease protection may rely heavily on non-specific factors which simple vaccine preparations cannot effectively stimulate. Addition of adjuvants, such as mineral oil [133,134] or Freund's complete adjuvant (FCA) [173] to these vaccines greatly increased efficacy and agglutinating antibody levels. It was also noted that primary protective antigens were the polysaccharide capsule and iron regulated outer membrane proteins [174]. It was initially thought that antibodies to the A-layer were not necessary for protection [175]; however, results from several more recent studies have shown the opposite [176–178] and it is now accepted that furunculosis vaccines should include some components of the A-layer.

As furunculosis expanded to the Norwegian aquaculture industry, interest in vaccine research increased. Intraperitoneal injection with adjuvant continued to demonstrate the greatest protection in experimental [179] and field studies [180]. The success of these experiments, and development of multivalent vaccines that protect against both furunculosis and vibriosis [181], eventually lead to mass vaccination and a significant decrease in antibiotic use for the industry [182]. Currently,

injection vaccines adjuvanted with an oil-based mixture are still the standard, and the lack of mortality events in areas with mass vaccination are evidence of their continued success [183].

Historic evidence has shown some ability of oral vaccines to provide protection against furunculosis in salmonids [2], but other studies have shown that protection was either short lived, or highly variable [184–186]. Other studies have attempted to use oral vaccines as a booster after the initial injection dose, this was done in turbot (*Scophthalmus maximus*) with no success at increasing protection or immune response for an atypical furunculosis vaccine [187]. Another study developed a recombinant vaccine with a modified A-layer antigen and encapsulated it within alginate microparticles fed directly to goldfish (*Carassius auratus*), they found that specific antibody titers were increased but they offered no protection during a pathogen challenge [89]. Another oral vaccine was developed by Irie et al. [188], which used extracellular supernatant as the vaccine antigen that was encapsulated within liposomes. They found an increase in specific antibodies and protection with this formulation in carp (*Cyprinus carpio*); however, sample sizes were 8 and 6 for the control and vaccinated groups, respectively. Only one study has been published since 2007 using oral vaccines against furunculosis [189].

Immersion vaccines have also proven somewhat successful for furunculosis in several recent studies. Villumsen and Raida [190] found high levels of antibody production and protection from a simple formalin killed immersion vaccine and found that even without a booster fish were protected for 24 weeks after immunization with a relative percent survival of 70%. Chettri et al. [128] also found significant protection against furunculosis using a multivalent mixture of commercial and autogenous formalin killed vaccines administered by immersion. Both studies were performed using rainbow trout as a model species, generally seen as the most resistant salmonid to *A. salmonicida* infection, but mortality was still induced in both challenges, with survival at 70% for Villumsen and Raida, and as low as 16% in Chettri's study.

Forms of vaccine other than formalin killed *A. salmonicida* isolates have also been investigated. One strain was attenuated by continuous culture in lab conditions and after injection or immersion it provided significant protection to both brook trout and Atlantic salmon [191]. The mechanisms of attenuation were not discussed, but it is likely that it was A-layer deficient due to a lack of autoagglutination. Other researchers have constructed *aroA* deficient isolates that worked well under certain conditions; specifically, the broth grown isolate outperformed the freeze-dried form during pathogen challenges [192,193]. Grove et al. [194] studied the persistence of *aroA* mutant DNA in head kidney and spleen, finding that 16s DNA was absent by 12 weeks post vaccination, while 75% of fish vaccinated with a commercial product were positive. Research into the importance of certain

antigens in vaccine production has created some conflicting results. Bergh et al. [195] tested two inactivated vaccines, one from an isolate lacking the T3SS and one wildtype isolate, they found that presence of the T3SS reduced protective ability in rainbow trout. However, another study found that a T3SS mutant producing a weak toxoid provided protection equal to commercial multivalent vaccine in Arctic char (*Salvelinus alpinus*) [196]. Varying results could be caused by other differences of the *A. salmonicida* mutants used, the different species used, or the challenge timing and method.

Antibody production specific to *A. salmonicida* is an important, but not absolute, indicator of vaccine success. Romstad et al. [177] showed that antibody levels and protection were related in Atlantic salmon. Villumsen et al. [197] found a similar relationship in rainbow trout, and interestingly that antibody levels decreased significantly within 3 days of challenge initiation. Previous passive immunization studies have demonstrated the abilities of specific antibodies to induce protection in challenged fish. Antibodies specific to proteases produced by bacteria were protective when rainbow trout were infected [198]. Antibodies developed against whole cell virulent isolates were also protective during *A. salmonicida* infection in brook trout (*Salvelinus fontinalis*) [191]. Other results suggest that non-antibody mediated defenses play a role in vaccine efficacy, even when specific antibodies are almost non-existent there remains some level of protection in turbot [187]. Chapter 2 will discuss more about the potential role and importance of specific antibodies induced by vaccination.

1.3 Sablefish (Anoplopoma fimbria)

1.3.1 Life History

Sablefish (*Anoplopoma fimbria*), also known as black cod, is the only member of its genus and one of two members of the family Anoplopomatidae, the other being skilfish (*Erilepis zonifer*) [199]. It is estimated that these species diverged ~450,000 years ago, based on cytochrome oxidase *c* and mitochondrial control region genes [200]. Sablefish have been considered a "classical marine species" because of their high fecundity and long planktonic larval stage [201]. Adults are demersal and long lived, with reports of fish over 100 years old [202]. Their native range is along the North American continental shelf from Baja California to Alaska and along the Bering Sea and down the eastern coast of Japan [203]. They are typically found at depths between 200 and 1500 meters, depending on seasonality, and tend to avoid environments with temperatures lower than 2 °C [204]. In the past, it was hypothesized that two distinct populations, northern and southern, of sablefish occurred based on differences of growth rate and size at maturity [205]. Surprisingly, recent genetic analysis found that populations across the habitable range were similar, indicating a substantial amount of mixing in sablefish stocks [206,207].

Sablefish reach sexual maturity and spawning at approximately 5 years of age, though this can vary based on geographic region [208,209]. Observations suggest sablefish produce and develop only one cohort of eggs for each spawning season [210] which runs from January through March for females, with a slightly longer window for males [211]. Females produce an average of 100 oocytes per gram of fish weight [212]. Hormonal and histological changes in both male and female adult sablefish were explored recently, confirming information about the reproductive cycle of sablefish [209]. Sablefish spawning has been observed along the continental shelf at average depths greater than 200 m, with embryos sinking further down the shelf mostly hatching at depths greater than 400 m [211]. Larvae remain in deep waters and slowly migrate upwards as their yolk sac is absorbed [203]. Sablefish are primarily surface oriented at this stage and planktivorous, but if resources are limited or as they continue to grow, they move deeper to find new prey sources [213]. It is hypothesized that currents and drift may account for significant distances of travel for eggs and larvae during these stages, which is supported by evidence of considerable genetic mixing in populations across their geographic range [207]. They typically reach near-shore environments as early juveniles in the Fall season [214]. Sablefish exhibit extremely rapid growth in sub-juvenile and early juvenile stages, with reports of as much as 2 mm growth in total length per day [214].

By age 3, most sablefish have migrated offshore to depths greater than 100 m and continue to move downward as they increase in age and size [215]. At these stages they are primarily piscivorous but also incorporate crustaceans in their diet [216]. Adults exhibit large diel vertical migrations of greater than 100 m for feeding [217], their lack of swim bladder makes this possible and instead sablefish rely on their high lipid content for buoyancy [218]. Sablefish are tolerant of the low oxygen environment of the ocean floor, with reports of populations living in areas with 0.34 to 0.80 mg/L of oxygen [203]. Tagging studies have also shown migration patterns in excess of 1,000 miles over their lifetime [204]. Sablefish are elongate and possess small ctenoid scales and 2 dorsal fins [219]. They are mostly black or dark greenish in color on their backs, with relatively pale bottoms [219].

1.3.2 Aquaculture

Initial aquaculture attempts of sablefish started in British Columbia, Canada in the 1970s at the same time wild harvest was rapidly increasing [220]. Capturing juveniles in near shore habitats and stocking them into net pens for grow out produced promising results, with fish adapting well to confinement and artificial feeds [221]. Interest in sablefish aquaculture grew into the 1990s due to decreasing prices and disease issues of farmed salmon. The thought was that existing operations and infrastructure for salmonids could easily accommodate this high value species [221]. The main issue that remains in sablefish aquaculture development is the need for a constant juvenile supply for grow

out operations. However, some growers have found success and are able to produce 200,000 sablefish fingerlings annually for export around the world [222].

More recently, the US has focused on the development of commercial sablefish aquaculture. Trials in the early 2000s proved promising with good harvests, but the issue of high larval rearing costs and unpredictable larval supply stunted growth of the industry. However, research into closing the life cycle has seen great success, mostly through government funded research performed by NOAA. This research into larval rearing has included optimizing tank design [223], temperature requirements [224,225], and feeding techniques and requirements [226–228]. Additional work with focus on increasing efficiency of grow out production has included the development of monosex stocks [229] as female sablefish grow more rapidly compared to males. These monosex stocks also are important for potentially exporting fingerling grow out operations to regions where the fish is not native. Alternatives for fish meal and fish oil have been explored and have shown some success with soy and algae products [230,231]. Establishment of captive broodstock populations are still in progress, but most egg harvest come from wild caught sablefish [232]. The first report of successful captive spawning occurred in the 1990s [221], but fish do not appear voluntarily release eggs so hormonal treatments are required to induce oocyte maturation and spawning [233]. Overall costs remain high in the larval production setting and establishing a stable captive broodstock line is still in progress. These costs as well as loss from disease remain the largest obstacles to expansion of sablefish aquaculture.

1.3.3 Immunology and Disease Susceptibility

Sablefish are a unique species without many close living relatives and are a relatively new species to intensive aquaculture. As such, there are many gaps in information about their immune system function and overall susceptibility to diseases. An early study focused on the effects of capture stress on wild caught sablefish found that all capture methods tested contributed to diminished responses of leukocytes to B and T-cell mitogens [234]. However, as aquaculture development has progressed it has created more opportunities for sablefish to be available for lab-based experiments. The first evidence of antibody production in sablefish was found by Ridgway [235], who immunized a sablefish with Pacific herring (*Clupea pallasii*) red blood cells and found hemagglutinating antibody activity. This study also found that antibody titers were maintained and increased for several months without further inoculations. This refuted earlier work that hypothesized fish inhabiting very cold water, below 10 °C, could produce a robust antibody response [236]. Recently, reference intervals of plasma biochemistry and hematology parameters were developed for sablefish as well as the morphology of various cells found in blood circulation, including leucocytes [237].

As sablefish culture moves from experimental to more commercially feasible, more robust studies have followed. The first report of disease susceptibility in sablefish was done in the interest of polyculture with Pacific salmon, as such the causative agent of bacterial kidney disease (BKD), *Renibacterium salmoninarum*, was injected intraperitoneally [238]. Sablefish were susceptible to disease and mortality caused by R. salmoninarum infection, Aeromonas salmonicida was also isolated from several fish, but only those also infected with R. salmoninarum, indicating a potential coinfection. Fish were not screened for carrier status of either R. salmoninarum or A. salmonicida prior to experimental infection. In previous literature, an atypical strain of A. salmonicida had been isolated from a wild, moribund sablefish, the first instance of spontaneous disease caused by A. salmonicida in a marine species [239]. Other bacteria have been associated with diseased or dead sablefish larvae in culture, Enterobacter asburiae and Vibrio logei were both reisolated with V. logei being associated primarily with moribund fish [240]. Building on this, researchers evaluated the pathogenicity of 3 Vibrionaceae isolates, V. ordalii, V. splendidus, and V. anguillarum [241] and found that sablefish were refractory to V. ordalii and V. splendidus, while V. anguillarum caused up to 24% mortality. Other pathogens have been detected in wild sablefish including observed *Loma spp.* parasites [242] and VHSv by PCR [243].

As pathogenicity has been explored, vaccination techniques and efficacy in sablefish have been the subject of several recent studies, mainly focusing on protection against infection with atypical A. salmonicida. The first used a commercially produced multivalent vaccine containing two formalin killed isolates of A. salmonicida, one typical one atypical, and 3 Vibrio species (V. salmonicida, V. anguillarum, V. ordalii) [244]. The atypical A. salmonicida strain was isolated from cultured sablefish that were actively infected and exhibited clinical disease. Fish were vaccinated by immersion and also by injection with the vaccine prepared in an oil-based adjuvant and then challenged with either atypical or typical A. salmonicida by immersion. Results showed poor protection in fish vaccinated by immersion, with relative percent survival (RPS) from -15.1% to 10%, but injection vaccination provided significant protection with RPS values above 80%. Sablefish were less susceptible to the typical A. salmonicida, but vaccination still increased survival in a pathogen challenge. Another study evaluated an experimental vaccine containing 3 formalin killed A. salmonicida isolates (all collected from diseased sablefish) and two commercial products (Alpha Ject Micro 4® and Forte Micro®) both containing A. salmonicida in addition to other bacterins [245]. Fish were challenged with one of the three A. salmonicida isolates used in the experimental vaccine by injection and found that the bacterin mix provided more protection than either of the commercial vaccines. Total IgM antibody titers were also measured after vaccination and demonstrated a significant increase at 6 weeks post-vaccination, fish vaccinated with the bacterin mix had the highest IgM levels. However, anti- A. salmonicida

antibody levels were not measured due to the lack of an appropriate tool capable of specifically binding to sablefish IgM. The lack of tools to evaluate sablefish immune responses is further address in Chapter 3.

1.4 References

[1] Snieszko S, Piotrowska W, Kocylowski B, Marek K. Badania bakteriologiczne i serogiczne nad bakteriami posocznicy karpi. Memoires de l'Institut d'Ichtyobiologie et Pisciculture de La Station de Pisciculture Experimentale a Mydlniki de l'Universite Jagiellonienne a Cracovie 1938;38.

[2] Duff D cC. B. The Oral Immunization of Trout Against *Bacterium Salmonicida*. The Journal of Immunology 1942;44:87–94.

[3] Egidius E, Wiik R, Andersen K, Hoff KA, Hjeltnes B. *Vibrio salmonicida* sp. nov., a New Fish Pathogen. International Journal of Systematic Bacteriology 1986;36:518–20.
 https://doi.org/10.1099/00207713-36-4-518.

[4] Gudding R, van Muiswinkel WB. A history of fish vaccination. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2013;35:1683–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2013.09.031.

[5] Ma J, Bruce TJ, Jones EM, Cain KD. A Review of Fish Vaccine Development Strategies: Conventional Methods and Modern Biotechnological Approaches. Microorganisms 2019;7:569. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms7110569.

 [6] Sudheesh PS, Cain KD. Prospects and challenges of developing and commercializing immersion vaccines for aquaculture. International Biology Review 2017;1. https://doi.org/10.18103/ibr.v1i1.1313.

[7] Watts M, Munday B, Burke C. Immune responses of teleost fish. Australian Veterinary Journal 2001;79:570–4. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-0813.2001.tb10753.x.

[8] Bly JE, Clem LW. Temperature and teleost immune functions. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 1992;2:159–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1050-4648(05)80056-7.

[9] Punt J, Owen JA, Stranford SA, Jones PP, Kuby Janis. Kuby immunology. Eighth edition. New York: W.H. Freeman/Macmillan Learning; 2019.

[10] Secombes CJ, Ellis AE. The Immunology of Teleosts. Fish Pathology, Wiley; 2012, p. 144–66. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118222942.ch4.

[11] Salinas I, Zhang YA, Sunyer JO. Mucosal immunoglobulins and B cells of teleost fish.
 Developmental and Comparative Immunology 2011;35:1346–65.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2011.11.009.

[12] Nakanishi T, Shibasaki Y, Matsuura Y. T Cells in Fish. Biology (Basel) 2015;4:640–63. https://doi.org/10.3390/biology4040640.

[13] Zwollo P, Cole S, Bromage E, Kaattari S. B Cell Heterogeneity in the Teleost Kidney:
 Evidence for a Maturation Gradient from Anterior to Posterior Kidney. The Journal of Immunology 2005;174:6608–16. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.174.11.6608.

[14] Mashoof S, Criscitiello M. Fish Immunoglobulins. Biology (Basel) 2016;5:45.https://doi.org/10.3390/biology5040045.

[15] Flajnik MF, Kasahara M. Origin and evolution of the adaptive immune system: genetic events and selective pressures. Nature Reviews Genetics 2010;11:47–59.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg2703.

[16] Hamuro K, Suetake H, Saha NR, Kikuchi K, Suzuki Y. A Teleost Polymeric Ig Receptor Exhibiting Two Ig-Like Domains Transports Tetrameric IgM into the Skin. The Journal of Immunology 2007;178:5682–9. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.178.9.5682.

[17] Boshra H, Gelman AE, Sunyer JO. Structural and Functional Characterization of Complement C4 and C1s-Like Molecules in Teleost Fish: Insights into the Evolution of Classical and Alternative Pathways. The Journal of Immunology 2004;173:349–59. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.173.1.349.

[18] Ye J, Kaattari IM, Ma C, Kaattari S. The teleost humoral immune response. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2013;35:1719–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2013.10.015.

[19] Adams A. Progress, challenges and opportunities in fish vaccine development. Fish &
 Shellfish Immunology 2019;90:210–4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2019.04.066.

[20] Mai TT, Kayansamruaj P, Taengphu S, Senapin S, Costa JZ, del-Pozo J, et al. Efficacy of heat-killed and formalin-killed vaccines against *Tilapia tilapinevirus* in juvenile Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*). Journal of Fish Diseases 2021;44:2097–109. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfd.13523.

[21] Ma J, Bruce TJ, Sudheesh PS, Knupp C, Loch TP, Faisal M, et al. Assessment of crossprotection to heterologous strains of *Flavobacterium psychrophilum* following vaccination with a live-attenuated coldwater disease immersion vaccine. Journal of Fish Diseases 2019;42:75–84. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfd.12902.

[22] Wilson M, Bengtén E, Miller NW, Clem LW, du Pasquier L, Warr GW. A novel chimeric Ig heavy chain from a teleost fish shares similarities to IgD. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 1997;94:4593–7. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.94.9.4593.

[23] Zhang YA, Salinas I, Li J, Parra D, Bjork S, Xu Z, et al. IgT, a primitive immunoglobulin class specialized in mucosal immunity. Nature Immunology 2010;11:827–35. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.1913.

[24] Hordvik I. Identification of a novel immunoglobulin δ transcript and comparative analysis of the genes encoding IgD in Atlantic salmon and Atlantic halibut. Molecular Immunology 2002;39:85–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0161-5890(02)00043-3.

[25] Srisapoome P, Ohira T, Hirono I, Aoki T. Genes of the constant regions of functional immunoglobulin heavy chain of Japanese flounder, *Paralichthys olivaceus*. Immunogenetics 2004;56. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00251-004-0689-7.

[26] Xu J, Yu Y, Huang Z, Dong S, Luo Y, Yu W, et al. Immunoglobulin (Ig) heavy chain gene locus and immune responses upon parasitic, bacterial and fungal infection in loach, *Misgurnus anguillicaudatus*. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2019;86:1139–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2018.12.064.

[27] Ramirez-Gomez F, Greene W, Rego K, Hansen JD, Costa G, Kataria P, et al. Discovery and Characterization of Secretory IgD in Rainbow Trout: Secretory IgD Is Produced through a Novel Splicing Mechanism. The Journal of Immunology 2012;188:1341–9. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1101938.

[28] Salinas I, Fernández-Montero Á, Ding Y, Sunyer JO. Mucosal immunoglobulins of teleost fish: A decade of advances. Developmental & Comparative Immunology 2021;121:104079. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2021.104079.

[29] Hansen JD, Landis ED, Phillips RB. Discovery of a unique Ig heavy-chain isotype (IgT) in rainbow trout: Implications for a distinctive B cell developmental pathway in teleost fish. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 2005;102:6919–24. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0500027102.

[30] Danilova N, Bussmann J, Jekosch K, Steiner LA. The immunoglobulin heavy-chain locus in zebrafish: identification and expression of a previously unknown isotype, immunoglobulin Z. Nature Immunology 2005;6:295–302. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni1166.

[31] Ballesteros NA, Castro R, Abos B, Rodríguez Saint-Jean SS, Pérez-Prieto SI, Tafalla C. The Pyloric Caeca Area Is a Major Site for IgM+ and IgT+ B Cell Recruitment in Response to Oral Vaccination in Rainbow Trout. PLoS ONE 2013;8:e66118. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0066118.

[32] Raida MK, Buchmann K. Bath vaccination of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss* Walbaum) against *Yersinia ruckeri*: Effects of temperature on protection and gene expression.
 Vaccine 2008;26:1050–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2007.12.029.

[33] Mendoza M, Magadán S. Immunoglobulins in Teleost. Principles of Fish Immunology,
 Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2022, p. 229–51. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-85420 1_7.

[34] Zhao X, Findly RC, Dickerson HW. Cutaneous antibody-secreting cells and B cells in a teleost fish. Developmental & Comparative Immunology 2008;32:500–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2007.08.009.

[35] Haugarvoll E, Bjerkås I, Nowak BF, Hordvik I, Koppang EO. Identification and characterization of a novel intraepithelial lymphoid tissue in the gills of Atlantic salmon. Journal of Anatomy 2008;213:202–9. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7580.2008.00943.x.

[36] Salinas I. The Mucosal Immune System of Teleost Fish. Biology (Basel) 2015;4:525–39. https://doi.org/10.3390/biology4030525.

 [37] Yu Y, Wang Q, Huang Z, Ding L, Xu Z. Immunoglobulins, Mucosal Immunity and Vaccination in Teleost Fish. Frontiers in Immunology 2020;11.
 https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2020.567941.

[38] Gomez D, Sunyer JO, Salinas I. The mucosal immune system of fish: The evolution of tolerating commensals while fighting pathogens. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2013;35:1729–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2013.09.032.

 [39] Magadan S, Jouneau L, Boudinot P, Salinas I. Nasal Vaccination Drives Modifications of Nasal and Systemic Antibody Repertoires in Rainbow Trout. The Journal of Immunology 2019;203:1480–92. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1900157. [40] Sepahi A, Tacchi L, Casadei E, Takizawa F, LaPatra SE, Salinas I. CK12a, a CCL19-like Chemokine That Orchestrates both Nasal and Systemic Antiviral Immune Responses in Rainbow Trout. The Journal of Immunology 2017;199:3900–13. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1700757.

[41] Yu Y-Y, Kong W, Yin Y-X, Dong F, Huang Z-Y, Yin G-M, et al. Mucosal immunoglobulins protect the olfactory organ of teleost fish against parasitic infection. PLOS Pathogens 2018;14:e1007251. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1007251.

[42] Das PK, Salinas I. Fish nasal immunity: From mucosal vaccines to neuroimmunology. Fish &
 Shellfish Immunology 2020;104:165–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2020.05.076.

[43] Xu Z, Parra D, Gómez D, Salinas I, Zhang Y-A, von Gersdorff Jørgensen L, et al. Teleost skin, an ancient mucosal surface that elicits gut-like immune responses. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 2013;110:13097–102. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1304319110.

[44] Maki JL, Dickerson HW. Systemic and Cutaneous Mucus Antibody Responses of Channel Catfish Immunized against the Protozoan Parasite *Ichthyophthirius multifiliis*. Clinical and Vaccine Immunology 2003;10:876–81. https://doi.org/10.1128/CDLI.10.5.876-881.2003.

[45] Kong W, Yu Y, Dong S, Huang Z, Ding L, Cao J, et al. Pharyngeal Immunity in Early Vertebrates Provides Functional and Evolutionary Insight into Mucosal Homeostasis. The Journal of Immunology 2019;203:3054–67. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1900863.

[46] Koppang EO, Fischer U, Moore L, Tranulis MA, Dijkstra JM, Köllner B, et al. Salmonid T cells assemble in the thymus, spleen and in novel interbranchial lymphoid tissue. Journal of Anatomy 2010;217:728–39. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7580.2010.01305.x.

[47] Rességuier J, Dalum AS, du Pasquier L, Zhang Y, Koppang EO, Boudinot P, et al. Lymphoid
Tissue in Teleost Gills: Variations on a Theme. Biology (Basel) 2020;9:127.
https://doi.org/10.3390/biology9060127.

[48] Hart S, Wrathmell AB, Harris JE, Grayson TH. Gut immunology in fish: A review.
Developmental & Comparative Immunology 1988;12:453–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/0145-305X(88)90065-1.

[49] Rombout JHWM, Lamers CHJ, Helfrich MH, Dekker A, Taverne-Thiele JJ. Uptake and transport of intact macromolecules in the intestinal epithelium of carp (*Cyprinus carpio* L.) and the possible immunological implications. Cell and Tissue Research 1985;239. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00219230. [50] Rombout JHWM, Taverne-Thiele AJ, Villena MI. The gut-associated lymphoid tissue (GALT) of carp (*Cyprinus carpio* L.): An immunocytochemical analysis. Developmental & Comparative Immunology 1993;17:55–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/0145-305X(93)90015-I.

[51] Abelli L, Picchietti S, Romano N, Mastrolia L, Scapigliati G. Immunohistochemistry of gutassociated lymphoid tissue of the sea bass *Dicentrarchus labrax*(L.). Fish & Shellfish Immunology 1997;7:235–45. https://doi.org/10.1006/fsim.1996.0079.

[52] Noaillac-Depeyre J, Gas N. Absorption of protein macromolecules by the enterocytes of the carp (*Cyprinus carpio* L.). Zeitschrift Für Zellforschung Und Mikroskopische Anatomie 1973;146:525–41. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02347181.

[53] Stroband HWJ, Kroon AnnetG. The development of the stomach in *Clarias lazera* and the intestinal absorption of protein macromolecules. Cell and Tissue Research 1981;215. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00239123.

[54] Stroband HWJ, Debets FMH. The ultrastructure and renewal of the intestinal epithelium of the juvenile grasscarp, *Ctenopharyngodon idella* (Val.). Cell and Tissue Research 1978;187. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00224364.

[55] Rombout JHWM, Berg AA. Immunological importance of the second gut segment of carp. I.
 Uptake and processing of antigens by epithelial cells and macrophages. Journal of Fish Biology
 1989;35:13–22. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.1989.tb03388.x.

[56] Rombout JHWM, Berg AA, Berg CTGA, Witte P, Egberts E. Immunological importance of the second gut segment of carp. III. Systemic and/or mucosal immune responses after immunization with soluble or particulate antigen. Journal of Fish Biology 1989;35:179–86. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.1989.tb02967.x.

[57] Mclean E, Ash R. The time-course of appearance and net accumulation of horseradish peroxidase (HRP) presented orally to rainbow trout *Salmo gairdneri* (Richardson). Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Physiology 1987;88:507–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/0300-9629(87)90072-7.

[58] McLean E, Ash R. The time-course of appearance and net accumulation of horseradish peroxidase (HRP) presented orally to juvenile carp *Cyprinus carpio* (L.). Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Physiology 1986;84:687–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/0300-9629(86)90388-9.

[59] Løkka G, Koppang EO. Antigen sampling in the fish intestine. Developmental & Comparative Immunology 2016;64:138–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2016.02.014.

[60] Davidson GA, Ellis AE, Secombes CJ. A preliminary investigation into the phenomenon of oral tolerance in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*, Walbaum, 1792). Fish & Shellfish Immunology 1994;4:141–51. https://doi.org/10.1006/fsim.1994.1012.

[61] Piganelli JD, Zhang JA, Christensen JM, Kaattari SL. Enteric coated microspheres as an oral method for antigen delivery to salmonids. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 1994;4:179–88. https://doi.org/10.1006/fsim.1994.1017.

[62] Joosten PHM, Engelsma MY, van der Zee MD, Rombout JHWM. Induction of oral tolerance in carp (*Cyprinus carpio* L.) after feeding protein antigens. Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology 1997;60:187–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-2427(97)00124-4.

[63] Sato A, Okamoto N. Oral and anal immunisation with alloantigen induces active cellmediated cytotoxic responses in carp. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2007;23:237–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2006.09.010.

[64] Rombout JHWM, Abelli L, Picchietti S, Scapigliati G, Kiron V. Teleost intestinal immunology. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2011;31:616–26.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2010.09.001.

[65] Hatten F, Fredriksen Å, Hordvik I, Endresen C. Presence of IgM in cutaneous mucus, but not in gut mucus of Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar*. Serum IgM is rapidly degraded when added to gut mucus. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2001;11:257–68. https://doi.org/10.1006/fsim.2000.0313.

[66] Tongsri P, Meng K, Liu X, Wu Z, Yin G, Wang Q, et al. The predominant role of mucosal immunoglobulin IgT in the gills of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) after infection with *Flavobacterium columnare*. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2020;99:654–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2020.01.044.

[67] Rombout JHWM, Taverne N, van de Kamp M, Taverne-Thiele AJ. Differences in mucus and serum immunoglobulin of carp (*Cyprinus carpio* L.). Developmental & Comparative Immunology 1993;17:309–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/0145-305X(93)90003-9.

[68] Fu Q, Wei Z, Chen Y, Xie J, Zhang X, He T, et al. Development of monoclonal antibody against IgT of a perciform fish, large yellow croaker (*Larimichthys crocea*) and characterization of
IgT+ B cells. Developmental & Comparative Immunology 2021;119:104027. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2021.104027.

[69] Chen L, Evensen Ø, Mutoloki S. IPNV Antigen Uptake and Distribution in Atlantic Salmon
 Following Oral Administration. Viruses 2015;7:2507–17. https://doi.org/10.3390/v7052507.

[70] Trout - Merck Animal Health 2022. https://www.merck-animalhealth.com/species/aquaculture/trout/ (accessed April 10, 2022).

[71] Embregts CWE, Forlenza M. Oral vaccination of fish: Lessons from humans and veterinary species. Developmental & Comparative Immunology 2016;64:118–37.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2016.03.024.

[72] Mutoloki S, Munang'andu HM, Evensen Ø. Oral Vaccination of Fish - Antigen Preparations,
 Uptake, and Immune Induction. Front Immunol 2015;6:519.
 https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2015.00519.

[73] Villumsen KR, Neumann L, Ohtani M, Strøm HK, Raida MK. Oral and Anal Vaccination Confers Full Protection against Enteric Redmouth Disease (ERM) in Rainbow Trout. PLoS ONE 2014;9:e93845. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0093845.

[74] Angulo C, Tello-Olea M, Reyes-Becerril M, Monreal-Escalante E, Hernández-Adame L,
 Angulo M, et al. Developing oral nanovaccines for fish: a modern trend to fight infectious diseases.
 Reviews in Aquaculture 2021;13:1172–92. https://doi.org/10.1111/raq.12518.

[75] Wise DJ, Greenway TE, Byars TS, Griffin MJ, Khoo LH. Oral Vaccination of Channel
 Catfish against Enteric Septicemia of Catfish Using a Live Attenuated *Edwardsiella ictaluri* Isolate.
 Journal of Aquatic Animal Health 2015;27:135–43. https://doi.org/10.1080/08997659.2015.1032440.

[76] Plant KP, LaPatra SE. Advances in fish vaccine delivery. Developmental & Comparative Immunology 2011;35:1256–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2011.03.007.

[77] Siripornadulsil S, Dabrowski K, Sayre R. Microalgal Vaccines. Transgenic Microalgae as
 Green Cell Factories, New York, NY: Springer New York; n.d., p. 122–8.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-75532-8 11.

[78] Kwon K-C, Lamb A, Fox D, Porphy Jegathese SJ. An evaluation of microalgae as a recombinant protein oral delivery platform for fish using green fluorescent protein (GFP). Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2019;87:414–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2019.01.038.

[79] Uyen NTT, Hamid ZAA, Tram NXT, Ahmad N. Fabrication of alginate microspheres for drug delivery: A review. International Journal of Biological Macromolecules 2020;153:1035–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2019.10.233.

[80] Polk AE, Amsden B, Scarratt DJ, Gonzal A, Okhamafe AO, Goosen MFA. Oral delivery in aquaculture: Controlled release of proteins from chitosan-alginate microcapsules. Aquacultural Engineering 1994;13:311–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/0144-8609(94)90018-3.

[81] Joosten PHM, Tiemersma E, Threels A, Caumartin-Dhieux C, Rombout JHWM. Oral vaccination of fish against *Vibrio anguillarum* using alginate microparticles. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 1997;7:471–85. https://doi.org/10.1006/fsim.1997.0100.

[82] Rodrigues AP, Hirsch D, Figueiredo HCP, Logato PVR, Moraes ÂM. Production and characterisation of alginate microparticles incorporating *Aeromonas hydrophila* designed for fish oral vaccination. Process Biochemistry 2006;41:638–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procbio.2005.08.010.

[83] Romalde JL, Luzardo-Alvárez A, Ravelo C, Toranzo AE, Blanco-Méndez J. Oral immunization using alginate microparticles as a useful strategy for booster vaccination against fish lactoccocosis. Aquaculture 2004;236:119–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2004.02.028.

[84] Ballesteros NA, Alonso M, Saint-Jean SR, Perez-Prieto SI. An oral DNA vaccine against infectious haematopoietic necrosis virus (IHNV) encapsulated in alginate microspheres induces dosedependent immune responses and significant protection in rainbow trout (*Oncorrhynchus mykiss*). Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2015;45:877–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2015.05.045.

[85] Halimi M, Alishahi M, Abbaspour MR, Ghorbanpoor M, Tabandeh MR. Valuable method for production of oral vaccine by using alginate and chitosan against *Lactococcus garvieae/Streptococcus iniae* in rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2019;90:431–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2019.05.020.

[86] Jia S, Zhou K, Pan R, Wei J, Liu Z, Xu Y. Oral immunization of carps with chitosan–alginate microcapsule containing probiotic expressing spring viremia of carp virus (SVCV) G protein provides effective protection against SVCV infection. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2020;105:327–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2020.07.052.

[87] Ahmadivand S, Soltani M, Behdani M, Evensen Ø, Alirahimi E, Hassanzadeh R, et al. Oral DNA vaccines based on CS-TPP nanoparticles and alginate microparticles confer high protection against infectious pancreatic necrosis virus (IPNV) infection in trout. Developmental & Comparative Immunology 2017;74:178–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2017.05.004.

[88] Tian J, Sun X, Chen X. Formation and oral administration of alginate microspheres loaded with pDNA coding for lymphocystis disease virus (LCDV) to Japanese flounder. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2008;24:592–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2008.01.009.

[89] Maurice S, Nussinovitch A, Jaffe N, Shoseyov O, Gertler A. Oral immunization of with modified recombinant A-layer proteins entrapped in alginate beads. Vaccine 2004;23:450–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2004.06.022.

[90] Shaalan M, Saleh M, El-Mahdy M, El-Matbouli M. Recent progress in applications of nanoparticles in fish medicine: A review. Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology, Biology and Medicine 2016;12:701–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nano.2015.11.005.

[91] Vinay TN, Bhat S, Gon Choudhury T, Paria A, Jung M-H, Shivani Kallappa G, et al. Recent Advances in Application of Nanoparticles in Fish Vaccine Delivery. Reviews in Fisheries Science & Aquaculture 2018;26:29–41. https://doi.org/10.1080/23308249.2017.1334625.

[92] Giri SS, Kim SG, Kang JW, Kim SW, Kwon J, Lee S bin, et al. Applications of carbon nanotubes and polymeric micro-/nanoparticles in fish vaccine delivery: progress and future perspectives. Reviews in Aquaculture 2021;13:1844–63. https://doi.org/10.1111/raq.12547.

[93] Rivas-Aravena A, Fuentes Y, Cartagena J, Brito T, Poggio V, la Torre J, et al. Development of a nanoparticle-based oral vaccine for Atlantic salmon against ISAV using an alphavirus replicon as adjuvant. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2015;45:157–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2015.03.033.

[94] Dubey S, Avadhani K, Mutalik S, Sivadasan S, Maiti B, Paul J, et al. Aeromonas hydrophila
 OmpW PLGA Nanoparticle Oral Vaccine Shows a Dose-Dependent Protective Immunity in Rohu
 (*Labeo rohita*). Vaccines (Basel) 2016;4:21. https://doi.org/10.3390/vaccines4020021.

[95] Li L, Lin S-L, Deng L, Liu Z-G. Potential use of chitosan nanoparticles for oral delivery of DNA vaccine in black seabream *Acanthopagrus schlegelii* Bleeker to protect from *Vibrio parahaemolyticus*. Journal of Fish Diseases 2013;36:987–95. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfd.12032.

[96] Kole S, Kumari R, Anand D, Kumar S, Sharma R, Tripathi G, et al. Nanoconjugation of bicistronic DNA vaccine against *Edwardsiella tarda* using chitosan nanoparticles: Evaluation of its protective efficacy and immune modulatory effects in *Labeo rohita* vaccinated by different delivery routes. Vaccine 2018;36:2155–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2018.02.099.

[97] Cho SY, Kim HJ, Lan NT, Han H-J, Lee D-C, Hwang JY, et al. Oral vaccination through voluntary consumption of the convict grouper *Epinephelus septemfasciatus* with yeast producing the

capsid protein of red-spotted grouper nervous necrosis virus. Veterinary Microbiology 2017;204:159–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2017.04.022.

[98] AquaVacTM ERM Oral, Emulsion for rainbow trout 2020. https://www.msd-animal-healthhub.co.uk/Products/AquaVac-ERMOral (accessed April 10, 2022).

[99] Ross AJ, Klontz GW. Oral Immunization of Rainbow Trout (Salmo gairdneri) Against an Etiologic Agent of "Redmouth Disease." Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada 1965;22:713–9. https://doi.org/10.1139/f65-063.

[100] Chatakondi N, Peterson BC, Greenway TE, Byars TS, Wise DJ. Efficacy of a Live-attenuated *Edwardsiella ictaluri* Oral Vaccine in Channel and Hybrid Catfish. J World Aquac Soc 2018;49:686–91. https://doi.org/10.1111/jwas.12515.

[101] Li LP, Wang R, Liang WW, Huang T, Huang Y, Luo FG, et al. Development of live attenuated *Streptococcus agalactiae* vaccine for tilapia via continuous passage in vitro. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2015;45:955–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2015.06.014.

[102] Ghosh B, Bridle AR, Nowak BF, Cain KD. Assessment of immune response and protection against bacterial coldwater disease induced by a live-attenuated vaccine delivered orally or intraperitoneally to rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss* (Walbaum). Aquaculture 2015;446:242–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2015.04.035.

[103] Enzmann P-J, Fichtner D, Schütze H, Walliser G. Development of vaccines against VHS and IHN: oral application, molecular marker and discrimination of vaccinated fish from infected populations. Journal of Applied Ichthyology 1998;14:179–83. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0426.1998.tb00639.x.

[104] Emmerich R, Weibel E. Uber eine durch Bakterien verursachte Infektionskrankheit der Forellen. Allg Fisch Ztg 1890;15:85–92.

[105] Schubert RHW. The taxonomy and nomenclature of the genus *Aeromonas* Kluyver and van Niel 1936: Part II. Suggestions on the taxonomy and nomenclature of the anaerogenic aeromonads. International Journal of Systematic Bacteriology 1967;17:273–9. https://doi.org/10.1099/00207713-17-3-273.

[106] Kimura T. A New Subspecies of Aeromonas salmonicida as an Etiological Agent of Furunculosis on "Sakuramasu" (Oncorhynchus masou) and Pink Salmon (O. gorbuscha) Rearing for Maturity. Fish Pathology 1969;3:34–44. https://doi.org/10.3147/jsfp.3.2_34. [107] Austin DA, McIntosh D, Austin B. Taxonomy of Fish Associated Aeromonas spp., with the Description of *Aeromonas salmonicida* subsp. *smithia* subsp. nov. Systematic and Applied Microbiology 1989;11:277–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0723-2020(89)80026-8.

[108] Pavan ME, Abbott SL, Zorzópulos J, Janda JM. Aeromonas salmonicida subsp. pectinolytica subsp. nov., a new pectinase-positive subspecies isolated from a heavily polluted river. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology 2000;50:1119–24. https://doi.org/10.1099/00207713-50-3-1119.

[109] Hänninen M-L, Ridell J, Hirvelä-Koski V. Phenotypic and molecular characteristics of *Aeromonas salmonicida* subsp. *salmonicida* isolated in Southern and Northern Finland. Journal of Applied Bacteriology 1995;79:12–21. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2672.1995.tb03118.x.

[110] O'hIci B, Olivier G, Powell R. Genetic diversity of the fish pathogen *Aeromonas salmonicida* demonstrated by random amplified polymorphic DNA and pulsed-field gel electrophoresis analyses. Diseases of Aquatic Organisms 2000;39:109–19. https://doi.org/10.3354/dao039109.

[111] Austin B, Austin DA, Dalsgaard I, Gudmundsdóttir BK, Høie S, Thornton JM, et al. Characterization of Atypical *Aeromonas salmonicida* Different Methods. Systematic and Applied Microbiology 1998;21:50–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0723-2020(98)80008-8.

[112] Rouleau FD, Vincent AT, Charette SJ. Genomic and phenotypic characterization of an atypical *Aeromonas salmonicida* strain isolated from a lumpfish and producing unusual granular structures. Journal of Fish Diseases 2018;41:673–81. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfd.12769.

[113] Vercauteren M, de Swaef E, Declercq A, Bosseler L, Gulla S, Balboa S, et al. First isolation of *Vibrio tapetis* and an atypical strain of *Aeromonas salmonicida* from skin ulcerations in common dab (*Limanda limanda*) in the North Sea. Journal of Fish Diseases 2018;41:329–35. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfd.12729.

[114] Papadopoulou A, Wallis T, Ramirez-Paredes J, Monaghan S, Davie A, Migaud H, et al. Atypical *Aeromonas salmonicida* vapA type V and Vibrio spp. are predominant bacteria recovered from ballan wrasse *Labrus bergylta* in Scotland. Diseases of Aquatic Organisms 2020;140:47–54. https://doi.org/10.3354/dao03489.

[115] Han H-J, Kim D-Y, Kim W-S, Kim C-S, Jung S-J, Oh M-J, et al. Atypical Aeromonas salmonicida infection in the black rockfish, Sebastes schlegeli Hilgendorf, in Korea. Journal of Fish Diseases 2011;34:47–55. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2761.2010.01217.x. [116] Wiklund T, Dalsgaard I. Occurrence and significance of atypical *Aeromonas salmonicida* in non-salmonid and salmonid fish species: A review. Diseases of Aquatic Organisms 1998;32:49–69. https://doi.org/10.3354/dao032049.

[117] Menanteau-Ledouble S, Kumar G, Saleh M, El-Matbouli M. *Aeromonas salmonicida*:
 updates on an old acquaintance. Diseases of Aquatic Organisms 2016;120:49–68.
 https://doi.org/10.3354/dao03006.

[118] Cipriano RC, Bullock GL, Service USF and W. Furunculosis and other diseases caused by Aeromonas salmonicida. Revision-2001. 2001.

[119] Griffin PJ, Snieszko SF, Friddle SB. A more comprehensive description of *Bacterium salmonicida*. Trans Am Fish Soc 1953;82:129–38.

[120] Donlon J, McGettigan S, O'Brien P, Ã"Carra P. Re-appraisal of the nature of the pigment produced by *Aeromonas salmonicida*. FEMS Microbiology Letters 1983;19:285–90. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6968.1983.tb00558.x.

[121] Schotts EB. Furunculosis. American Fisheriest Society - Fish Health Section. 2020th ed., 1994.

[122] Austin B, Austin DA. Bacterial Fish Pathogens. Cham: Springer International Publishing;2016. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-32674-0.

[123] McCarthy DH. Some ecological aspects of the bacterial fish pathogen - *Aeromonas salmonicida*. Aquatic Microbiology 1977:299–324.

[124] Viršek MK, Lovšin MN, Koren Š, Kržan A, Peterlin M. Microplastics as a vector for the transport of the bacterial fish pathogen species *Aeromonas salmonicida*. Marine Pollution Bulletin 2017;125:301–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2017.08.024.

Bullock GL, Stuckey HM. Studies on Vertical Transmission of *Aeromonas salmonicida*. The Progressive Fish-Culturist 1987;49:302–3. https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-8640(1987)49<302:SOVTOA>2.0.CO;2.

[126] Romstad AB, Reitan LJ, Midtlyng P, Gravningen K, Evensen Ø. Antibody responses correlate with antigen dose and in vivo protection for oil-adjuvanted, experimental furunculosis (*Aeromonas salmonicida* subsp. *salmonicida*) vaccines in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) and can be used for batch potency testing of vaccines. Vaccine 2013;31:791–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2012.11.069. [127] Ogut H, Reno P. Prevalence of Furunculosis in Chinook Salmon Depends on Density of the Host Exposed by Cohabitation. North American Journal of Aquaculture 2004;66:191–7.
 https://doi.org/10.1577/A03-043.1.

[128] Chettri JK, Skov J, Jaafar RM, Krossøy B, Kania PW, Dalsgaard I, et al. Comparative evaluation of infection methods and environmental factors on challenge success: *Aeromonas salmonicida* infection in vaccinated rainbow trout. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2015;44:485–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2015.03.003.

[129] Bucke D. Experimental and Naturally Occurring Furunculosis in Various Fish Species: a Comparative Study, 1980, p. 82–6. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-67854-7 13.

[130] Blake IJFW, Clark JC. Observations on Experimental Infection of Trout by *B. salmomicida*:With Particular Reference to "carriers" of Furunculosis, and to Certain Factors InfluencingSusceptibility. 1932.

[131] Effendi I, Austin B. Uptake of *Aeromonas salmonicida* by Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.).Bull Eur Assoc Fish Pathol 1995;15:115–8.

[132] Hodgkinson JL, Bucke D, Austin B. Uptake of the fish pathogen, *Aeromonas salmonicida*, by rainbow trout (*Salmo gairdneri* L.). FEMS Microbiology Letters 1987;40:207–10. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6968.1987.tb02026.x.

[133] Krantz GE, Reddecliff JM, Heist CE. Immune Response of Trout to *Aeromonas salmonicida*Part II. Evaluation of Feeding Techniques. The Progressive Fish-Culturist 1964;26:65–9.
https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-8659(1964)26[65:IROTTA]2.0.CO;2.

[134] Krantz GE, Reddecliff JM, Heist CE. Immune Response of Trout to *Aeromonas salmonicida*.
 Part I. Development of Agglutinating Antibodies and Protective Immunity. The Progressive Fish-Culturist 1964;26:3–10. https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-8659(1964)26[3:IROTTA]2.0.CO;2.

[135] Rose AS, Ellis AE, Munro ALS. The infectivity by different routes of exposure and shedding rates of *Aeromonas salmonicida* subsp. *salmonicida* in Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar* L., held in sea water. Journal of Fish Diseases 1989;12:573–8. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2761.1989.tb00566.x.

[136] Jutfelt F, Olsen RE, Glette J, Ringo E, Sundell K. Translocation of viable Aeromonas salmonicida across the intestine of rainbow trout, Oncorhynchus mykiss (Walbaum). Journal of Fish Diseases 2006;29:255–62. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2761.2006.00715.x. [137] Dallaire-Dufresne S, Tanaka KH, Trudel M v., Lafaille A, Charette SJ. Virulence, genomic features, and plasticity of *Aeromonas salmonicida* subsp. *salmonicida*, the causative agent of fish furunculosis. Veterinary Microbiology 2014;169:1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2013.06.025.

[138] Udey LR, Fryer JL. Immunization of Fish With Bacterins of Aeromonas salmonicida, 1978.

[139] Madetoja J, Pylkko P, Pohjanvirta T, Schildt L, Pelkonen S. Putative virulence factors of atypical *Aeromonas salmonicida* isolated from Arctic charr, *Salvelinus alpinus* (L.), and European grayling, *Thymallus thymallus* (L.). Journal of Fish Diseases 2003;26:349–59. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2761.2003.00470.x.

[140] Kay WW, Buckley JT, Ishiguro EE, Phipps BM, Monette JP, Trust TJ. Purification and disposition of a surface protein associated with virulence of *Aeromonas salmonicida*. Journal of Bacteriology 1981;147:1077–84. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.147.3.1077-1084.1981.

[141] Garduño RA, Moore AR, Olivier G, Lizama AL, Garduño E, Kay WW. Host cell invasion and intracellular residence by *Aeromonas salmonicida*: Role of the S-layer. Canadian Journal of Microbiology 2000;46:660–8. https://doi.org/10.1139/w00-034.

[142] Graham S., Jeffries AH, Secombes CJ. A novel assay to detect macrophage bactericidal activity in fish: factors influencing the killing of *Aeromonas salmonicida*. Journal of Fish Diseases 1988;11:389–96. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2761.1988.tb00734.x.

[143] Ellis AE, Burrows AS, Stapleton KJ. Lack of relationship between virulence of *Aeromonas salmonicida* and the putative virulence factors: A-layer, extracellular proteases and extracellular haemolysins. Journal of Fish Diseases 1988;11:309–23. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2761.1988.tb01227.x.

[144] Olivier G. Virulence of *Aeromonas salmonicida*: Lack of Relationship with Phenotypic
 Characteristics. Journal of Aquatic Animal Health 1990;2:119–27. https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-8667(1990)002<0119:VOSLOR>2.3.CO;2.

[145] Anwar M, Choi S. Gram-Negative Marine Bacteria: Structural Features of Lipopolysaccharides and Their Relevance for Economically Important Diseases. Marine Drugs 2014;12:2485–514. https://doi.org/10.3390/md12052485.

[146] Paterson WD, Fryer JL. Effect of Temperature and Antigen Dose on the Antibody Response of Juvenile Coho Salmon (*Oncorhynchus kisutch*) to *Aeromonas salmonicida* Endotoxin. Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada 1974;31:1743–9. https://doi.org/10.1139/f74-221.

[147] Lee KK, Ellis AE. Glycerophospholipid:cholesterol acyltransferase complexed with lipopolysaccharide (LPS) is a major lethal exotoxin and cytolysin of *Aeromonas salmonicida*: LPS stabilizes and enhances toxicity of the enzyme. Journal of Bacteriology 1990;172:5382–93. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.172.9.5382-5393.1990.

[148] Garduño RA, Thornton JC, Kay WW. *Aeromonas salmonicida* grown in vivo. Infection and Immunity 1993;61:3854–62. https://doi.org/10.1128/iai.61.9.3854-3862.1993.

[149] Garrote A, Bonet R, Merino S, Simon-Pujol MD, Congregado F. Occurrence of a capsule in *Aeromonas salmonicida*. FEMS Microbiology Letters 1992;95:127–31.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6968.1992.tb05354.x.

[150] Merino S, Aguilar A, Tomás JM, Bonet R, Martinez MJ, Simón-Pujol D, et al. Complement resistance of capsulated strains of *Aeromonas salmonicida*. Microbial Pathogenesis 1997;22:315–20. https://doi.org/10.1006/mpat.1996.0121.

[151] Merino S, Aguilar A, Rubires X, Simon-Pujol D, Congregado F, TomÃ_is JM. The role of the capsular polysaccharide of *Aeromonas salmonicida* in the adherence and invasion of fish cell lines. FEMS Microbiology Letters 1996;142:185–9. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6968.1996.tb08428.x.

[152] Burr SE, Stuber K, Wahli T, Frey J. Evidence for a type III secretion system in *Aeromonas salmonicida* subsp. *salmonicida*. Journal of Bacteriology 2002;184:5966–70.
 https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.184.21.5966-5970.2002.

[153] Chacón MR, Soler L, Groisman EA, Guarro J, Figueras MJ. Type III Secretion System Genes in Clinical *Aeromonas* Isolates. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 2004;42:1285–7. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.42.3.1285-1287.2004.

[154] Cornelis GR. The type III secretion injectisome. Nature Reviews Microbiology 2006;4:811–
25. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro1526.

[155] Dacanay A, Knickle L, Solanky KS, Boyd JM, Walter JA, Brown LL, et al. Contribution of the type III secretion system (TTSS) to virulence of *Aeromonas salmonicida* subsp. *salmonicida*. Microbiology (N Y) 2006;152:1847–56. https://doi.org/10.1099/mic.0.28768-0.

[156] Froquet R, Cherix N, Burr SE, Frey J, Vilches S, Tomas JM, et al. Alternative Host Model To Evaluate *Aeromonas* Virulence. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 2007;73:5657–9. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00908-07. [157] Daher RK, Filion G, Tan SGE, Dallaire-Dufresne S, Paquet VE, Charette SJ. Alteration of virulence factors and rearrangement of pAsa5 plasmid caused by the growth of *Aeromonas salmonicida* in stressful conditions. Veterinary Microbiology 2011;152:353–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2011.04.034.

[158] Stuber K, Burr SE, Braun M, Wahli T, Frey J. Type III Secretion Genes in Aeromonas salmonicida subsp. salmonicida Are Located on a Large Thermolabile Virulence Plasmid. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 2003;41:3854–6. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.41.8.3854-3856.2003.

[159] vanden Bergh P, Frey J. Aeromonas salmonicida subsp. salmonicida in the light of its typethree secretion system. Microbial Biotechnology 2014;7:381–400. https://doi.org/10.1111/1751-7915.12091.

[160] Frey J, Origgi FC. Type III Secretion System of *Aeromonas salmonicida* Undermining the Host's Immune Response. Front Mar Sci 2016;3. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2016.00130.

[161] Origgi FC, Benedicenti O, Segner H, Sattler U, Wahli T, Frey J. *Aeromonas salmonicida* type
III secretion system-effectors-mediated immune suppression in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*).
Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2017;60:334–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2016.12.006.

[162] Boyd JM, Dacanay A, Knickle LC, Touhami A, Brown LL, Jericho MH, et al. Contribution of type IV pili to the virulence of *Aeromonas salmonicida* subsp. *salmonicida* in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.). Infection and Immunity 2008;76:1445–55. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.01019-07.

[163] Janda JM, Abbott SL. The Genus *Aeromonas* : Taxonomy, Pathogenicity, and Infection. Clinical Microbiology Reviews 2010;23:35–73. https://doi.org/10.1128/CMR.00039-09.

[164] Beaz-Hidalgo R, Figueras MJ. *Aeromonas* spp. whole genomes and virulence factors implicated in fish disease. Journal of Fish Diseases 2013;36:371–88. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfd.12025.

[165] Sakai DK. Loss of virulence in a protease-deficient mutant of *Aeromonas salmonicida*. Infection and Immunity 1985;48:146–52. https://doi.org/10.1128/iai.48.1.146-152.1985.

[166] Menanteau-Ledouble S, El-Matbouli M. Antigens of Aeromonas salmonicida subsp. salmonicida specifically induced in vivo in Oncorhynchus mykiss. Journal of Fish Diseases 2016;39:1015–9. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfd.12430. [167] Alsop D, Vijayan M. The zebrafish stress axis: Molecular fallout from the teleost-specific genome duplication event. General and Comparative Endocrinology 2009;161:62–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2008.09.011.

[168] Lee K-K, Ellis AE. The quantitative relationship of lethality between extracellular protease and extracellular haemolysin of *Aeromonas salmonicida* in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.). FEMS Microbiology Letters 1989;61:127–32. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6968.1989.tb03565.x.

[169] Vipond R, Bricknell IR, Durant E, Bowden TJ, Ellis AE, Smith M, et al. Defined Deletion Mutants Demonstrate that the Major Secreted Toxins Are Not Essential for the Virulence of *Aeromonas salmonicida*. Infection and Immunity 1998;66:1990–8. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.66.5.1990-1998.1998.

[170] Munro ALS, Waddell IF. Furunculosis; experience of its control in the seat water cage culture of Atlantic salmon in Scotland. International Council for the Exploration of the Sea 1984;32:1–9.

[171] Michel C. Failure of anti-furunculosis vaccination of rainbow trout (*Salmo gairdneri* Richardson), using extra-cellular products of *Aeromonas salmonicida* as an immunogen. Fish Pathology 1985;20:445–51.

[172] Michel C. Progress towards furunculosis vaccination. Special Publications of the Society for General Microbiology 1982;9:151–69.

[173] Paterson WD, Fryer JL. Immune Response of Juvenile Coho Salmon (*Oncorhynchus kisutch*) to *Aeromonas salmonicida* Cells Administered Intraperitoneally in Freund's Complete Adjuvant.
 Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada 1974;31:1751–5. https://doi.org/10.1139/f74-222.

[174] Ellis AE. Immunization with bacterial antigens: furunculosis. Dev Biol Stand 1997;90:107–16.

[175] Ellis AE. The extracellular toxins of *Aeromonas salmonicida* subsp. *salmonicida*. In: Bernoth EM, Ellis AE, Midtlyng PJ, editors. Furunculosis - Multidiciplinary Fish Disease Research, London: Academic Press; 1997, p. 248–68.

[176] Lund V, Arne Arnesen J, Coucheron D, Modalsli K, Syvertsen C. The Aeromonas salmonicida A-layer protein is an important protective antigen in oil-adjuvanted vaccines. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2003;15:367–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1050-4648(02)00180-8. [177] Romstad AB, Reitan LJ, Midtlyng P, Gravningen K, Evensen Ø. Development of an antibody ELISA for potency testing of furunculosis (*Aeromonas salmonicida* subsp *salmonicida*) vaccines in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L). Biologicals 2012;40:67–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biologicals.2011.09.011.

[178] Arnesen KR, Mikkelsen H, Schrøder MB, Lund V. Impact of reattaching various Aeromonas salmonicida A-layer proteins on vaccine efficacy in Atlantic cod (Gadus morhua). Vaccine 2010;28:4703–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2010.04.100.

[179] Erdal JI, Reitan LJ. Immune response and protective immunity after vaccination of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) against furunculosis. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 1992;2:99–108. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1050-4648(05)80039-7.

[180] Lillehaug A, Lunder T, Poppe TT. Field testing of adjuvanted furunculosis vaccines in Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar* L. Journal of Fish Diseases 1992;15:485–96. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2761.1992.tb00680.x.

[181] Midtlyng PJ, Reitan LJ, Speilberg L. Experimental studies on the efficacy and side-effects of intraperitoneal vaccination of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) against furunculosis. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 1996;6:335–50. https://doi.org/10.1006/fsim.1996.0034.

[182] Markestad A, Grave K. Reduction of antibacterial drug use in Norwegian fish farming due to vaccination. Dev Biol Stand 1997;90:365–9.

[183] Midtlyng PJ. Vaccination Against Furunculosis. vol. Fish Vaccination. Elsevier; 2014. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-012093040-1/50020-8.

[184] Midtlyng PJ, Reitan LJ, Lillehaug A, Ramstad A. Protection, immune responses and side effects in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) vaccinated against furunculosis by different procedures.
 Fish & Shellfish Immunology 1996;6:599–613. https://doi.org/10.1006/fsim.1996.0055.

[185] Press CML, Evensen, Reitan LJ, Landsverk T. Retention of furunculosis vaccine components in Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar* L., following different routes of vaccine administration. Journal of Fish Diseases 1996;19:215–24. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2761.1996.tb00128.x.

[186] Hara T, Inoue K, Morikawa S, Tashiro F. Vaccination Trials for Control of Furunculosis of Salmonids in Japan. Fish Pathology 1976;10:227–35. https://doi.org/10.3147/jsfp.10.227.

[187] Santos Y, Garcia-Marquez S, Pereira PG, Pazos F, Riaza A, Silva R, et al. Efficacy of furunculosis vaccines in turbot, *Scophthalmus maximus* (L.): evaluation of immersion, oral and

injection delivery. Journal of Fish Diseases 2005;28:165–72. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2761.2005.00610.x.

[188] Irie T, Watarai S, Iwasaki T, Kodama H. Protection against experimental *Aeromonas salmonicida* infection in carp by oral immunisation with bacterial antigen entrapped liposomes. Fish and Shellfish Immunology 2005. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2004.07.006.

[189] Jun JW, Kang JW, Giri SS, Kim SW, Kim SG, Kwon J, et al. Preventive effect of starch hydrogel-based oral vaccine against *Aeromonas salmonicida* infection in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Aquaculture 2022;555:738202. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2022.738202.

[190] Villumsen KR, Raida MK. Long-lasting protection induced by bath vaccination against Aeromonas salmonicida subsp. salmonicida in rainbow trout. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2013;35:1649–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2013.09.013.

[191] Cipriano RC, Starliper CE. Immersion and Injection Vaccination of Salmonids against
 Furunculosis with an Avirulent Strain of *Aeromonas Salmonicida*. The Progressive Fish-Culturist
 1982;44:167–9. https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-8659(1982)44[167:IAIVOS]2.0.CO;2.

[192] Vaughan LM, Smith PR, Foster TJ. An aromatic-dependent mutant of the fish pathogen Aeromonas salmonicida is attenuated in fish and is effective as a live vaccine against the salmonid disease furunculosis. Infection and Immunity 1993;61:2172–81. https://doi.org/10.1128/iai.61.5.2172-2181.1993.

[193] Marsden MJ, Vaughan LM, Fitzpatrick RM, Foster TJ, Secombes CJ. Potency testing of a live, genetically attenuated vaccine for salmonids. Vaccine 1998;16:1087–94.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/S0264-410X(98)80103-5.

[194] Grove S, Høie S, Evensen Ø. Distribution and retention of antigens of Aeromonas salmonicida in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) vaccinated with a ΔaroA mutant or formalininactivated bacteria in oil-adjuvant. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2003;15:349–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1050-4648(02)00184-5.

[195] Bergh P vanden, Burr SE, Benedicenti O, von Siebenthal B, Frey J, Wahli T. Antigens of the type-three secretion system of *Aeromonas salmonicida* subsp. *salmonicida* prevent protective immunity in rainbow trout. Vaccine 2013;31:5256–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2013.08.057.

[196] Schwenteit JM, Weber B, Milton DL, Bornscheuer UT, Gudmundsdottir BK. Construction of *Aeromonas salmonicida* subsp. *achromogenes* AsaP1-toxoid strains and study of their ability to induce immunity in Arctic char, *Salvelinus alpinus* L. Journal of Fish Diseases 2015;38:891–900. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfd.12303.

[197] Villumsen KR, Dalsgaard I, Holten-Andersen L, Raida MK. Potential Role of Specific Antibodies as Important Vaccine Induced Protective Mechanism against *Aeromonas salmonicida* in Rainbow Trout. PLoS ONE 2012;7:e46733. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0046733.

[198] Ellis AE, Burrows AS, Hastings TS, Stapleton KJ. Identification of *Aeromonas salmonicida* extracellular protease as a protective antigen against furunculosis by passive immunization. Aquaculture 1988;70:207–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/0044-8486(88)90097-X.

[199] Froese R, Luna SM. Anoplopoma fimbria, Sablefish. FishBase 2022.
https://www.fishbase.in/Summary/SpeciesSummary.php?ID=512&AT=sablefish (accessed April 10, 2022).

[200] Orlova SY, Schepetov DM, Mugue NS, Smirnova MA, Senou H, Baitaliuk AA, et al. Evolutionary history told by mitochondrial markers of large teleost deep-sea predators of family Anoplopomatidae Jordan & amp; Gilbert 1883, endemic to the North Pacific. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom 2019;99:1683–91. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0025315419000572.

[201] Nielsen EE, Kenchington E. A new approach to prioritizing marine fish and shellfish populations for conservation. Fish and Fisheries 2001;2:328–43. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1467-2960.2001.00055.x.

[202] McFarlane, A. G. Validation of the otolith cross-section method of age determination for sablefish (*Anoplopoma fimbria*) using oxytetracycline. Recent Developments in Fish Otolith Research 1995:319–29.

[203] Moser HG, Charter RL, Smth PE, Lo NCH, Ambrose DA, Meyer CA, et al. Early life history of sablefish, *Anoplopoma fimbria*, off Washington, Oregon, and California, with application to biomass estimation. CalCOFI 1994;35:144–59.

[204] Kimura DK, Shimada AM, Shaw FR. Stock structure and movement of tagged sablefish, *Anoplopoma fimbria*, in offshore northeast Pacific waters and the effects of El Niño-Southern Oscillation on migration and growth. Fishery Bulletin 1998;96:462–81.

[205] Saunders MW, Leaman BM, Haist V, Hilborn R, McFarlane GA. Sablefish stock assessment for 1996 and recommended yield options for 1997. Nanaimo: 1996.

[206] Orlova SY, Orlov AM, Volkov AA, Novikov RN. Micro-evolutionary processes in sablefish Anoplopoma fimbria, based on polymorphism of the two sites of mitochondrial DNA. Doklady Biochemistry and Biophysics 2014;458:172–6. https://doi.org/10.1134/S1607672914050044.

[207] Jasonowicz AJ, Goetz FW, Goetz GW, Nichols KM. Love the one you're with: genomic evidence of panmixia in the sablefish (*Anoplopoma fimbria*). Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 2017;74:377–87. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfas-2016-0012.

[208] Fujiwara S, Hankin DG. Sex ratio, spawning period, and size and age at maturity of sablefish *Anoplopoma fimbria* off northern California. Nippon Suisan Gakkaishi 1988;54:1333–8. https://doi.org/10.2331/suisan.54.1333.

[209] Guzmán JM, Luckenbach JA, Middleton MA, Massee KC, Jensen C, Goetz FW, et al. Reproductive life history of sablefish (*Anoplopoma fimbria*) from the U.S. Washington coast. PLOS ONE 2017;12:e0184413. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0184413.

[210] Rodgveller CJ. The utility of length, age, liver condition, and body condition for predicting maturity and fecundity of female sablefish. Fisheries Research 2019;216:18–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fishres.2019.03.013.

[211] Mason JC, Beamish RJ, McFarlane GA. Sexual Maturity, Fecundity, Spawning, and Early Life History of Sablefish (*Anoplopoma fimbria*) off the Pacific Coast of Canada. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 1983;40:2126–34. https://doi.org/10.1139/f83-247.

[212] Hunter JRS, Macewicz BJ, Kimbrell CA. Fecundity and other aspects of the reproduction of sablefish, *Anoplopoma fimbria*, in central California waters. CalCOFI 1989;30:61–72.

[213] Sogard SM, Olla BL. Behavior of juvenile sablefish, *Anoplopoma fimbria* (Pallas), in a thermal gradient. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 1998;222:43–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-0981(97)00137-8.

[214] Sigler MF, Rutecki TL, Courtney DL, Karinen JF, Yang MS. Young of the year sablefish abundance, growth, and diet in the Fult of Alaska. Alaska Fishery Research Bulletin 2001;8:57–70.

[215] Maloney NE, Sigler MF. Age-specific movement patterns of sablefish (*Anoplopoma fimbria*) in Alaska. Fishery Bulletin 2008;106:305+.

[216] Laidig TE, Adams PB, Samiere WM. Feeding habits of sablefish, *Anoplopoma fimbria*, off the coast of Oregon and California. NOAA Technical Report NMFS 1997;130.

[217] Rummer JL, Roshan-Moniri M, Balfry SK, Brauner CJ. Use it or lose it? Sablefish, *Anoplopoma fimbria*, a species representing a fifth teleostean group where the βNHE associated with the red blood cell adrenergic stress response has been secondarily lost. Journal of Experimental Biology 2010;213:1503–12. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.038844.

[218] Sigler MF, Echave KB. Diel vertical migration of sablefish (*Anoplopoma fimbria*). Fisheries Oceanography 2019:fog.12428. https://doi.org/10.1111/fog.12428.

[219] Eschmeyer WN, Herald ES. A Field Guide to Pacific Coast Fishes: North America. Houghton Mifflin Harcourt; 1999.

[220] Kennedy WA. Sablefish Culture - Final Report. Fisheries Research Board of Canada Technical Report 1974.

[221] Clarke G, Pennell W. Aquaculture research and development on the Pacific coast. Bulletin of the Aquaculture Association of Canada 2013;110:3–13.

[222] Chettleburgh P. New life for Canadian black cod hatchery. Hatchery International 2016.

[223] Cook MA, Massee KC, Wade TH, Oden SM, Jensen C, Jasonowicz A, et al. Culture of sablefish (*Anoplopoma fimbria*) larvae in four experimental tank designs. Aquacultural Engineering 2015;69:43–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaeng.2015.09.003.

[224] Cook MA, Lee JSF, Massee KM, Wade TH, Goetz FW. Effects of rearing temperature on growth and survival of larval sablefish (*Anoplopoma fimbria*). Aquaculture Research 2018;49:422–30. https://doi.org/10.1111/are.13473.

[225] Lee JSF, Cook MA, Luckenbach JA, Berejikian BA, Simchick CA, Oden SM, et al. Investigation of long-term effects of larval rearing temperature on growth, deformities, flesh quality, and phenotypic sex of cultured sablefish (*Anoplopoma fimbria*). Aquaculture 2017;479:91–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2017.05.010.

[226] Lee JSF, Cook MA, Berejikian BA, Goetz FW. Temporal changes in the suitability of claywater as a greenwater substitute for rearing larval sablefish (*Anoplopoma fimbria*). Aquaculture 2017;470:11–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2016.12.011.

[227] Lee JSF, Poretsky RS, Cook MA, Reyes-Tomassini JJ, Berejikian BA, Goetz FW. Dimethylsulfoniopropionate (DMSP) Increases Survival of Larval Sablefish, *Anoplopoma fimbria*. Journal of Chemical Ecology 2016;42:533–6. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10886-016-0713-z.

[228] Lee JSF, Britt LL, Cook MA, Wade TH, Berejikian BA, Goetz FW. Effect of light intensity and feed density on feeding behaviour, growth and survival of larval sablefish *Anoplopoma fimbria*. Aquaculture Research 2017;48:4438–48. https://doi.org/10.1111/are.13269.

[229] Luckenbach JA, Fairgrieve WT, Hayman ES. Establishment of monosex female production of sablefish (*Anoplopoma fimbria*) through direct and indirect sex control. Aquaculture 2017;479:285–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2017.05.037.

[230] Johnson RB, Nicklason PM, Armbruster LC, Sommers FC, Kim S, Marancik D, et al. Addition of the red macroalgae Turkish Towel *Chondracanthus exasperates* and taurine improves the performance of alternative plant-based feeds for juvenile sablefish *Anoplopoma fimbria*. Aquaculture Research 2020;51:3191–204. https://doi.org/10.1111/are.14654.

[231] Nicklason PM, Johnson RB, Marancik DP. Effects of processing full-fat soya beans and fish trim for sustainable sablefish *Anoplopoma fimbria* feeds. Aquaculture Research 2020;51:2667–75. https://doi.org/10.1111/are.14606.

[232] Goetz FW, Anulacion BF, Arkoosh MR, Cook MA, Dickhoff WW, Dietrich JP, et al. Status of sablefish, *Anoplopoma fimbria*, aquaculture. J World Aquac Soc 2021;52:607–46. https://doi.org/10.1111/jwas.12769.

[233] Berlinsky DL, Kenter LW, Reading BJ, Goetz FW. Regulating reproductive cycles for captive spawning, 2020, p. 1–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.fp.2020.09.001.

[234] Lupes SC, Davis MW, Olla BL, Schreck CB. Capture-Related Stressors Impair Immune
System Function in Sablefish. Trans Am Fish Soc 2006;135:129–38. https://doi.org/10.1577/T04198.1.

[235] Ridgway GJ. The Application of Some Special Immunological Methods to Marine Population Problems. The American Naturalist 1962;96:219–24.

[236] Smith WW. Production of Anti-Bacterial Agglutinins by Carp and Trout at 10 G.Experimental Biology and Medicine 1940;45:726–9. https://doi.org/10.3181/00379727-45-11814.

[237] Schubiger CB, Gorman ME, Johns JL, Arkoosh MR, Dietrich JP. Sablefish (*Anoplopoma fimbra* Pallas, 1814) plasma biochemistry and hematology reference intervals including blood cell morphology. PLOS ONE 2021;16:e0246982. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0246982.

[238] Bell GR, Hoffmann RW, Brown LL. Pathology of experimental infections of the sablefish, *Anoplopoma fimbria* (Pallas), with *Renibacterium salmoninarum*, the agent of bacterial kidney disease in salmonids. Journal of Fish Diseases 1990;13:355–67. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2761.1990.tb00794.x.

[239] Evelyn TPT. An Aberrant Strain of the Bacterial Fish Pathogen *Aeromonas salmonicida* Isolated from a Marine Host, the Sablefish (*Anoplopoma fimbria*), and from Two Species of Cultured Pacific Salmon. Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada 1971;28:1629–34. https://doi.org/10.1139/f71-243.

[240] Schulze AD, Alabi AO, Tattersall-Sheldrake AR, Miller KM. Bacterial diversity in a marine hatchery: Balance between pathogenic and potentially probiotic bacterial strains. Aquaculture 2006;256:50–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2006.02.008.

 [241] Arkoosh MR, Dietrich JP. Pathogenicity of Members of the Vibrionaceae Family to Cultured Juvenile Sablefish. Journal of Aquatic Animal Health 2015;27:96–103.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/08997659.2015.1019159.

[242] Kent ML, Traxler GS, Kieser D, Richard J, Dawe SC, Shaw RW, et al. Survey of Salmonid Pathogens in Ocean-Caught Fishes in British Columbia, Canada. Journal of Aquatic Animal Health 1998;10:211–9. https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-8667(1998)010<0211:SOSPIO>2.0.CO;2.

[243] Hedrick R, Batts W, Yun S, Traxler G, Kaufman J, Winton J. Host and geographic range extensions of the North American strain of viral hemorrhagic septicemia virus. Diseases of Aquatic Organisms 2003;55:211–20. https://doi.org/10.3354/dao055211.

[244] Arkoosh MR, Dietrich JP, Rew MB, Olson W, Young G, Goetz FW. Exploring the efficacy of vaccine techniques in juvenile sablefish, *Anoplopoma fimbria*. Aquaculture Research 2018;49:205–16. https://doi.org/10.1111/are.13449.

[245] Vasquez I, Cao T, Hossain A, Valderrama K, Gnanagobal H, Dang M, et al. Aeromonas salmonicida infection kinetics and protective immune response to vaccination in sablefish (Anoplopoma fimbria). Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2020;104:557–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2020.06.005.

Chapter 2: A novel oral vaccine delivery platform stimulates adaptive immunity and provides protection against *Aeromonas salmonicida* in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*)

2.1 Abstract

The immune response of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) was evaluated in two trials after oral vaccination with alginate macro-particles encapsulating a formalin killed *Aeromonas salmonicida* vaccine (OV). Other vaccination routes were also tested, including injection (IP), immersion (BA), and anal intubation (AL); control groups included a PBS injection (PB) and a control alginate macro-particle without vaccine (CP). Fish in all treatments were booster vaccinated 2 weeks post initial vaccination; particle feeding took place over 3 days for primary and booster delivery. Specific antibodies in serum and skin mucus were measured until 13 weeks post vaccination, and kidney, spleen, gill, intestine, and skin tissue were analyzed by RT-PCR for relative changes in expression of immune related genes (IgM, IgT, IgD, CD4, IL-1ß). Fish were challenged at 13 (trial 1) and 4 (trial 2) weeks post vaccination by immersion with the same *A. salmonicida* strain used for vaccine production.

Fish in the OV group had *A. salmonicida* specific antibody titers in both trials and had significantly higher survival compared to the PB group in both challenge experiments. Interestingly, the CP group had similar survival rates as the AL and BA groups in trial 1 when challenged 13 weeks after vaccination, the group still had an RPS of 23.6% after challenged 4 weeks post vaccination indicating a potential adjuvant effect of the alginate macro-particles. Unsurprisingly, the IP group had the highest specific antibodies and survival rates in both trials. Results support the idea that intestinal vaccination of rainbow trout with an inactivated *A. salmonicida* vaccine can provide equal protection to immersion vaccines, shown by the striking similarities of the AL and BA groups in both trials. Overall, the novel oral vaccine tested demonstrates an ability to promote specific antibody response and protect fish during pathogen challenges.

2.2 Introduction

Aeromonas salmonicida subspecies *salmonicida*, also known as 'typical' *A. salmonicida*, is the etiological agent of furunculosis in salmonids and has major negative impacts on wild and farmed fish around the globe [1]. In the past, it was one of the greatest threats to the Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) farming industry and was treated in kind with increasing use of antibiotics until efficacious vaccines could be developed and mandated [2,3]. Presently, the diversity of pathogenic subspecies (atypical *A. salmonicida*), expansion of new aquaculture species susceptible to the pathogen, and effects of climate change mean disease outbreaks associated with *A. salmonicida* remain a major obstacle to increased global aquaculture production [4]. Even with vaccination programs, outbreaks of furunculosis are not uncommon in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) [5].

Current best management practices for controlling *A. salmonicida* associated diseases are the use of injectable oil-adjuvanted vaccines, which can easily be incorporated into polyvalent formulations that protect against additional pathogens and have been widely used since the late 1980s [6]. However, these vaccines can have deleterious side effects to the final product, such as development of granulomas and other inflammation near the injection site. Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) generally have a slower inflammation response and a longer recovery period than rainbow trout for these pathologies [7], but a recent study showed that side effects can persist up to 14 months post vaccinated fish [5]. Booster immunizations for fish in marine net pens can be prohibitively expensive and require specialized equipment for injection and immersion vaccine preparations [6].

Oral vaccines do not add any stress to fish and are essentially effortless for producers, significantly lowering labor costs relative to injection and immersion routes. The first oral vaccine against furunculosis in salmonids was tested in 1942 using a simple formalin killed whole cell preparation coated on the surface of feed [9]. However, there is still no widely available oral vaccine option for furunculosis, and there are relatively few oral options for the aquaculture industry at large. This is due to several obstacles that have frustrated efforts of oral vaccine development for the past 75 years. Protection of the vaccine antigen through gastrointestinal travel is believed to be necessary to stimulate protective immunity [10]. It has been demonstrated that antigen absorption occurs in the second segment of the gut [11]. In many cases, oral vaccination requires higher antigen levels compared to other immunization routes because of degradation that occurs in the hostile environment of the stomach. Another issue is the suppression of mucosal immune responses because of constant stimulation from antigens in the aquatic environment. This phenomenon, known as oral tolerance,

was demonstrated in rainbow trout and common carp (*Cyprinus carpio*), and can be influenced by several variables including frequency of antigen exposure, type of antigen, and temperature [12–15]. Overall, issues of inconsistent, weak, or short duration of immune responses and protection against pathogens have hindered the success and adoption of oral vaccines in aquaculture [16–18].

To protect antigens during gut transit, a variety of encapsulation techniques have been tested that may add potential benefits such as adherence to intestinal walls [19] and adjuvant effects [20]. Alginate is one of the most promising encapsulation materials for oral vaccine delivery in human and animal medicine [21]. Alginate is an inexpensive and widely available polysaccharide produced by brown algae of the class Phaeophyceae. The solubility and pH sensitivity coupled with its bioadhesive, biodegradable, and nontoxic properties make alginate an ideal platform for intestinal absorption [21]. Most preparations of alginate oral vaccines in aquaculture are alginate microparticles that are top coated [22] or incorporated within [23] fish feed. However, using only the surface of feeds limits vaccine payload and incorporated AMs can potentially leech out into the water before ingestion. Coating or incorporating AMs within feeds can require specialized equipment at hatcheries, which potentially increases production costs and certain formulas may be incompatible with certain feed production methods [24].

As a new strategy to address the issues of oral vaccines and AM formulations, a novel oral vaccine platform using macro-alginate particles, the same size as fish feed (~1.5 mm) was tested. It was hypothesized that oral delivery of this novel vaccine particle would elicit a specific immune response and enhance protection against *A. salmonicida* subsp. *salmonicida*. It is known that vaccine delivery route stimulates different systemic and mucosal immune responses [25,26] and varying levels of disease protection [27,28]. Therefore, and to provide a broad comparison between various immunization routes, a formalin inactivated *A. salmonicida* subsp. *salmonicida* vaccine was tested in rainbow trout fingerlings and administered by the following routes: intraperitoneal injection (i.p.), immersion, anal intubation, and orally with the novel macro-alginate particle. Specific antibodies were measured in the serum and skin mucus of fish for 13 weeks and vaccine efficacy was tested via pathogen challenge at 4 and 13 weeks post vaccination. Changes in expression of immune related genes were measured shortly after vaccination in spleen, kidney, gill, intestine, and skin tissues.

2.3 Materials and Methods

2.3.1 Declaration of Conflicting Interests and Animal Care and Use

No conflicts of interest are declared by the authors. Live animal work was approved by the University of Idaho's Animal Care and Use Committee (#2020-33).

2.3.2 Animals

Eyed rainbow trout eggs were obtained from Riverence Farms LLC (Rochester, WA, USA) and maintained in heath stacks with a flow through SPF water supply (14 - 15 °C) at the University of Idaho's College of Natural Resource's Aquatic Animal Laboratory (CNR-AAL; Moscow, ID, USA) until hatching when they were transferred to grow out troughs. Fish were fed commercial diets until they readily accepted 1.5 mm size pellets, approximately 2.5 g fish⁻¹.

2.3.3 Vaccine Production

2.3.3.1 Bacterial Growth

The *Aeromonas salmonicida* subsp. *salmonicida* strain used for experiments, 15-021, was donated by US Fish and Wildlife Bozeman Fish Health Center (Bozeman, MT, USA). It was originally isolated from an adult Chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*) captured at Lower Granite Dam (Pomeroy, WA, USA). The strain was grown in tryptic soy broth (TSB; BD, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA) with gentle agitation at 20 °C for 48 hrs, then diluted with 16% (v/v) sterile glycerol and kept at -80 °C in 1.5 mL aliquots. The purity of the broth culture was checked by spread plate dilutions, all subsequent vaccines and challenge preparations were produced from these frozen glycerol stocks.

For the oral vaccine particles, cultures were scaled up to 5 L over 72 hrs, after 48 hrs of growth at 5 L, a 2 mL sample was removed to measure the optical density at 525 nm (OD₅₂₅) and colony forming units per mL (cfu mL⁻¹) using standard spread plate dilution protocols on three tryptic soy agar (TSA; BD) plates per dilution. Formalin was added to a final concentration of 2 % (v/v), the flask was returned to the shaker and allowed to mix for an additional 24 to 48 hrs, similar to previous experimental vaccines [29]. Complete inactivation was confirmed by plating 1 mL of culture directly onto TSA agar plates in triplicate; no growth was observed after 72 hrs. To concentrate the inactivated bacteria, flasks were kept at 4 °C for at least 72 hrs to allow cells to settle. Once cells had settled to the bottom and the broth appeared clear, a sterile serological pipet was affixed to a vacuum hose and media was drawn out without disturbing the bacteria. The optical density of the decanted media was compared to blank sterile media. The OD₅₂₅ of decanted was below 0.02, indicating a negligible loss of bacterial cells during concentration. The concentrated bacteria were then aliquoted into 50 mL sterile tubes and allowed to settle again in the same manner, this was repeated until cells were consolidated into two 50 mL tubes. These concentrates were stored in the original TSB with 2 % formalin until required for particle production. For other vaccine formulations, cells were grown in 500 to 700 mL of TSB, quantified, and inactivated using the same methods. An exception was the injection and immersion vaccines for trial 2, which were inactivated using 0.3% formalin.

For final preparation of the vaccine before administration or particle production, bacteria were washed 3 times with sterile phosphate buffered saline (PBS; pH 7.2). Bacteria were centrifuged at 3,000 x g at 8 °C for 10 minutes, supernatant discarded, and cells resuspended in sterile PBS and vortexed vigorously. After the last wash, PBS was added to bring the suspension of inactivated cells to the desired concentration. For the oral vaccine, the PBS was decanted after the last wash leaving only the inactivated cells in a paste-like consistency. Washing was performed for all treatments except the immersion vaccine in trial 2, in which growth media containing extracellular products produced by *A. salmonicida* were kept in the vaccine to observe their effect on immune response and protection against disease.

Protein concentration and total dose of each administration of the vaccine preparations was estimated using a NanoDrop 2000 (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA). For preparations suspended in sterile PBS for delivery, PBS was used as a blank and serial dilutions were measured to estimate the average dose per fish. The immersion vaccine in trial 2 was not measured because it contained extracellular products and was drastically pigmented, confounding measurements. The protein concentration of oral vaccine particles was measured by homogenization of both control and vaccine particles in sterile PBS. Serial dilutions of the homogenates were measured, and the difference in protein content between the vaccine and control particles was estimated to be the vaccine protein concentration. The total grams of particles fed to the tank over the 3 days were divided among the total fish to reach the final mg dose of vaccine protein for each fish. All dose estimates and experimental treatments are shown in Table 2.1.

2.3.3.2 Particle Production

All particle production was performed at OSU's Hatfield Marine Science Center (Newport, OR, USA). Liposomes were produced based on the method originally described by Barr and Helland [30] as modified by Hawkyard et al. [31]. The core solution was produced with a solution of 1% (w/v) alanine, 1% (w/v) betaine and 1% (w/v) glycine.

Particles were produced using the methods described in Hawkyard et al. [32] modified as follows. The particle mash was prepared using a mixture of 3% medium viscosity alginic acid (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) and 10% (w/v) gelatin from coldwater fish (Sigma-Aldrich). An orange pigment (Blaze OrangeTM, Day-Glo Color corp., Cleveland, OH, USA) was added to the alginate suspension at a concentration of 0.5% (w/v) to enhance particle coloration. Two formulations of vaccine-containing complex particles were produced. The first formulation, used in trial 1, was produced by first preparing a 50:50 (v/v) mixture of alginate and fish gelatin solutions. The alginategelatin mixture was then combined with the liposome and *A. salmonicida* cells so that they comprised 10% and 30% (v/v) of the suspension, respectively. The second formulation, for trial 2, was produced with a 45:55 (v/v) mixture of alginate and fish gelatin. Liposomes and bacterial suspensions were added as previously described. These solutions were shaken by hand and then vortexed for 2 minutes until homogenous. Control particles were created by adding the liposome suspension to the alginate-gelatin mixture so that the liposomes comprised 10% of the final formulation by volume. Particles were sprayed into a pre-chilled (4 °C) solution of 10% w/v calcium chloride and collected on a 1 mm sieve with 20 minutes of spraying. To obtain uniform sizes, particles were passed through 2.0 mm, 1.4 mm, and 1.0 mm sieves. The flexible nature of the particles allowed sizes up to 1.7 mm to pass through the 1.4 mm sieve, leaving a range of sizes from approximately 1.3 mm to 1.7 mm.

2.3.4 Vaccination

2.3.4.1 Trial 1

Rainbow trout approximately 2.5 g were randomly divided and distributed into six identical 500-liter tanks, receiving 225 fish each. The six experimental treatments, randomly assigned to tanks, are described in Table 2.1. Before vaccination, fish were kept off feed for 24 hrs.

For oral particle treatments (OV and CP), particles were formulated with a 50:50 alginate to gelatin ratio. Particles were administered to each treatment tank at a rate of 1.5 % bodyweight per day for 3 consecutive days, the first feeding representing day 1 of the trial. Approximately 8 hrs after particle feeding, commercial diets were fed at 2% bodyweight; non-particle treatments were fed 2% bodyweight split into morning and evening feedings, ensuring that all treatments were afforded the same daily feed rate.

Other vaccination treatments were applied on day 1 of the trial, the same day as the first oral particle feeding. The immersion (BA) group closely followed methods previously published for formalin inactivated *A. salmonicida* vaccines in rainbow trout [33–35]. Fish were netted into a bucket at a density of 30 g L⁻¹ and vaccine was diluted to a final concentration 1×10^8 cfu mL⁻¹ in tank water. Fish were held with constant aeration for 30 minutes before being netted into their experimental tanks.

For i.p. injection (IP) and anal intubation (AL) treatments, vaccine was diluted to 4×10^9 cfu mL⁻¹ of which 25 µL was administered to each fish for a final dose containing 1×10^8 total cfu's, previously used in other experiments [29]. All fish were anesthetized prior to administration by immersion in tricaine methanesulfonate (MS-222; Syndel, Ferndale, WA, USA) at a concentration of 50 mg mL⁻¹

until equilibrium was lost. A $\frac{1}{2}$ cc 27-gauge syringe was used to inject 25 µL of vaccine, or PBS for the control group (PB), intraperitoneally for each fish. A 22-gauge feeding gavage needle (Instech Laboratories, Inc., Plymouth Meeting, PA, USA) attached to a $\frac{1}{2}$ cc syringe was used for the AL treatment by inserting the needle at least 15 mm into the intestinal tract of the fish before administering the dose. After 2 weeks, all treatments were administered a booster using the same protocols and vaccine stock.

2.3.4.2 Trial 2

Trial 2 methods closely followed those in trial 1, with several distinct differences. Fish were approximately 2.75 g at the start of the experiment. Again, 225 fish were split into 6 identical tanks that were randomly assigned a vaccination treatment and fish were kept off feed for 24 hrs prior to vaccinations.

Particles for OV and CP groups were formulated with a 45:55 alginate to gelatin ratio based on observations of undigested particles in the hind gut of fish sampled from trial 1. Fish were fed at the same rates as trial 1, and because fish were slightly larger they were administered a slightly higher dose of vaccine protein; 42 mg in trial 1 compared to 44 mg in trial 2. The BA treatment used the same cfu mL⁻¹ dose and duration as trial 1, but protein was not quantified because of the dark brown pigmentation of the vaccine containing extracellular products. The IP treatment vaccine was inactivated with 0.3% formalin and washed the same as trial 1. However, Freund's complete adjuvant (FCA) and incomplete adjuvant (FIA) was mixed with equal parts of the vaccine for the initial and boost dose respectively (Sigma-Aldrich). To obtain a similar cfu mL⁻¹ dose as trial 1, the IP vaccine was concentrated to 8×10^9 cfu mL⁻¹, 25 µL of the equal parts adjuvant and vaccine mixture was delivered, bringing the final dose for immunization to 1×10^8 cfu mL⁻¹. Since the same stock of vaccine was used for oral vaccine particle production, the same stock and delivery method was used for the AL treatment.

2.3.5 Sample Collection

2.3.5.1 Whole Blood and Mucus

Fish were kept off feed for 24 hrs prior to sampling and euthanized with an overdose of MS-222. For each trial, fish were sampled before immunization for day 0 control samples. Whole blood was collected by caudal vein puncture with a $\frac{1}{2}$ cc 27-gauge syringe needle, which was dispensed into sterile tubes and allowed to clot overnight at 4 °C. Tubes were centrifuged the next day at 5,000 x *g* for 10 minutes, serum was separated and stored at -20 °C until analysis. For trial 1, blood was collected from 10 fish from each treatment at 2, 4, 6, 8, and 13 weeks post vaccination (wpv) as well

as at the conclusion of the pathogen challenge. When sampling 13 wpv, only 4 fish remained from the IP group so all were collected for blood sampling. Sample size was reduced to 5 fish per treatment at each timepoint in trial 2, and were collected at 1, 2, 3, 4, 6, 8, and 13 wpv in addition to 10 fish per treatment for post challenge samples.

Skin and intestinal mucus samples were collected only in trial 1. Skin mucus was sampled at 2, 4, 6, 8, and 13 wpv prior to blood collection by pooling 2 fish into a whirl-pak bag (VWR International, Radnor, PA, USA) containing 100 μ L of sterile PBS with 0.05% sodium azide (PBS-Az). Bagged fish were massaged for 1 minute, mucus was then transferred to 2 mL centrifuge tubes and spun at 10,000 x *g* for 10 minutes. Supernatant was collected and stored at -20 °C until analysis. Intestinal samples were collected at 2, 4, 6, and 8 wpv after blood draws by excising the entire intestine from pyloric caeca to anus. Fecal material was removed, and mucus was collected by gently stripping the intestinal length with a forceps into a 0.5 mL centrifuge tube containing 50 μ L of sterile PBS-Az. The same fish pooled for skin mucus were pooled for intestinal mucus sampling, tubes were held at 4 °C for 24 hrs and vortexed vigorously every 6 hrs during that time. Samples were then transferred directly to -20 °C until analysis.

2.3.5.2 Tissues

Samples, three fish from each treatment, were collected at 24, 72, and 168 hrs post initial vaccination (hpv) during trial 1 for gene expression analysis. At each timepoint, fish were euthanized with an overdose of MS-222 and spleen, kidney, a 2 cm length of the second segment of the intestinal tract (approximately 1 cm anterior to the vent and identified by a widening in intestinal diameter), and a 1 cm² patch of skin immediately posterior to the operculum. Samples were removed aseptically; fecal material was gently stripped from the intestine as needed and tissues were stored in RNA*later* (Thermo Fisher Scientific) at -80 °C until extraction.

2.3.6 Pathogen Challenge

2.3.6.1 Trial 1

Fish (10.6 g), were kept off feed for 48 hrs prior to immersion challenge at 13 wpv. For bacterial preparation, 1mL of frozen 15-021 glycerol stock was used to inoculate 750 mL of brain heart infusion (BHI) broth (Criterion, Hardy Diagnostics) in 2 L baffled, aerated Erlenmeyer flasks (Grenier Bio-One, Kremsmünster, Austria). Flasks were shaken for 44 - 48 hrs at 20 °C until it reached an OD₅₂₅ between 2.1 and 2.2, corresponding to approximately 6×10^9 cfu mL⁻¹ based on previous observations. Bacterial stock used for challenge was quantified using conventional spread plate technique with triplicate BHI agar plates for each dilution.

Fish (n = 15) were stocked into 6 L of tank water (15 °C), allowing for an approximate target density of 25 g L⁻¹, bacterial culture had a final OD₅₂₅ of 2.116 (6×10^9 cfu mL⁻¹) of which 30 mL was added to create a final dilution of 3×10^7 cfu mL⁻¹ and fish were left under constant aeration for 24 hrs as has been previously described [36] and based on observations during pre-challenge trials to obtain 50% mortality. Fish in all treatments were challenged in triplicate tanks, apart from the IP group that was challenged in duplicate due to insufficient numbers because an earlier challenge attempt resulted in unsatisfactory mortality and had to be repeated. An extra tank from each treatment was exposed to sterile BHI as a mock challenge group. Water temperature fluctuated between 14 - 16 °C in challenge baths, dissolved oxygen remained above 6 mg L^{-1} throughout the 24 hr challenge period. At the conclusion of the 24 hrs, fish were stocked into 17 L flow through tanks (15 °C) and mortalities were collected daily for 28 days. For each mortality, clinical signs of disease were noted, then kidney tissue was aseptically sampled and streaked onto BHI agar plates, A. salmonicida infection was confirmed by the development of dark brown pigment within 96 hrs of culture, characteristic of the 15-021 strain. Blood was collected from 5 surviving fish randomly selected from replicate tanks, except for the PB group where only 4 survivors remained. Blood was processed as described above to measure A. salmonicida specific antibodies.

2.3.6.2 Trial 2

Fish were exposed to *A. salmonicida* at 4 wpv at an average size of 5.2 g and bacterial growth conditions were the same as in trial 1. Because of their smaller size, 20 fish were used in each replicate and they were stocked into 5 L of tank water ($15 \,^{\circ}$ C) to an approximate density of 23 g L⁻¹. For the challenge, 8.5 mL of bacterial culture ($OD_{525} = 2.202; 7.9 \times 10^9 \,^{\circ}$ cfu mL⁻¹) was added to make a final concentration of 1.34×10^7 cfu mL⁻¹, reduced from trial 1 to accommodate the smaller fish. After the 24 hour immersion, fish were stocked into 17 L flow through tanks at 15 °C after which mortalities were monitored for 28 days and pathogen re-isolation was attempted using the same methods as trial 1. At the conclusion of the challenge, enough samples remained to collect 10 fish from each treatment to measure *A. salmonicida* specific antibodies in serum.

2.3.7 ELISA to Measure A. salmonicida Specific Antibodies

An enzyme linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) developed and optimized in previous papers [37,38] to measure *Flavobacterium psychrophilum* specific antibodies in rainbow trout was modified for the measurement of *A. salmonicida* specific antibodies. Briefly, positive control samples were obtained from fish that were hyper-immunized with the inactivated 15-021 vaccine and shown to contain high levels of *A. salmonicida* antibodies. For hyper-immunization, 500 g fish were

anesthetized with 50 mg mL⁻¹ of MS-222 before being administered a 200 μ L emulsified injection with equal parts vaccine (1 × 10⁹ cfu mL⁻¹) and FCA, for a final dose of 1 × 10⁸ cfu's per fish. Fish were placed in a 1% salt solution for 30 seconds to recover before being placed into their original tank. Fish were boosted with the same vaccine stock 4 weeks later, emulsified with FIA. Blood, 0.2 mL, was collected non-lethally every two weeks from 6 wpv to 14 wpv, sera was separated and stored at -20 °C. These samples were tested, found to have high *A. salmonicida* specific titers relative to naïve controls, and used as positive controls for all subsequent ELISA.

The coating antigen for the ELISA was made by culturing 15-021 in 20 mL of TSB at 20 °C for 48 hrs with gentle shaking. The culture was centrifuged at 3,000 x *g* for 10 minutes, TSB was decanted, and bacterial cells were washed with sterile PBS. After another centrifugation, bacterial cells were resuspended in 10 mL of sterile PBS then frozen at -80 °C. After 10 freeze-thaw cycles, protein concentration was measured using a NanoDrop 2000. This antigen was then diluted to 10 μ g mL⁻¹ in carbonate coating buffer (pH 9.6) and wells were coated with 100 μ L and the rest of the process followed steps from previous studies [37,38]. Serum samples were diluted, in duplicate, from 1:50 to 1:102400 in doubling dilutions with potassium phosphate buffered saline containing 0.05% Tween-20 and 0.02% sodium azide (KPBS-T-Az) to a final volume of 100 μ L well⁻¹. All plates were read on a Powerwave XS microplate reader (BioTek, Winooski, VT, USA) at 405 nm (OD₄₀₅). Final antibody titers are expressed as the log₁₀ of the reciprocal of the highest average dilution in a sample with an OD₄₀₅ at least two times greater than a blank control. For skin and intestinal mucus, 50 μ L of undiluted sample was plated in duplicate and results are reported as the absorbance value at OD₄₀₅ after correction for background absorbance.

2.3.8 RNA Extraction and RT-PCR Analysis

RNA extraction was performed using a PureLink RNA Mini Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific) with an on-column DNAse digest using the PureLink DNase Digest Set (Thermo Fisher Scientific) according to manufacturer's guidelines, quantity and quality of isolated RNA was assessed on a NanoDrop 2000. A RevertAid RT Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific) with RNase inhibitor was used for cDNA synthesis of 150 ng of RNA, final concentration of cDNA was calculated based on RNA input and stored at -20 °C. Each 10 μ L RT-PCR reaction consisted of 5 μ L of PowerUp Sybr Green Master Mix (Applied Biosystems, Waltham, MA, USA), 500 nM of each forward and reverse primer, and 2.5 ng of cDNA template, all reactions were performed in triplicate. PCR was run on a StepOnePlus RT-PCR System (Applied Biosystems), and conditions followed a previously described study [26]; a 2 minute hold at 50 °C, 2 minute denaturation step at 95 °C, then 40 cycles of 95 °C for 15 s and 60 °C

for 1 minute, followed by the machine's default melt curve analysis. β -actin was used as an endogenous control for normalization, primer details for β -actin and other genes of interest can be found in Table 2.2. Relative quantification of gene expression between the PB group and other treatment groups was determined at each timepoint for each tissue using the 2^{- $\Delta\Delta$ Ct} method [39]. Graphical representation of relative expression is shown in fold changes.

2.3.9 Statistical Analysis

All data were analyzed using the program R [42]. Assumptions of normality and homogeneity of variance were determined using Shapiro-Wilk and Levene tests, respectively. Antibody data was non-parametric, therefore a Kruskal-Wallis test was done using the rstatix package to determine significant differences of titers among treatment groups at each timepoint. Dunn's test of multiple comparisons, with a Benjamini-Hochberg *p*-value correction, was used for post-hoc testing. For RT-PCR analysis, the ddCt values passed assumptions and a one-way ANOVA with Tukey's HSD post-hoc testing of multiple comparisons was done for each tissue at each timepoint. The survival and survminer packages in R were used to generate Kaplan-Meier survival curves, and a pair wise log-rank test was used to compare treatment group curves with a Benjamini Hochberg *p*-value correction. Relative percent survival was calculated with the following equation [43].

$$RPS = \left[1 - \left(\frac{\% \text{ mortality of vaccinated fish}}{\% \text{ mortality of unvaccinated fish}}\right)\right] \times 100$$

All results were deemed significant if the *p*-value was less than 0.05.

2.3 Results

2.3.1 A. salmonicida Specific Antibody Titers

2.3.1.1 Trial 1

All fish sampled prior to immunization had no specific antibody titers to *A. salmonicida* (data not shown), serum titers for all subsequent timepoints tested are shown in Figure 2.1. The IP treatment group had significantly higher titers than all other treatment groups (p < 0.05) at nearly all timepoints prior to challenge, with the only exception being at 13 wpv, where it was not significantly different from the AL group titers (3.4 ± 0.37 vs. 1.5 ± 0.48). The AL and BA groups had similar titers and never differed significantly from one another, although AL had slightly higher levels throughout the trial (Figure 2.1). Both AL and BA groups peaked at 8 wpv and had significantly higher titers (p < 0.05) compared to the OV group at that time in addition to AL titers being significantly higher than OV at 13 wpv (p = 0.006). The OV group peaked 4 wpv with significantly elevated titers relative to both control groups, PB and CP (p = 0.025). Fish exhibiting positive titers were observed in the OV

group at all timepoints except 13 wpv. One fish exhibited positive titers in the PB group at 8 wpv, which was the only incidence observed from fish in either control group. With respect to the post challenge antibody titers, the IP group had the highest titers followed by BA and OV groups, but there were no significant differences among any of the treatments (Figure 2.1).

For the skin mucus samples, the IP group again had the strongest antibody response and exhibited significantly higher OD₄₀₅ values than the PB group (p < 0.05) at all timepoints except 13 wpv where no groups differed from each other (Figure 2.2). The AL group had a higher OD₄₀₅ relative to the PB group at 2 wpv (p = 0.005), and at 4 wpv all vaccinated groups (IP, AL, BA, OV) had significantly higher absorbances than the PB group (p < 0.05); however, the OV group was not significantly different from the CP group. At 6 wpv, the OV group did have a significantly higher average OD₄₀₅ compared to the CP group (p = 0.029) but not the PB group (p = 0.076), whereas both BA and AL were different from the PB and CP groups (p < 0.05). No groups, apart from IP, were different from each other at 8 wpv, though the average OD₄₀₅ of the AL group was nearly twice as high as the PB, CP, OV, or BA groups. There was no noticeable signal produced in wells where intestinal mucus samples were used, and no observable pattern among treatment groups or samples collected prior to vaccination was found (Supplemental Table 2.1). Graphical representations of antibody responses over time are shown in Supplemental Figures 2.1 and 2.2.

2.3.1.2 Trial 2

No antibodies were detected prior to vaccination or 1 wpv in any treatment groups (data not shown). The IP group had significantly elevated levels compared to the CP, PB, and OV groups for all timepoints aside from 1 wpv (p < 0.05; Figure 2.3). The IP and BA groups were not different at 2, 3, and 6 wpv, but did differ significantly at 4, 8, and 13 wpv (p = 0.030, 0.029, and 0.0002 respectively). The IP group had significantly elevated titers relative to the AL group at all timepoints except for 8 wpv The BA group was the only other treatment aside from IP that had significantly elevated titers compared to control groups, which occurred at 3 wpv (p = 0.018). Antibody levels in the AL group were variable and observed at 2, 6, 8, and 13 wpv with a peak at 8 wpv The OV group had a peak response at 6 wpv, otherwise titers were not observed. For the post challenge titers, the IP group had significantly higher levels compared to all other groups (p < 0.05), but there were no other differences among treatment groups. Graphical representation of the antibody response aver time is shown in Supplemental Figure 2.1.

2.3.2 Pathogen Challenge

2.3.2.1 Trial 1

There were five instances of mortality in mock infected tanks during the first 14 days of the challenge; however, *A. salmonicida* or any other bacteria were not isolated on agar plates from kidney samples. These mortalities were attributed to cannibalism as increased feeding resulted in no further mortalities. Mortalities in challenged fish started 5 days after pathogen exposure and was similar for all treatments except IP and AL, and peaked on day 6, after which mortalities slowed and remained at consistently low for the rest of the challenge as is typical of a chronic *A. salmonicida* infection (Figure 2.4). Final endpoint survival and relative percent survival (RPS) was highest in the IP and AL groups with 70.0% and 68.9% respectively (RPS = 62.1% and 63.5%), followed by BA and CP groups which both had 64.4% survival and RPS values of 56.7% (Table 2.3). The OV group had a survival of 51.1% (RPS = 40.5%) and was significantly higher than the PB group with 17.8% survival (p = 0.019). All other groups had significantly higher survival than the PB group (p < 0.001) but did not differ from each other.

2.3.2.2 Trial 2

No mortalities were observed in mock challenged tanks for trial 2. There were three mortalities, one each from OV, IP, and CP treatments in where re-isolation attempts did not produce bacterial growth and brown pigmentation indicating death was not due to *A. salmonicida*. Therefore, they were right-censored out of the Kaplan-Meier curves and statistical analysis and omitted from mortality records during RPS calculations. Onset of mortalities was slightly earlier than trial 1, starting at 3 days post exposure and peaking on day 5. By 10 days post exposure, only 6 mortalities occurred among all tanks for the rest of the 28 day challenge period comprising of less than 5% of total mortalities in the trial (Figure 2.5). The IP group had significantly higher survival, 96.7% (RPS = 94.7%), relative to all other vaccinated or unvaccinated treatment groups (p < 0.001; Table 2.3). Survival in the AL, BA, and OV groups was similar and between survival ranged from 63.3% to 68.3% and was significantly greater than the PB group with 36.7% survival (p < 0.005). The CP group, 51.7% survival (RPS = 23.6%), did not differ significantly from AL (p = 0.184), BA (p = 0.161), OV (p = 0.088), or the PB control group (p = 0.161).

2.3.3 Gene Expression

The expression levels of IgT and IgD were low and Ct values were consistently above 33 or altogether undetected. As such, the ddCt was not calculated and genes were not statistically analyzed except for spleen samples, which several biological replicates were dropped due to unacceptably high

Ct levels. It should be noted that at least 2 replicates remained for analysis of spleen IgT and IgD expression at each timepoint (Supplemental Table 2.2). Other genes, IgM, IL-1 β , and CD4 were consistently detected throughout the experiment and graphs showing all instances of significant upregulation in treatment groups relative to PB are shown in Figure 2.6. The complete array of relative fold change for various tissues, genes, and sample timepoints are shown in Figures 2.7 – 2.11.

In the spleen, at 24 hrs post vaccination (hpv), IL-1 β was significantly upregulated in the IP group relative to the PB control group (p = 0.001), this was also the case for 72 hpv (p = 0.013), but by 168 hpv expression had returned to baseline levels. The OV group had significantly upregulated IgM (p = 0.027) and CD4 (p = 0.028) 168 hpv. For kidney tissue, the IP (p < 0.001), AL (p = 0.007), and BA (p = 0.047) groups had significantly upregulated IL-1 β expression at 24 hpv (Figure 2.6A). Only the IP group was still significantly upregulated 72 hpv (p = 0.012). The OV group had significant upregulation of CD4 in the kidney 168 hpv (p = 0.036). No significant differences were observed for any genes of interest in gill tissue, IgM was significantly upregulated in the intestine of IP fish 168 hpv (p = 0.006), and in the skin of the AL group 168 hpv (p = 0.012).

In spleen tissue at 168 hpv, there was an increase in IgT and IgD expression in all treatment groups relative to the PB group, though none differed significantly (Figure 2.7). Similarly, the largest increase in IgM expression for each group was observed 168 hpv. Upregulation of IgM happened later in the kidney, intestine, and skin tissues (Figures 2.8, 2.10, and 2.11), with the highest fold increases of each group coming at 168 hpv. The gill tissue had a quicker response, with peaks for the mucosal vaccinated groups coming at 24 hpv, and the IP group at 72 hpv, and similarly with CD4 higher expression was seen at 24 hpv (Figure 2.9). IL-1ß was characterized by a quick upregulation at 24 hpv, before decreasing to baseline levels by 168 hpv; this was the case for all tissues except the skin where the OV, BA, and AL groups had peak upregulation at 168 hpv (Figure 2.11). The IP group generally had the largest increase in upregulation of IL-1ß among treatment groups for each tissue, apart from the gill and skin tissue where the OV and AL group were higher in each respective tissue.

2.4 Discussion

Mucosal vaccines, especially those delivered orally, are a popular subject for review as encapsulation and antigen preparation techniques continue to progress [17,19,44]. Studies that directly compare oral vaccination to other routes are more limited but provide valuable information about the specific immune response. To better understand the mucosal and systemic immune response to a formalin killed *A. salmonicida* vaccine, rainbow trout were immunized by injection, immersion, anal intubation, and oral feeding of alginate particles in two separate trials. Specific antibodies, from sera in both trials and from skin mucus in trial 1, were measured across 13 weeks. Changes in expression of immune-related genes were monitored in trial 1 in the first week after initial vaccination. Fish were subject to an immersion pathogen challenge at 13 wpv (trial 1) or 4 wpv (trial 2). Our study is the first use of an alginate encapsulated oral vaccine for immunizations in rainbow trout specifically against *A. salmonicida*, though there has been one such study in Atlantic salmon [45]. Ours is also the first study using macro-alginate particles as vaccine carriers in any fish model species.

In trial 1, the OV group had lower *A. salmonicida* specific antibodies compared to other vaccination groups with the only exception coming at 4 wpv where levels peaked and were slightly higher than the BA group $(1.57 \pm 0.27 \text{ vs}. 1.35 \pm 0.37;$ Figure 2.1). At no point during trial 1 were antibodies elevated in the skin mucus of orally vaccinated fish relative to other vaccination groups. Antibody titers for the OV group in trial 2 were only present 6 wpv at which point it was slightly elevated relative to the AL group $(0.86 \pm 0.52 \text{ vs}. 0.40 \pm 0.40;$ Figure 2.3). These relatively short lived antibody responses that wane at about 8 wpv have been observed in other oral vaccines in rainbow trout [46,47]. However, continued booster vaccinations can extend this duration, as was shown with a starch hydro-gel oral particle encapsulating an *A. salmonicida* vaccine [48]. In our study fish were boosted 2 wpv but we also found presence of specific antibodies prior to booster in trial 1 (Figure 2.1). Booster timing can greatly impact the temporal presence of antibody titers in oral vaccines, a study by Jaafar et al. [49] boosted fish 7.5 wpv and later had significant increases in antibodies 13 wpv with a commercial oral *Yersinia ruckeri* vaccine in rainbow trout.

We also observed that other immunization routes generally had higher antibody titers relative to oral vaccination except during the peak responses at 4 (trial 1) and 6 (trial 2) wpv. The same observation was made in another study where an inactivated *S. iniae* vaccine in rainbow trout promoted significantly higher agglutinating titers in fish vaccinated by injection or immersion compared to an unencapsulated oral vaccine top coated on feed [50]. Oral vaccination also provoked lower IgM levels than immersion and injection with a formalin killed *V. anguillarum* vaccine in rainbow trout [47]. However, antigen encapsulation can drastically change this response. A study with an unencapsulated live attenuated *F. psychrophilum* vaccine in rainbow trout found that only fish vaccinated by injection had a significant IgM response, whereas oral, anal, and immersion routes did not [26]. However, a different study used an encapsulated form of that the same vaccine and induced similar serum IgM levels in both injection and orally vaccinated fish, which were significantly higher than control fish [51].

A study using a commercial *Yersinia ruckeri* vaccine in rainbow trout found similar antibody levels between oral and anal immunization routes when measured prior to booster at 16 wpv and again at 24 wpv [22]. A recent study found that both high and low doses of an oral vaccine against *Piscirickettsia salmonis* in Atlantic salmon stimulated specific IgM levels similar to the injection group by 8 wpv, though they were lower than the injection group at 40 days post vaccination [23]. In trial 1 of our study, we found similar specific serum IgM levels among the BA, AL, and OV groups until 8 wpv at which point the BA and AL groups had significantly higher levels. The IP group had significantly higher levels than the OV group at every timepoint measured, contrasting other studies that successfully stimulated comparable serum IgM levels between oral and injection immunization routes [23,51].

Pathogen specific components of the skin mucus have demonstrated the ability to contribute to A. salmonicida resistance. In a study by Cipriano and Heartwell [52], serum and mucus from hatchery fish that survived a furunculosis outbreak were tested for reactivity to A. salmonicida. They found high levels of a mucus precipitin specific to A. salmonicida in rainbow trout and lower levels in brook (Salvelinus fontinalis) and brown (Salmo trutta) trout, which correlated with the mortality patterns of the disease outbreak. In contrast, serum specific antibodies were equal among the species and not correlated to resistance. In our study, the strongest evidence of specific antibodies in skin mucus was observed in fish vaccinated by injection and not with mucosal administrations (Figure 2.2). Evidence shows that mucosal Igs can be translocated from systemic sources [53] and that cutaneous tissues have their own plasma cells containing Igs [54]. The presence of significantly higher levels of specific IgM in the skin mucus of the IP group in this study suggests that systemic circulating IgM plays an important role in mucosal protection against infections. This is in agreement with Makesh et al. [26], who found that only injection vaccination against F. psychrophilum stimulated significantly higher levels of mucosal IgM in rainbow trout and not oral, anal, or immersion routes. Another study in Atlantic salmon tested immunization with a protein-hapten antigen through injection, anal, and gillimmersion routes; they did not find any increase in skin mucus IgM for any treatment, but the injection route did increase levels in skin tissue explant supernatant [25]. These are similar findings what we present here, though we were able to detect small increases in skin mucus IgM of other immunization routes. Our study may have missed an earlier mucus IgM response prior to 2 wpv; an experiment in yellow croaker (*Pseudosciaena crocea*) found a significant and early (1 wpv) antibody response in the skin mucus after immersion with a formalin inactivated Vibrio harveyi vaccine compared to oral or injection routes [55]. This response was not present 2 wpv, when we collected our first skin mucus samples. We found the peak response for immunized groups came at 4 and 6 wpv depending on vaccination route, a much slower response compared to that in yellow croaker, but comparable to those observed by Makesh et al. [26]. Another possible explanation of low mucosal IgM detection in mucosal immunization routes of these experiments is that mucosal Igs can differ in their structure and therefore not be as easily detected using traditional methods developed for identifying systemic IgM [56]. Specifc IgM in intestinal mucus was tested but was not present or was below detection levels. It possible that serum IgM translocated into intestinal epithelial tissue was quickly degraded by components of the gut mucus, as has been previously shown in Atlantic salmon [57]. Another explanation is that IgT plays a more important role in the skin [58,59] and intestinal [60] mucus tissues; however, IgT expression in these tissues was not apparent in this study.

In both trials, orally vaccinated fish had significantly higher survival compared to fish injected with PBS after a pathogen challenge, demonstrating the ability of the macro-alginate particle to provide short (trial 2; 4 wpv, RPS = 50.0%) and long (trial 1; 13 wpv, RPS = 40.5%) term protection. Other oral vaccine preparations against A. salmonicida have also been successful at limiting mortalities during challenges, the first coming from Duff [9] who incorporated inactivated bacteria directly into feed and administered it for 70 consecutive days to cutthroat trout (Oncorhynchus clarkii), obtaining an RPS of approximately 66%. A more recent study used macro-particles of starch hydrogel-based oral vaccines for A. salmonicida in rainbow trout and achieved an RPS of 69% at 11 wpv, though this was after fish had been administered 3 booster doses leading up to challenge [48]. These studies report a higher RPS in fish compared to our trials, but also fed the vaccines over a longer duration. A study with a liposome-alginate A. salmonicida vaccine and experimental design similar to ours was done in Atlantic salmon; fish fed for 2 days, boosted at 3 wpv, challenged at 7 wpv, and reported an RPS of 20.8% [45]. These studies demonstrate a range of protection for oral vaccine formulations against A. salmonicida. We consider ours a successful first attempt with the alginate macro-particles, with possible future adjustments to be made in the dose, booster timing, and particle formulation that may increase efficacy.

Interestingly, survival in the CP group performed equal to other vaccinated groups when challenged 13 wpv in trial 1. This suggests a long term adjuvant effect stimulated by the particles themselves, the protective cellular or humoral factors contributing to this are not clear, nor is it clear if it is due to the alginate or liposomes within the particles. Alginate has previously demonstrated an ability to boost the non-specific immune response when incorporated into diets at a low inclusion rate (0.5%) and fed for 45 days [61]. That study found that lysozyme, alkaline phosphatase, and protease activity in the skin mucus of rainbow trout increased from day 45 to day 50 and was significantly higher than the

control group [61]. It has already been discussed that skin mucus can contain important components for resistance to *A. salmonicida* infections [52], and this could explain the increase in protection seen in the CP group here. In fish, liposomes have typically been used to encapsulate bacterial antigens in oral vaccines [45,62] or carry non-specific immunostimulants [63] that are then readily absorbed by macrophages in the host. However, there is evidence in human medicine suggesting that liposomes themselves may provide some stand-alone immunoadjuvant action by activating macrophage responses [64].

The pathogen trial in trial 2 was done earlier at 4wpv to determine if the vaccine or adjuvant effects would be stronger if challenged sooner after particle administration. Interestingly, this challenge at 4 wpv did not result in CP survival significantly higher compared to the PB group (RPS = 23.6%). Survival in the AL, BA, an OV groups were significantly higher than the PB group, but not CP group in this challenge. It was expected that an adjuvant effect would be stronger closer to the initial delivery. This was not the case but could be partly explained by the 5% decrease in alginate composition, replaced with gelatin, of the particles compared to trial 1. Administering these empty particles to fish may be a means of providing a more cost effective way to provide protection, but mechanisms of this protection should be further defined. No specific IgM was detected in the CP group throughout the experiments. However, IgT and IgD expression increased by more than 4-fold in the spleen tissue at 168 hpv (Figure 2.7) while IgM and IL-1ß both increased more than 6-fold in the skin tissue at 72 hpv (Figure 2.11). This indicates that there may have been a humoral response in the CP group even though IgM specific to *A. salmonicida* was not detected, further studies with the alginate macro-particles are required to determine the mechanisms of this adjuvant effect and should characterize the differences of immune-activity in the skin mucus.

Decreasing alginate in favor of increased gelatin content in the particles for trial 2 was an attempt to increase digestion in fish; during sampling 1 wpv, intact particles were consistently observed in the hindgut of fish. It is difficult to conclude that the different alginate-gelatin ratio explains the increased protection seen in the OV group in trial 2, especially since specific IgM levels were lower and less consistent. Likely, the time of challenge more closely coincided with the peak humoral response which resulted in better protection. This is demonstrated by the presence of anti-*A. salmonicida* IgM at 6 wpv in trial 2 (Figure 2.3), compared to trial 1 where specific IgM decreased leading up to challenge (Figure 2.1). Other changes were made for trial 2 as well. For immersion, the ECP produced by *A. salmonicida* were kept in the vaccine and led to significantly higher specific IgM levels throughout trial 2 even
though survival rates were similar between these groups (BA = 65%, AL = 63.3%; Table 2.3). A study by Cipriano and Pyle [65] found that even though antibodies to *A. salmonicida* ECP were present after a natural infection, protection from an injection vaccine with an ECP fraction was only elevated when delivered with an adjuvant. Since no adjuvant was included in the BA group, it may partly explain why there was not increased protection compared to the whole cell preparation used for the AL group even though antibody titers were higher; more on the relationship between antibodies and protection are discussed below. An adjuvant was added to the IP group in trial 2 to simulate the current industry standard of furunculosis vaccines [6]. This combination provided significant protection relative to other vaccination groups, and much higher relative survival when compared to the formalin killed *A. salmonicida* by itself used in trial 1 (63.5% vs. 94.7%; Table 2.3). A recent study by Liu et al. [66] showed similar results, where FCA with a whole cell *A. salmonicida* vaccine provided an RPS of 83.66% compared to just 50% in rainbow trout vaccinated with the *A. salmonicida* alone.

Studies have found conflicting evidence of correlation between increased specific IgM in serum and increased protection against A. salmonicida. One group demonstrated a strong relationship using an injection vaccine [29], but found no relationship in an immersion vaccine [35]. In trial 1 of our study, the IP group had significantly higher antibody titers relative to the BA, OV, and CP groups at the time of challenge; the endpoint survival was highest in the IP group, but not significantly different from the other treatments. This demonstrates that the correlation between antibodies and disease protection may not be linear, and there could be an upper limit to the effectiveness of antibodies against A. salmonicida infection. However, when the injection was administered with FCA in trial 2, antibody levels were significantly higher than all other treatments and corresponded to significantly higher survival. This is likely due to the stimulation of the non-specific immune response and extended antigen presentation caused by the adjuvant. In the short term (≤ 5 wpv), antibody levels may not differ drastically between adjuvanted and unadjuvanted injections. This was the case in a previous study [66], and in our study where at 4 wpv titers were similar in the IP group between trials (trial 1 = 3.38 ± 0.11 ; trial $2 = 3.02 \pm 0.18$). Even at the time of challenge, 13 wpv for trial 1 and 4 wpv for trial 2, in each trial the specific IgM levels in serum was similar in the IP groups (trial $1 = 3.42 \pm 0.18$; trial $2 = 3.02 \pm 0.18$). However, this did not lead to similar levels of protection. Ultimately, conclusions draw from direct comparisons of trials within this study are weak because of confounding factors not accounted for such as different vaccine stocks, fish cohorts, and other differences between the trials difficult to measure. Directions for future research may be directed at discerning the

importance of anti-*A*. *salmonicida* antibodies and their role in disease protection, the mechanisms of adjuvants, and the potential use of alginate macro-particles as adjuvants.

The alginate macro-particles used in this study were between 1.3 and 1.7 mm in diameter; unlike micro and nano particles that benefit from increase surface area for absorption into host cells, this large carrier has drastically more volume to carry a higher dose of vaccine. This resulted in extremely high payloads of vaccine delivered to fish orally, approximately 30% of proteins in these particles was derived from the A. salmonicida vaccine, while the remaining came from the amino acid inclusion also present in the control particles. Amino acid inclusion into particles has been shown to aid ingestion in other species [32], and a similar particle formulation was readily accepted by fish both with and without vaccine incorporation. All fish sampled within 4 days after particle exposure (1 week after first feeding) had intact particles within the intestine, and no wasted particles could be observed within 1 hr after administration. This shows that particles were readily ingested, but digestion was limited and therefore limited the release of antigen into the intestine. Typical evacuation time is less than 48 hrs in rainbow trout [67]. The slow evacuation of particles in our study, at least 96 hrs, could be an asset because of the potential for longer duration of antigen exposure to the gastrointestinal tract. Though more research is required to ensure that the effect of this slow passage is not harmful to fish. Feed rates were the same among treatment groups and fish weight remained similar throughout the experiment, indicating that alginate exposure did not negatively impact nutrient absorption or growth in the groups given the particles during the 13 week period following vaccination.

It is important to address the vaccination doses used in this study, which were standardized for injection, immersion, and anal intubation treatments with respect to cfu mL⁻¹. However, the oral vaccine was designed to incorporate as much vaccine as possible to test the physical limits of alginate macro-particle structure during formulation. This resulted in nearly 150 times more vaccine protein delivered orally compared to other routes, drastically higher than other studies with high-dose oral vaccines [23]. Interestingly, the anal route generally had higher antibody levels in both trials, but similar protection, indicating that most of the vaccine protein in the macro-particles was not effectively absorbed in the hindgut compared to the AL group. Strangely, IgM expression in intestinal tissue at 168 hpv increased approximately 7.5 fold in the OV group, but only 4 fold in the AL group. CD4 also had a higher upregulation in the OV group compared to the AL group at this time, though the difference was smaller. This could be explained by the OV group being vaccinated for 3 consecutive days compared to 1 day for the AL group. Another explanation could be the extended

residence of particles 1 wpv in the intestine which may have stimulated an immune response targeting the particles themselves and not the vaccine within them, though this is unlikely because a similar upregulation of IgM and CD4 was not seen in the CP group.

The doses achieved in the present study may not be applicable to farm scale use, as it took approximately 10 L of bacterial culture for one round of vaccination in 225 fish with the macro-particles, not including the booster dose. Commercial scale bacterial fermentation could improve yields but may still prove cost prohibitive. Consideration should also be given to the potential oral tolerance of such a high vaccine dose, which should be tested in the future with varying doses of vaccine incorporated into the alginate macro-particles. Oral tolerance is caused by prolonged exposure to antigens in the intestine and can limit the humoral response in fish [12,14,68], one study even observed fish were more susceptible to the pathogen after over-exposure [27].

Our findings show the ability of an *A. salmonicida* alginate macro-particle vaccine to stimulate a humoral immune response within the first 8 wpv and provide significant protection against disease compared to a PBS control at 4 and 13 wpv. Disease protection was comparable to other vaccination routes including injection, immersion, and anal intubation except when the injected vaccine was mixed with an adjuvant. There is also evidence that the alginate macro-particle itself may stimulate an immune response through increased expression of immunoglobulins in spleen and skin tissue; these particles provided significant protection against *A. salmonicida* infection at 13 wpv. Further work is required to characterize the mechanisms and duration of this protection, but these particles may have a practical application for disease prevention in aquaculture.

2.5 References

[1] Menanteau-Ledouble S, Kumar G, Saleh M, El-Matbouli M. *Aeromonas salmonicida*:
updates on an old acquaintance. Diseases of Aquatic Organisms 2016;120:49–68.
https://doi.org/10.3354/dao03006.

[2] Munro ALS, Waddell IF. Furunculosis; experience of its control in the seat water cage culture of Atlantic salmon in Scotland. International Council for the Exploration of the Sea 1984;32:1–9.

[3] Markestad A, Grave K. Reduction of antibacterial drug use in Norwegian fish farming due to vaccination. Dev Biol Stand 1997;90:365–9.

[4] Marana MH, Karami AM, Ødegård J, Zuo S, Jaafar RM, Mathiessen H, et al. Whole-genome association study searching for QTL for *Aeromonas salmonicida* resistance in rainbow trout. Scientific Reports 2021;11:17857. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-97437-7.

[5] Marana MH, Sepúlveda D, Chen D, Al-Jubury A, Jaafar RM, Kania PW, et al. A pentavalent vaccine for rainbow trout in Danish aquaculture. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2019;88:344–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2019.03.001.

[6] Midtlyng PJ. Vaccination Against Furunculosis. vol. Fish Vaccination. Elsevier; 2014. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-012093040-1/50020-8.

[7] Mutoloki S, Reite OB, Brudeseth B, Tverdal A, Evensen Ø. A comparative immunopathological study of injection site reactions in salmonids following intraperitoneal injection with oil-adjuvanted vaccines. Vaccine 2006;24:578–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2005.08.070.

[8] Villumsen KR, Koppang EO, Raida MK. Adverse and long-term protective effects following oil-adjuvanted vaccination against *Aeromonas salmonicida* in rainbow trout. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2015;42:193–203. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2014.09.024.

[9] Duff DCB. The Oral Immunization of Trout Against *Bacterium salmonicida*. The Journal of Immunology 1942;44:87–94.

[10] Mutoloki S, Munang'andu HM, Evensen Ø. Oral Vaccination of Fish - Antigen Preparations,
Uptake, and Immune Induction. Front Immunol 2015;6:519.
https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2015.00519.

[11] Rombout JHWM, Berg AA. Immunological importance of the second gut segment of carp. I.
Uptake and processing of antigens by epithelial cells and macrophages. Journal of Fish Biology
1989;35:13–22. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.1989.tb03388.x.

[12] Davidson GA, Ellis AE, Secombes CJ. A preliminary investigation into the phenomenon of oral tolerance in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*, Walbaum, 1792). Fish & Shellfish
Immunology 1994;4:141–51. https://doi.org/10.1006/fsim.1994.1012.

[13] Piganelli JD, Zhang JA, Christensen JM, Kaattari SL. Enteric coated microspheres as an oral method for antigen delivery to salmonids. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 1994;4:179–88. https://doi.org/10.1006/fsim.1994.1017.

[14] Joosten PHM, Engelsma MY, van der Zee MD, Rombout JHWM. Induction of oral tolerance in carp (*Cyprinus carpio* L.) after feeding protein antigens. Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology 1997;60:187–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-2427(97)00124-4.

[15] Maurice S, Nussinovitch A, Jaffe N, Shoseyov O, Gertler A. Oral immunization of with modified recombinant A-layer proteins entrapped in alginate beads. Vaccine 2004;23:450–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2004.06.022.

[16] Munang'andu HM, Mutoloki S, Evensen Ø. A Review of the Immunological Mechanisms
Following Mucosal Vaccination of Finfish. Frontiers in Immunology 2015;6:427.
https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2015.00427.

[17] Adams A. Progress, challenges and opportunities in fish vaccine development. Fish &
Shellfish Immunology 2019;90:210–4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2019.04.066.

[18] Yue K, Shen Y. An overview of disruptive technologies for aquaculture. Aquaculture and Fisheries 2022;7:111–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aaf.2021.04.009.

[19] Embregts CWE, Forlenza M. Oral vaccination of fish: Lessons from humans and veterinary species. Developmental & Comparative Immunology 2016;64:118–37.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2016.03.024.

[20] Plant KP, LaPatra SE. Advances in fish vaccine delivery. Developmental and Comparative Immunology 2011;35:1256–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2011.03.007.

 [21] Hariyadi DM, Islam N. Current Status of Alginate in Drug Delivery. Advances in Pharmacological and Pharmaceutical Sciences 2020;2020:1–16.
https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/8886095.

[22] Villumsen KR, Neumann L, Ohtani M, Strøm HK, Raida MK. Oral and Anal Vaccination Confers Full Protection against Enteric Redmouth Disease (ERM) in Rainbow Trout. PLoS ONE 2014;9:e93845. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0093845.

[23] Sotomayor-Gerding D, Troncoso JM, Pino A, Almendras F, Diaz MR. Assessing the Immune Response of Atlantic Salmon (*Salmo salar*) after the Oral Intake of Alginate-Encapsulated *Piscirickettsia salmonis* Antigens. Vaccines (Basel) 2020;8:450. https://doi.org/10.3390/vaccines8030450.

[24] Masoomi Dezfooli S, Gutierrez-Maddox N, Alfaro A, Seyfoddin A. Encapsulation for delivering bioactives in aquaculture. Reviews in Aquaculture 2019;11:631–60. https://doi.org/10.1111/raq.12250.

[25] Valdenegro-Vega VA, Crosbie P, Vincent B, Cain KD, Nowak BF. Effect of immunization route on mucosal and systemic immune response in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology 2013;151:113–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetimm.2012.10.010.

[26] Makesh M, Sudheesh PS, Cain KD. Systemic and mucosal immune response of rainbow trout to immunization with an attenuated *Flavobacterium psychrophilum* vaccine strain by different routes. Fish and Shellfish Immunology 2015;44:156–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2015.02.003.

[27] Marana MH, Chettri JK, Salten MB, Bach-Olesen NE, Kania PW, Dalsgaard I, et al. Primary immunization using low antigen dosages and immunological tolerance in rainbow trout. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2020;105:16–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2020.06.049.

[28] Dong F, Tacchi L, Xu Z, LaPatra SE, Salinas I. Vaccination Route Determines the Kinetics and Magnitude of Nasal Innate Immune Responses in Rainbow Trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*).
Biology (Basel) 2020;9:319. https://doi.org/10.3390/biology9100319.

[29] Villumsen KR, Dalsgaard I, Holten-Andersen L, Raida MK. Potential Role of Specific Antibodies as Important Vaccine Induced Protective Mechanism against *Aeromonas salmonicida* in Rainbow Trout. PLoS ONE 2012;7:e46733. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0046733. [30] Barr Y, Helland S. A Simple Method for Mass-Production of Liposomes, in Particular Large Liposomes, Suitable for Delivery of Free Amino Acids to Filter Feeding Zooplankton. Journal of Liposome Research 2007;17:79–88. https://doi.org/10.1080/08982100701375050.

[31] Hawkyard M, Laurel B, Barr Y, Hamre K, Langdon C. Evaluation of liposomes for the enrichment of rotifers (*Brachionus sp.*) with taurine and their subsequent effects on the growth and development of northern rock sole (*Lepidopsetta polyxystra*) larvae. Aquaculture 2015;441:118–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2015.02.012.

[32] Hawkyard M, Stuart K, Drawbridge M, Langdon C. The early life stages of California yellowtail (*Seriola dorsalis*) and white seabass (*Atractoscion nobilis*) respond to food particle taste. Aquaculture 2019;512:734285. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2019.734285.

[33] Cobo Labarca C, Makhutu M, Lumsdon AE, Thompson KD, Jung R, Kloas W, et al. The adjuvant effect of low frequency ultrasound when applied with an inactivated *Aeromonas salmonicida* vaccine to rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Vaccine 2015;33:1369–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2015.01.027.

[34] Cobo C, Makosch K, Jung R, Kohlmann K, Knopf K. Enhanced Aeromonas salmonicida bacterin uptake and side effects caused by low frequency sonophoresis in rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2014;36:444–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2013.12.010.

[35] Villumsen KR, Raida MK. Long-lasting protection induced by bath vaccination against *Aeromonas salmonicida* subsp. *salmonicida* in rainbow trout. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2013;35:1649–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2013.09.013.

[36] Bravo CF, Curtis LR, Myers MS, Meador JP, Johnson LL, Buzitis J, et al. Biomarker responses and disease susceptibility in juvenile rainbow trout *Oncorhynchus mykiss* fed a high molecular weight PAH mixture. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 2011;30:704–14. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.439.

[37] Long A, Fehringer TR, Swain MA, LaFrentz BR, Call DR, Cain KD. Enhanced efficacy of an attenuated *Flavobacterium psychrophilum* strain cultured under iron-limited conditions. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2013;35:1477–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2013.08.009.

[38] LaFrentz BR, LaPatra SE, Jones GR, Congleton JL, Sun B, Cain KD. Characterization of serum and mucosal antibody responses and relative per cent survival in rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus*

mykiss (Walbaum), following immunization and challenge with *Flavobacterium psychrophilum*. Journal of Fish Diseases 2002;25:703–13. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2761.2002.00424.x.

[39] Livak KJ, Schmittgen TD. Analysis of Relative Gene Expression Data Using Real-Time Quantitative PCR and the $2-\Delta\Delta$ CT Method. Methods 2001;25:402–8. https://doi.org/10.1006/meth.2001.1262.

[40] Holm H, Santi N, Kjøglum S, Perisic N, Skugor S, Evensen Ø. Difference in skin immune responses to infection with salmon louse (*Lepeophtheirus salmonis*) in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) of families selected for resistance and susceptibility. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2015;42:384–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2014.10.038.

 [41] Sanchez M, Sepahi A, Casadei E, Salinas I. Symbiont-derived sphingolipids regulate inflammatory responses in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Aquaculture 2018;495:932–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2018.05.051.

[42] R Core Team. R: A language and environment for statistical computing 2020.

[43] Amend DF. Potency Testing of Fish Vaccines. Fish Biologics: Serodiagnostics and Vaccines 1981;49:447–54.

[44] Somamoto T, Nakanishi T. Mucosal delivery of fish vaccines: Local and systemic immunity following mucosal immunisations. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2020;99:199–207.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2020.01.005.

[45] Eggset G, McQueen L, Mikkelsen H, Hjelmeland K, Morten H, Syvertsen C, et al. Oral vaccination of Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar* L., against furunculosis with vaccines encapsulated in liposome/alginate particles. The Journal of Marine Biotechnology 1995;3:196–9.

[46] Halimi M, Alishahi M, Abbaspour MR, Ghorbanpoor M, Tabandeh MR. Valuable method for production of oral vaccine by using alginate and chitosan against *Lactococcus garvieae/Streptococcus iniae* in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2019;90:431–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2019.05.020.

[47] Palm Landolt R, Landolt M, Busch R. Route of vaccine administration:effects on the specific humoral response in rainbow trout Oncorhynchus mykiss. Diseases of Aquatic Organisms
1998;33:157–66. https://doi.org/10.3354/dao033157.

[48] Jun JW, Kang JW, Giri SS, Kim SW, Kim SG, Kwon J, et al. Preventive effect of starch hydrogel-based oral vaccine against *Aeromonas salmonicida* infection in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Aquaculture 2022;555:738202. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2022.738202.

[49] Jaafar RM, Al-Jubury A, Dalsgaard I, MohammadKarami A, Kania PW, Buchmann K. Effect of oral booster vaccination of rainbow trout against *Yersinia ruckeri* depends on type of primary immunization. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2019;85:61–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2017.10.049.

[50] Soltani M, Alishahi M, Mirzargar S, Nikbakht Gh. Vaccination of rainbow trout against *Streptococcus iniae* infection: comparison of different routes of administration and different vaccines. Iranian Journal of Fisheries Sciences 2007;7.

[51] Ghosh B, Bridle AR, Nowak BF, Cain KD. Assessment of immune response and protection against bacterial coldwater disease induced by a live-attenuated vaccine delivered orally or intraperitoneally to rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss* (Walbaum). Aquaculture 2015;446:242–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2015.04.035.

[52] Cipriano RC, Heartwell CM. Susceptibility of Salmonids to Furunculosis: Differences between Serum and Mucus Responses against *Aeromonas salmonicida*. Trans Am Fish Soc 1986;115:83–8. https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-8659(1986)115<83:SOSTF>2.0.CO;2.

[53] Hamuro K, Suetake H, Saha NR, Kikuchi K, Suzuki Y. A Teleost Polymeric Ig Receptor Exhibiting Two Ig-Like Domains Transports Tetrameric IgM into the Skin. The Journal of Immunology 2007;178:5682–9. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.178.9.5682.

[54] St.Louis-Cormier EA, Osterland CK, Anderson PD. Evidence for a cutaneous secretory immune system in rainbow trout (*Salmo gairdneri*). Developmental & Comparative Immunology 1984;8:71–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/0145-305X(84)90011-9.

[55] Xu Z, Chen C-F, Mao Z-J, Zhu W-Y. Detection of serum and mucosal antibody production and antibody secreting cells (ASCs) in large yellow croaker (*Pseudosciaena crocea*) following vaccination with *Vibrio harveyi* via different routes. Aquaculture 2009;287:243–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2008.10.026.

[56] Bromage ES, Ye J, Kaattari SL. Antibody structural variation in rainbow trout fluids.
Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology - B Biochemistry and Molecular Biology 2006;143:61–9.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpb.2005.10.003.

[57] Hatten F, Fredriksen Å, Hordvik I, Endresen C. Presence of IgM in cutaneous mucus, but not in gut mucus of Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar*. Serum IgM is rapidly degraded when added to gut mucus. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2001;11:257–68. https://doi.org/10.1006/fsim.2000.0313.

[58] Xu Z, Parra D, Gómez D, Salinas I, Zhang Y-A, von Gersdorff Jørgensen L, et al. Teleost skin, an ancient mucosal surface that elicits gut-like immune responses. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 2013;110:13097–102. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1304319110.

[59] Zhang X-T, Yu Y-Y, Xu H-Y, Huang Z-Y, Liu X, Cao J-F, et al. Prevailing Role of Mucosal Igs and B Cells in Teleost Skin Immune Responses to Bacterial Infection. The Journal of Immunology 2021;206:1088–101. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.2001097.

[60] Zhang YA, Salinas I, Li J, Parra D, Bjork S, Xu Z, et al. IgT, a primitive immunoglobulin class specialized in mucosal immunity. Nature Immunology 2010;11:827–35.
https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.1913.

[61] Sheikhzadeh N, Karimi Pashaki A, Nofouzi K, Heidarieh M, Tayefi-Nasrabadi H. Effects of dietary Ergosan on cutaneous mucosal immune response in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*).
Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2012;32:407–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2011.11.028.

[62] Irie T, Watarai S, Iwasaki T, Kodama H. Protection against experimental *Aeromonas salmonicida* infection in carp by oral immunisation with bacterial antigen entrapped liposomes. Fish and Shellfish Immunology 2005. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2004.07.006.

[63] Ruyra A, Cano-Sarabia M, MacKenzie SA, Maspoch D, Roher N. A Novel Liposome-Based Nanocarrier Loaded with an LPS-dsRNA Cocktail for Fish Innate Immune System Stimulation. PLoS ONE 2013;8:e76338. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0076338.

[64] Gregoriadis G, Gursel I, Gursel M, McCormack B. Liposomes as immunological adjuvants and vaccine carriers. Journal of Controlled Release 1996;41:49–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/0168-3659(96)01355-7.

[65] Cipriano RC, Pyle SW. Adjuvant-Dependent Immunity and the Agglutinin Response of Fishes Against *Aeromonas salmonicida*, Cause of Furunculosis. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 1985;42:1290–5. https://doi.org/10.1139/f85-160.

[66] Liu S, Wang D, Cao Y, Lu T, Liu H, Li S. Effects of propolis on the immune enhancement of the formalin-inactivated *Aeromonas salmonicida* vaccine. Aquaculture Research 2020;51:4759–70. https://doi.org/10.1111/are.14822.

[67] Windell JT, Kitchell JF, Norris DO, Norris JS, Foltz JW. Temperature and Rate of Gastric Evacuation by Rainbow Trout, *Salmo gairdneri*. Trans Am Fish Soc 1976;105:712–7.
https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-8659(1976)105<712:TAROGE>2.0.CO;2.

[68] Rombout JHWM, Berg AA, Berg CTGA, Witte P, Egberts E. Immunological importance of the second gut segment of carp. III. Systemic and/or mucosal immune responses after immunization with soluble or particulate antigen. Journal of Fish Biology 1989;35:179–86. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.1989.tb02967.x.

2.6 Tables and Figures

Table 2.1 Treatment groups and vaccine doses for both trials. Stock concentration refers to the vaccine stock used for treatment, in the case of the OV group, the total mg of vaccine per gram of particles is indicated. Dose per fish describes the total cfu's or mg of vaccine administered to an individual fish for an entire vaccination dose, in the case of the OV group it is the total amount administered over the 3 consecutive days of feedings.

	Route		Tria	11		Trial 2			
Group		Stock Concentration		Dose per Fish		Stock Concentration		Dose per Fish	
		cfu mL ⁻¹	mg	cfu	mg	cfu mL ⁻¹	mg	cfu	mg
PB (Control)	i.p. Injection (PBS)	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a
CP (Control)	Oral Particle (No vaccine)	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a
OV	Oral Particle (Vaccine)	n/a	352.2 g ⁻¹	n/a	42	n/a	342.8 g ⁻¹	n/a	44
BA	Immersion	4.59 × 10 ⁹	12.76 mL ⁻¹	1 × 10 ⁸ mL ⁻¹	n/a	6.08 × 10 ⁹	n/a	1 × 10 ⁸ mL ⁻¹	n/a
AL	Anal Intubation	4×10^{9}	11.12 mL ⁻¹	1×10^{8}	0.278	4×10^{9}	11.12 mL ⁻¹	1×10^{8}	0.278
IP	i.p. Injection	4×10^{9}	11.12 mL ⁻¹	1×10^{8}	0.278	8×10^{9}	21.43 mL ⁻¹	1×10^{8}	0.267

Primer	Sequence (5' – 3')	GeneBank	Reference	
IgM F	AAGAAAGCCTACAAGAGGGAGA	\$63348	[26]	
IgM R	CGTCAACAAGCCAAGCCACTA	505540	[~~]	
IgT F	CAGACAACAGCACCTCACCTA	AV870264	[26]	
IgT R	GAGTCAATAAGAAGACACAACGA	A10/0204	[20]	
IgD F	TGGCACACCAGGATTTGAC	AV870261	[26]	
IgD R	TCAGAATTGAGTGAACGGACAGACA	A10/0201	[20]	
CD4 F	GAGTACACCTGCGCTGTGGAAT	DO867018	[37]	
CD4 R	GGTTGACCTCCTGACCTACAAAGG	DQ00/010	[]]	
IL-1ß F	ACATTGCCAACCTCATCATCG	A 122305/	[38]	
IL-1ß R	TTGAGCAGGTCCTTGTCCTTG	AJ22JJJT	[30]	
ß-actin F	GCCGGCCGCGACCTCACAGACTAC	A 1438158	[26]	
β-actin R	CGGCCGTGGTGGTGAAGCTGTAAC	11010100	[20]	

Table 2.2 Primer sequence details and references for RT-qPCR. For each reaction, 500 nM of each forward and reverse primers were used.

Table 2.3 Endpoint survival (\pm standard error of the mean) and relative percent survival at the conclusion of a 28 day challenge experiment for each trial. The pathogen challenge for trial 1 took place 13 weeks post vaccination, and trial 2 took place 4 weeks post vaccination. Superscript letters denote significantly different survival percentages among treatment groups after Dunn's test of multiple comparisons.

Treatment	Trial 1		Trial 2			
Treatment	Endpoint survival (%)	RPS (%)	Endpoint survival (%)	RPS (%)		
PB	$17.8^{\mathrm{a}} \pm 5.87$	n/a	$36.7^{a} \pm 3.33$	n/a		
СР	$64.4^{b} \pm 12.36$	56.7	$51.7^{ab}\pm10.93$	23.6		
OV	$51.1^{\text{b}}\pm8.01$	40.5	$68.3^{\text{b}}\pm10.14$	50.0		
BA	$64.4^{b} \pm 13.52$	56.7	$65.0^{b} \pm 2.89$	44.7		
AL	$68.9^{\text{b}}\pm4.43$	62.1	$63.3^{\mathrm{b}}\pm8.82$	42.1		
IP	$70.0^{b}\pm3.3$	63.5	$96.7^{\circ} \pm 1.67$	94.7		



Figure 2.1 Average *A. salmonicida* specific log antibody titers from fish serum (n = 10) at each timepoint in trial 1, error bars indicate the standard error of the mean. Fish were boosted at 2 weeks post vaccination and exposed to *A. salmonicida* 13 weeks post vaccination. Lines above bars indicate significant difference in comparisons, asterisks indicate level of significance (*, p < 0.05; **, p < 0.01; ***, p < 0.001; **** p < 0.0001).



Figure 2.2 Average absorbance value (405 nm) of skin mucus samples (2 fish per sample, 5 samples per treatment) representing *A. salmonicida* specific IgM measured via ELISA, error bars indicate the standard error of the mean. Fish were boosted at 2 weeks post vaccination and exposed to *A. salmonicida* 13 weeks post vaccination. Lines above bars indicate significant differences in comparisons, asterisks indicate level of significance (*, p < 0.05; **, p < 0.01; ***, p < 0.001; **** p < 0.0001).



Figure 2.3 Average *A. salmonicida* specific log antibody titers from fish serum (n = 5) at each timepoint in trial 1, error bars indicate the standard error of the mean. Fish were boosted at 2 weeks post vaccination and exposed to *A. salmonicida* 4 weeks post vaccination. Lines above bars indicate significant difference in comparisons, asterisks indicate level of significance (*, p < 0.05; **, p < 0.01; **** p < 0.001).



Figure 2.4 Trial 1 challenge results showing overall survival probability of treatment groups after 24 hour immersion challenge with 3×10^7 cfu mL⁻¹ of *A. salmonicida* isolate 15-021. Fish were challenged 13 weeks post vaccination, *A. salmonicida* was reisolated from mortalities for 28 days.



Figure 2.5 Trial 2 challenge results showing overall survival probability of treatment groups after 24 hour immersion challenge with 1.34×10^7 cfu mL⁻¹ of *A. salmonicida* isolate 15-021. Fish were challenged 4 weeks post vaccination, *A. salmonicida* was reisolated from mortalities for 28 days.



Figure 2.6 Statistically significant relative fold changes in genes of interest for specific tissues at certain timepoints. Lines above bars indicate statistically significant differences between groups (p < 0.05). A, IL-1 β expression in kidney 24 hrs post vaccination; B, IL-1 β expression in kidney 72 hrs post vaccination; C, CD4 expression in kidney 168 hrs post vaccination; D, IL-1 β expression in spleen 24 hrs post vaccination; E, IL-1 β expression in spleen 72 hrs post vaccination; F, CD4 expression in spleen 168 hrs post vaccination; G, IgM expression in spleen 168 hrs post vaccination; H, IgM expression in skin 168 hrs post vaccination; I, IgM expression in intestine 168 hrs post vaccination.



Figure 2.7 Relative fold changes of IgM, CD4, IL-1ß, IgT, and IgD in spleen tissue at 24, 72, and 168 hours post vaccination in trial 1.



Figure 2.8 Relative fold changes of IgM, CD4, and IL-1ß in kidney tissue at 24, 72, and 168 hours post vaccination in trial 1.



Figure 2.9 Relative fold changes of IgM, CD4, and IL-1 β in gill tissue at 24, 72, and 168 hours post vaccination in trial 1.



Figure 2.10 Relative fold changes of IgM, CD4, and IL-1B in intestinal tissue at 24, 72, and 168 hours post vaccination in trial 1.



Figure 2.11 Relative fold changes of IgM, CD4, and IL-1ß in skin tissue at 24, 72, and 168 hours post vaccination in trial 1.

2.7 Supplemental Material



Supplemental Figure 2.1 Average *A. salmonicida* specific Log Antibody Titer in fish serum at each timepoint, PC refers to post challenge samples. Challenge experiments occurred at 13 weeks post vaccination for Trial 1 (A), and 4 weeks post vaccination for Trial 2 (B). For all PC measurements, n = 10; 10 samples per timepoint were measured in Trial 2 (B) and 5 samples per timepoint measured in Trial 1 (A).



Supplemental Figure 2.2 Average optical density (O.D.) at 405_{nm} from skin mucus samples (2 fish per sample, 5 samples per timepoint) in an ELISA measuring *A. salmonicida* specific antibodies.

Treatment	Week	OD ₄₀₅
Day 0	0	0.013 ± 0.002
	2	0.012 ± 0.0031
מת	Week OD ₄₀₅ 0 0.013 ± 0.002 2 0.012 ± 0.0031 4 0.01 ± 0.0018 6 0.003 ± 0.0003 8 0.004 ± 0.0005 2 0.013 ± 0.0029 4 0.01 ± 0.0018 6 0.003 ± 0.0003 8 0.004 ± 0.0029 4 0.01 ± 0.0011 6 0.003 ± 0.0004 8 0.005 ± 0.0003 2 0.007 ± 0.0012 4 0.005 ± 0.0003 6 0.01 ± 0.0031 8 0.006 ± 0.0013 2 0.009 ± 0.0023 4 0.009 ± 0.0023 4 0.009 ± 0.0023 4 0.009 ± 0.0023 4 0.009 ± 0.0023 6 0.003 ± 0.0004 8 0.004 ± 0.00047 4 0.017 ± 0.0049 6 0.003 ± 0.0004 8 0.005 ± 0.0009 2 0.018 ± 0.0052 4 <	0.01 ± 0.0018
PB	6	0.003 ± 0.0003
	8	0.004 ± 0.0005
	2	0.013 ± 0.0029
CD	4	0.01 ± 0.001
CP	6	0.003 ± 0.0004
	8	0.005 ± 0.0005
	2	0.007 ± 0.0012
OV	4	0.008 ± 0.0023
ÖV	III Week O 0 0.011 2 0.012 4 0.01 6 0.003 8 0.004 2 0.013 4 0.01 6 0.003 8 0.004 2 0.013 4 0.01 6 0.003 8 0.005 2 0.007 4 0.008 6 0.01 8 0.004 2 0.007 4 0.008 6 0.003 8 0.004 2 0.014 4 0.017 6 0.003 8 0.005 2 0.018 4 0.006 6 0.003 8 0.006 6 0.003 8 0.002	0.01 ± 0.0031
	8	0.006 ± 0.001
	2	0.009 ± 0.0023
BA	4	0.009 ± 0.0022
	6	0.003 ± 0.0004
	8	0.004 ± 0.0008
	2	0.014 ± 0.0047
	4	0.017 ± 0.0049
AL	6	ek OD $_{405}$ 0.013 ± 0.002 0.012 ± 0.0031 0.01 ± 0.0018 0.003 ± 0.0003 0.004 ± 0.0005 0.013 ± 0.0029 0.01 ± 0.001 0.003 ± 0.0004 0.005 ± 0.0005 0.007 ± 0.0012 0.008 ± 0.0023 0.01 ± 0.001 0.009 ± 0.0023 0.009 ± 0.0022 0.003 ± 0.0004 0.004 ± 0.0047 0.014 ± 0.0047 0.017 ± 0.0049 0.005 ± 0.0003 0.005 ± 0.0004 0.005 ± 0.0004 0.005 ± 0.0004 0.014 ± 0.0047 0.017 ± 0.0049 0.005 ± 0.0009 0.018 ± 0.0052 0.006 ± 0.0019 0.003 ± 0.0005 0.002 ± 0.0003 0.002 ± 0.0003
	8	0.005 ± 0.0009
	2	$\overline{0.018\pm0.0052}$
ID	4	0.006 ± 0.0019
11	6	0.003 ± 0.0005
	8	0.002 ± 0.0003

Supplemental Table 2.1 Average OD_{405} (\pm SEM) of intestinal mucus samples from fish collected prior to vaccination and each treatment at 2, 4, 6, and 8 w.p.v.

entral Table 2.2 Number of biological replicates, out of three, in parenthesis followed by the average Ct value \pm SEM for IgD	xpression in various tissues in trial 1.	
Supplem	and IgT	

	168 hours	(1) 36.870	(2) 36.468 ± 0.729	(1) 37.082	n/a	n/a	n/a	(3) 35.140 ± 1.374	(2) 34.737 ± 2.297	(3) 35.054 ± 1.317	(1) 34.218	$(2) 36.840 \pm 0.019$	n/a
Skin	72 hours	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	(1) 34.761	n/a	n/a	(1) 37.570	$(2) 37.010 \pm 0.584$	n/a
	24 hours	n/a	n/a	n/a	(2) 37.624 ± 0.793	n/a	n/a	(2) 35.680 ± 1.286	(3) 35.757 ± 0.963	n/a	(1) 37.622	n/a	n/a
	168 hours	n/a	(1) 37.550	(1) 37.392	(2) 36.897 ± 0.872	(1) 36.262	(2) 37.593 ± 0.534	n/a	n/a	(1) 37.906	(1) 36.139	(1) 34.583	(3) 35.388 ± 0.497
Intestine	72 hours	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	(1) 36.066	(2) 36.098 ± 0.597	(1) 37.169	n/a	(1) 37.669	(1) 36.199
	24 hours	(2) 36.778 ± 1.351	n/a	(2) 36.826 ± 0.130	(2) 36.226 ± 0.021	(2) 37.841 ± 0.240	n/a	(3) 33.775 ± 0.711	(2) 33.642 ± 0.702	e/u	(1) 37.761	(2) 36.252 ± 0.851	(2) 35.766 ± 0.356
	168 hours	(3) 36.227 ± 0.564	(2) 34.406 ± 0.102	(3) 35.036 ± 0.504	(2) 33.485 ± 0.501	(3) 35.904 ± 0.742	$(2) 36.610 \pm 0.461$	$(3) 35.478 \pm 0.971$	(2) 34.500 ± 2.728	(2) 34.679 ± 0.799	(3) 34.513 ± 0.439	(2) 33.465 ± 0.818	(3) 34.103 ± 0.522
Gill	72 hours	(1) 35.7255	n/a	(3) 36.593 ± 0.661	(1) 35.089	(2) 35.531 ± 0.628	(1) 33.855	(2) 35.595 ± 0.127	(2) 36.985 ± 0.0719	(1) 33.764	(1) 35.772	(3) 35.072 ± 0.463	(2) 33.833 ± 0.260
	24 hours	(3) 37.698 ± 0.078	(1) 37.677	(2) 35.711 ± 1.371	(3) 35.927 ± 1.545	(2) 34.259 ± 1.741	(1) 35.434	(3) 32.014 ± 0.549	(2) 32.963 ± 0.484	(3) 35.728 ± 0.752	(2) 35.218 ± 1.116	(1) 34.439	(2) 33.416 ± 0.085
_	168 hours	$(3) 33.930 \pm 0.665$	(1) 37.550	$(3) 32.604 \pm 0.868$	n/a	$(3) 31.517 \pm 0.711$	(2) 37.593 ± 0.534	(3) 31.618 ± 0.728	n/a	(3) 31.767 ± 0.467	(1) 36.139	(3) 31.786 ± 0.764	(3) 35.388 ± 0.497
Kidney	72 hours	(3) 33.330 ± 1.055	n/a	(2) 34.129 ± 0.759	n/a	(1) 33.706	n/a	(2) 32.712 ± 0.478	(2) 36.098 ± 0.597	(3) 33.283 ± 0.726	n/a	$(3) 31.106 \pm 0.387$	(1) 36.199
	24 hours	(2) 32.870 ± 0.038	n/a	(3) 33.471 ± 0.454	(2) 36.226 ± 0.021	(3) 33.307 ± 0.423	n/a	(3) 29.507 ± 0.560	(2) 33.642 ± 0.702	$(3) 33.345 \pm 0.558$	(1) 37.761	$(3) 35.041 \pm 0.593$	(2) 35.766 ± 0.356
Spleen	168 hours	$(3) 31.990 \pm 0.880$	(3) 30.842 ± 0.429	(3) 30.155 ± 0.346	(3) 29.495 ± 0.889	(3) 30.756 ± 0.801	(3) 32.270 ± 2.011	(3) 30.377 ± 0.195	(3) 29.229 ± 0.815	(3) 29.597 ± 0.965	(3) 30.172 ± 1.021	(3) 30.520 ± 1.162	(3) 28.889 ± 0.287
	72 hours	(3) 30.502 ± 0.756	$(3) 30.382 \pm 0.421$	(2) 30.674 ± 0.799	(3) 32.725 ± 0.675	(2) 31.518 ± 1.186	$(2) 30.911 \pm 0.820$	$(3) 30.015 \pm 0.403$	(2) 28.998 ± 0.946	(3) 31.769 ± 0.185	(2) 31.160 ± 1.237	(3) 30.040±0.792	$(2) 29.010 \pm 0.514$
	24 hours	(3) 29.928 ± 1.167	(2) 27.759 ± 1.992	(3) 31.408 ± 0.700	(3) 30.039 ± 1.720	(3) 30.304 ± 1.292	(2) 30.461 ± 1.397	(3) 28.469 ± 0.237	(3) 28.869 ± 0.766	(2) 31.584 ± 0.250	(2) 31.727 ± 1.144	(3) 31.281 ± 1.589	(2) 29.919 ± 2.410
out Cono		08 08	ВТ	lgD	ВT	1gD	ВТ	lgD	ВT	1gD	ВТ	lgD	18T
Treatmer		2	2	e	5	10	3	Va	5	,	ł	9	-

Chapter 3: Production of a monoclonal antibody specific to sablefish (*Anoplopoma fimbria*) IgM and its application in ELISA, western blotting, and immunofluorescent staining

3.1 Abstract

Sablefish (*Anoplopoma fimbria*) is an emerging aquaculture species native to the continental shelf of the northern Pacific Ocean. There is limited information on innate or adaptive immunity for this species and tools to determine antibody response following vaccination or disease outbreak are needed. In this paper, a monoclonal antibody (mAb), UI-25A, specific to sablefish IgM was produced in mice. Western blotting confirmed UI-25A recognizes the heavy chain of IgM and does not cross react to proteins or carbohydrates in serum of four other teleost species. An ELISA was developed to measure *Aeromonas salmonicida* specific IgM in the plasma of sablefish from a previous experiment where fish were immunized with a proprietary *A. salmonicida* vaccine. UI-25A was used in western blot analysis to identify immunogenic regions of *A. salmonicida* recognized by specific IgM from vaccinated sablefish. Immunofluorescent staining also demonstrated the ability of UI-25A to recognize membrane bound IgM and identify IgM+ cells in the head kidney of sablefish. These results demonstrate the usefulness of UI-25A as a tool to improve the understanding of antibody mediated immunity in sablefish as well as provide valuable information for vaccine development and expansion of aquaculture efforts for this fish species.

3.2 Introduction

Sablefish (*Anoplopoma fimbria*), also known as black cod, is one of the most valuable species in the Pacific commercial fishing industry [1], with a recent average wholesale price of \$12.25 per lb in the Alaskan market [2]. They have a well-developed market in Japan, North America, and the United Kingdom. However, wild stocks have declined in recent decades, leading to questions about the sustainability of current commercial harvests [3]. As such, investment into sablefish aquaculture has increased and their potential is appealing due to their value and existing market [4]. Sablefish have been farmed in North America since the 1970s, though usually on a small scale and generally incorporated into existing salmonid farm infrastructure with no captive breeding programs because of limited larval survival and relative ease of capturing wild broodstock [5]. Improvements in culture techniques over the past decade include the production of all-female monosex stocks through direct and indirect sex control [6] that provide significantly faster growth rate compared to males. Further, the use and optimization of formulated diets with reduced fishmeal and fish oil levels has been explored [7]. Successful captive breeding programs have shown improved larval survival rates [8,9] allowing for increased availability of juvenile fish for commercial grow out operations, a longstanding obstacle to the continued growth of sablefish aquaculture.

Even with a steady supply of juvenile fish, disease threats remain one of the largest barriers to increasing production in all forms of aquaculture [10]. Disease prevention is crucial to the development of sablefish as a commercial aquaculture species. Sablefish are particularly susceptible to infections with atypical *Aeromonas salmonicida* strains [11], and this gram negative bacterial pathogen is routinely isolated during disease outbreaks in culture settings [12–14]. Prevention of disease caused by this major pathogen is considered vital to expansion of commercial scale operations. Several studies have demonstrated the effectiveness of *A. salmonicida* vaccines in sablefish with respect to increased survival following pathogen challenge [13,14]. However, the lack of a specie specific monoclonal antibody (mAb) capable of recognizing sablefish IgM has inhibited use of common tools such as an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays (ELISA), western blots, and immunofluorescent microscopy, to evaluate and compare the immune response of sablefish after vaccination or survival from a disease outbreak.

Vaccines work by stimulating a highly specific and long-lasting adaptive immunity through a cellmediated response involving T cells and humoral immunity characterized by B cell activities. In teleosts, the humoral immune response is comprised of antigen specific antibodies (Ab), or membrane bound immunoglobulins (Ig) produced by B cells [15]. To date, several different types of Igs, all

sharing the basic structure of two heavy (H) chains and two light (L) chains, have been described in fish including IgM, IgD, and IgT/IgZ [15]. IgT is believed to be strongly associated with mucosal immunity in fish [16], while IgM is the predominant systemic Ig that is commonly detected in teleost serum. IgM can exist as two physical forms; a membrane-bound Ig on the surface of B cells including plasmablasts or plasma cells, and the secreted antibody form most often found in a tetrameric structure [17]. The two forms of IgM have multiple mechanisms to protect the host against pathogens including neutralization, complement pathway activation, opsonization, and phagocytosis [15]. Measuring the production and defensive capabilities of IgM in fish is an important tool to characterize humoral immunity. This is achieved through the development of monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) in model species, such as mice, that bind to species specific IgM and can be used with other widely available reagents in serological assays. Many of these mAbs have been developed in recent years for species that include sea bass (Lateolabrax japonicus) [18], muskellunge (Esox masquinongy) [19], bighead catfish (Clarias macrocephalus) [20], Nile tilapia (Oreochromis niloticus) [21], large yellow croaker (Larimichtys crocea) [22], smallmouth bass (Micropterus dolomieu) [23], gibel carp (*Carassius gibelio*) [24], and hybrid snakehead (*Channa maculate* $\Im \times$ *Channa argus* \Im) [25]. These mAbs have been used in various applications including ELISA, western blotting, and immunofluorescent microscopy [18,19,21]. These mAbs are critical for developing non-lethal serodiagnostic assays to evaluate immune responses following infection, vaccination, or even feeding of various immunostimulants [24].

The present study aimed to produce mAbs specific to sablefish IgM in mice through standard procedures. IgM was purified from sablefish plasma for the purpose of mice immunizations, and the sensitivity and specificity of mAb candidates were characterized by ELISA and western blotting analyses. The application of an anti-sablefish IgM mAb was investigated in ELISA, western blotting, and immunofluorescent microscopy applications. These results will facilitate further understanding of the characteristics and functions of sablefish humoral immunity.

3.3 Materials and Methods

<u>3.3.1 Declaration of Conflicting Interests and Animal Care and Use</u> No conflicts of interest are declared by the authors. Live animal work with burbot and rainbow trout was approved by the University of Idaho's Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC; #2020-33 and #2020-69). Blood collected from the sablefish vaccination experiment was approved by the University of Washington's IACUC protocol #4078-05. Blood collected at Memorial University for IgM purification was approved under IACUC protocol 16-92-KG. Sablefish collected for immunofluorescent microscopy analysis were covered under Oregon State University's IACUC protocol 2020-0095.

3.3.2 IgM Purification

Sablefish sera for the purposes of IgM purification was generously donated from Memorial University of Newfoundland. IgM was purified using a Pierce IgM Purification kit with a mannan binding protein column (Thermo Fisher Scientific) following methods similar to those used for other teleost species [14,26]. Briefly, pooled sera samples were dialyzed against 20 mM Tris with 1.25 M sodium chloride (pH 7.4) overnight using a 3.5 K MWCO Slide-a-lyzer (Thermo Fisher Scientific) then diluted 1:1 with IgM column binding buffer. This mixture was applied to the column in 1 mL portions and allowed to bind according to manufacturer's guidelines. Protein concentration of eluted IgM fractions were quantified with a NanoDrop 2000 Microvolume Spectrophotometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific). All fractions greater than 0.005 μ g mL⁻¹ were pooled and concentrated using a Pierce Protein Concentrator PES with a molecular weight cutoff of 10,000 daltons (10 K; Thermo Fisher Scientific).

A sodium dodecyl sulphate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) was used to visualize the purity and molecular weight of the proteins within the concentrated sablefish IgM. Sablefish plasma was diluted 1:10 in 2x Laemmeli sample buffer while purified IgM was diluted 1:2, samples were denatured in 100°C water for 10 minutes. After, 10 µL of samples were added to wells of a 4-20% gradient precast stain-free polyacrylamide gel (BioRad) with protein standard ladders. Electrophoresis was run at 90 V for 15 minutes, then 120 V for 120 minutes.

3.3.3 Hybridoma Production

The mouse anti-sablefish IgM mAb was produced by the Washington State University Monoclonal Antibody Center (WSU-MAC; Pullman, WA, USA) closely following standard protocols [27]. To prepare the emulsion for immunizations, purified sablefish IgM was dialyzed overnight using a Tube-O-Dialyzer (Thermo Fisher Scientific) to remove sodium azide prior to injection. Sablefish IgM was then diluted to 0.5 mg mL⁻¹ in sterile saline, of which 2 mL was added to a Sigma Adjuvant System (Millipore Sigma). Four BALB/c mice were injected intraperitoneally with 200 µL of emulsified mixture and boosted at 21 days. After the first booster, blood from each mouse was collected, pooled, and allowed to clot overnight at 4 °C to collect sera which was tested to confirm presence of antibodies specific to sablefish IgM.

Mouse sera was tested for specific antibodies to sablefish IgM at the University of Idaho. Briefly, high binding plates (Corning Inc.) were coated with 100 µL of one of the following antigens:

sablefish plasma, purified sablefish IgM, burbot (Lota lota) sera, and rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus *mykiss*) sera. Burbot and rainbow trout sera were collected from naïve juvenile fish held at the University of Idaho for use as negative controls. Serial doubling dilutions of coating antigens were made in 0.05 M Tris (pH 9.5) from 0.625 to 0.039 μ g mL⁻¹ for serum or plasma and 0.125 to 0.0078 μg mL⁻¹ for pure sablefish IgM. Plates were incubated overnight at 4 °C, the following day, plates were washed once with 200 µL wash buffer (2.25% Na₂HPO₄*7H₂O, 0.25% NaH₂PO₄*H₂O, 8.76% NaCl, 1% NaN₃, 0.5% tween-20). Following this, plates were blocked with 100 µL of 0.05 M Tris (pH 9.5) containing 0.3% bovine serum albumin (BSA), sealed, and incubated overnight at room temperature (RT). Plates were then washed twice and 100 µL of mouse sera diluted 1:120 in phosphate buffered saline (PBS; 0.3% BSA, 0.05% tween-20, and 0.02% NaN₃) was added to all wells and incubated at 37 °C for 1 hour. After this, plates were washed four times and 100 µL of biotinylated goat anti-mouse IgG (Thermo Fisher Scientific) diluted 1:1000 was added and allowed to incubate at 37 °C for 1 hour. Plates were again washed four times before the addition of 100 µL of streptavidin-alkaline phosphatase (BioRad) diluted 1:1000 in PBS containing 0.3% BSA and 0.01% NaN₃. After a 1 hour incubation at 37 °C, plates were washed four times and 100 μ L of p-nitrophenyl phosphate (PNPP) substrate (Thermo Fisher Scientific), mixed according to manufacturer's guidelines, was added to wells. Plates were incubated with PNPP for 30 minutes before adding 50 µL of 0.3 M NaOH to stop color development, optical density (OD) of wells were read at 405 nm using a microplate reader (Powerwave XS; BioTek).

After an antibody response was confirmed, mice were boosted a third time. After 72 hours, spleens cells were collected from sacrificed mice and fused with myeloma cell line X63 AG8.653 using 50% polyethylene glycol. Selection of fused cells was performed in 96-well tissue culture plates by adding hypoxanthine-aminopterin-thymidine (HAT) media supplement (Sigma-Aldrich) after 24 hours of initial cell growth at 37 °C. After 7 days post cell fusion, colonies with positive hybridoma growth were kept and their supernatant harvested for additional screening.

3.3.4 mAb Screening

3.3.4.1 Indirect ELISA

Supernatants from positive hybridoma colonies, each containing a unique mAb, were screened for reactivity to sablefish IgM using similar methods that confirmed a specific antibody response in mice. Briefly, purified sablefish IgM diluted to 1 μ g mL⁻¹ in carbonate coating buffer (pH 9.5) was added to wells and incubated overnight at 4 °C. Plates were washed three times with 200 μ L of potassium phosphate-buffered saline with 0.05% Tween-20 (KPBS-T) then blocked overnight at RT with 150

 μ L of KPBS-T containing 5% non-fat dried milk (NFDM) and 0.02% NaN₃. Plates were washed thrice again before mAb candidates, diluted 1:50 in KPBS-T, were added in duplicate and allowed to incubate for 1 hour at 37 °C, a 1:200 dilution of serum from immunized mice was used as a positive control and KPBS-T as a negative control. After, plates were washed again three times and 100 μ L of goat anti-mouse IgG conjugated with horseradish peroxidase (Bio Rad) diluted 1:2000 in KPBS-T with 0.1% NFDM was added to wells followed by a 1 hour incubation at 37 °C. Plates were washed thrice again, and specific binding was detected by adding 50 μ L of ABTS peroxidase substrate (KPL Inc.) and incubating for 15 minutes at RT before 50 μ L of 1% sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) stop solution was added, plates were read at 405 nm.

This protocol was repeated using mAb candidates that demonstrated high reactivity after initial screening, with steps remaining the same unless otherwise noted. Sensitivity to pure sablefish IgM concentrations was tested using doubling serial dilutions of a 1µg/mL coating mixture from 1:1 to 1:2048 (final lowest concentration of 4.89×10^{-4} µg mL⁻¹). To assess cross reactivity, other plates were coated with a similar series of dilutions (1:1 to 1:2048) with a 10 µg mL⁻¹ starting concentration of control serum from other fish species and a final lowest concentration of 4.89×10^{-3} µg mL⁻¹. Species specific mouse mAbs were used as positive controls, Warr 1.14 for rainbow trout [28], and an anti-burbot IgM mAb [29]. All mAbs were tested in duplicate at a 1:50 dilution. The top four mAb candidates selected were also tested at various dilutions to determine the sensitivity of the mAb concentrations. For this, wells were coated with 1 µg mL⁻¹ of purified sablefish IgM and the mAb candidates were applied at dilutions of 1:100, 1:10000, 1:100000, 1:500000, 1:1000000, or 1:5000000 in KPBST in triplicate.

3.3.4.2 Western Blot

Western blot analysis was used to determine the region of specificity for the top four mAb candidates to sablefish IgM. Sablefish plasma was diluted 1:10 and the conditions for SDS-PAGE remained the same as described in section 3.3.2. Proteins were transferred from the polyacrylamide gel to nitrocellulose paper with a Trans-Blot Turbo Transfer System (BioRad) according to manufacturer's protocols. After transfer, the nitrocellulose paper was cut into sections each containing a lane of protein standard and sablefish plasma. Sections were placed in sterile 15 mL tubes and blocked with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) containing 4% non-fat dried milk (NFDM) for 1 hour at RT under constant gentle rocking. Sections were then washed three times for 5 minutes each with PBS containing 0.02% tween-20 and 0.01% sodium azide (PBST-Az). Supernatants containing mAb candidates were applied undiluted and incubated with gentle rocking for 1 hour at RT. Sections were

washed again, and alkaline-phosphatase (AP) conjugated goat anti-mouse IgG (BioRad) was diluted 1:500 in PBST-Az and gently rocked with sections for another hour at RT. After a final wash, bands were visualized with an AP color development substrate (BioRad), the reaction was stopped by washing sections with ultrapure water for 10 seconds three times.

3.3.4.3 Cloning and mAb Characterization

Based on ELISA and western blot results, mAb 25 was chosen for downstream applications. Cloning of the selected hybridoma line was performed at WSU-MAC using standard limiting dilution methods [27]. The three fastest growing clones (A, B, and C) were selected and screened again using the same methods as described above to confirm desirable characteristics of sensitivity and specificity to sablefish IgM were kept. The final clone, named UI-25A, was also tested via western blotting to ensure there was no cross reactivity to other fish species. Sablefish plasma as well as coho salmon (*Oncorhynchus kisutch*), Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*), rainbow trout, and burbot sera was diluted 1:10 in 2x Laemmli sample buffer and subjected to the same conditions as described in section 3.3.4.2.

A rapid ELISA kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific) was used to determine the isotype of the antibodies produced by the cloned hybridoma. Hybridoma cells secreting UI-25A were grown in serum free media, approximately 50 mL of the supernatant was harvested and used for subsequent testing. Concentration of this stock of UI-25A was measured via radial immunodiffusion (RID, Rockland Immunochemicals).

3.3.5 ELISA to Measure A. salmonicida Specific Antibodies

In a previously published study [13], sablefish were vaccinated via intraperitoneal injection with a proprietary vaccine that included the atypical *A. salmonicida* T30 isolate. Plasma from both vaccinated and unvaccinated sablefish was collected and stored at -20°C, these were used as controls for ELISA development and optimization. Detection of specific antibodies was conducted with the same equipment, reagents, and wash steps as the previously described ELISA protocol used to screen mAb candidates.

To prepare the T30 bacterial coating antigen, 25 mL of tryptic soy broth (TSB) supplemented with 1.5% (w/v) NaCl was inoculated with a single bacterial colony. The culture was incubated at 21°C for 48 hours with gentle shaking. The broth was then centrifuged at 3,000 g for 10 minutes, media was decanted, and bacterial cells washed with sterile PBS. After another centrifugation, bacterial cells were resuspended in approximately 10 mL of sterile PBS and subjected to 10 freeze-thaw cycles.

After the last thaw, the protein concentration was measured using a NanoDrop 2000 (Thermo Fisher Scientific).

Checkerboard titrations (CBT) [30] were performed to determine optimal concentrations of coating antigen, primary antibody (mouse anti-sablefish mAb), and secondary antibody (goat anti-mouse conjugated with horseradish peroxidase [HRP]). The reagents and general steps were based on an ELISA developed at the University of Idaho [31,32] for measurement of *Flavobacterium psychrophilum* specific antibodies in rainbow trout. All conditions for CBTs were run on duplicate plates, one for each positive or negative control sample, each plate also included a blank control of PBS instead of plasma. The T30 antigen was tested at 1, 5, and 10 μ g mL⁻¹. The primary antibody (UI-25A) was tested in serial dilutions from 1:50 to 1:3200, the secondary goat anti-mouse conjugated with HRP was tested in dilutions from 1:3000 to 1:8000. Plasma from either naïve sablefish (negative control) or fish immunized against T30 (positive control) were diluted from 1:50 to 1:102400 for each concentration of other reagents, a blank PBS control was also used for each plate. Conditions that limited background signal in negative controls while still maintaining high titers in positive controls were chosen for assays.

Briefly, plates were coated overnight at 4°C, washed then blocked with 150 μ L of KPBS-T with 5% NFDM for 1 hour at RT. Plasma samples were diluted in KPBS-T and incubated for 1 hour at 15 °C. Then, 100 μ L of the mouse anti-sablefish mAb dilution was added and incubated for 1 hour at RT. After another wash step, 100 μ L of the goat anti-mouse HRP conjugate dilution was added and incubated for 1 hour at RT. After the final wash steps 50 μ L of ABTS peroxidase substrate (KPL Inc.) was added and color was allowed to develop for 10 minutes, after which 50 μ L of 1% SDS stop solution was added. Plates were read at 405 nm in a microplate reader (BioTek). After optimization, sablefish plasma from the previous study [13] was tested to compare antibody titers between 20 vaccinated and 20 control fish. Log antibody titer was calculated as the reciprocal of the highest plasma dilution that had an optical density greater than two times the blank negative control.

3.3.6 Western Blot Analysis of A. salmonicida Protein and LPS

The T30 isolate used as part of the previous vaccination experiment in sablefish was subjected to SDS-PAGE using both whole cell and LPS extract preparations, western blotting was then used to determine antigenic regions of the bacteria using plasma from vaccinated fish. For the whole cell sample, the T30 isolate was grown at room temperature in TSB supplemented with 1.5% NaCl for 24 hours under gentle agitation. The culture was then centrifuged at 3,000 *g* and washed once with sterile PBS, centrifuged again, then resuspended in sterile PBS to an OD₅₂₅ of 1.6. Aliquots of 50 μ L were
stored at -20 °C until use. Samples were then diluted 1:1 in 2x Laemmli sample buffer, denatured for 10 minutes at 100 °C, and loaded into a 4-20% precast gradient polyacrylamide stain-free gel (BioRad). Conditions for electrophoresis and transfer to nitrocellulose membrane were identical to those described previously. Once transferred, the nitrocellulose membrane was blocked for 1 hour at RT with PBS containing 4% NFDM. Plasma from sablefish immunized against T30 was diluted 1:50 in PBS with 0.05% Tween-20, 0.05% NaN₃, and 2% NFDM, then incubated on the membrane overnight at 15 °C with gentle rocking. The membrane was washed three times with PBS containing 0.05% Tween-20 and 0.05% NaN₃ (PBST-Az), after which UI-25A was diluted 1:100 in PBST-Az and incubated on membrane for 1 hour at RT. Following three more washes with PBST-Az, AP conjugated goat anti-mouse immunoglobulin (BioRad) was diluted 1:500 in PBST-AZ and incubated for 1 hour at RT. After three more washes, specific antigenic binding was visualized using a commercial AP conjugate substrate kit (BioRad). Each individual wash was performed for 5 minutes with gentle rocking.

For LPS extraction, bacterial cells were standardized to an OD_{525} of 0.80 in sterile PBS using the same methods as the whole cell preparation. A 1.5 mL sample of the suspension was centrifuged, and PBS was removed before solubilizing the pellet in 200 µL of lysing buffer (2% SDS, 2% βmercaptoehtanol, 10% glycerol, 0.1 M Tris-HCl). The lysate was heated to 100°C for 10 minutes in a water bath, then cooled to RT. Protein digestion was performed by adding 3 µL of proteinase K (Thermo Fisher Scientific) to 20 µL of lysate then incubated at 60 °C for 1 hour. This sample was then diluted 1:1 in 2x Laemmli buffer and run in an SDS-PAGE like the whole cell preparation. A modified protocol from [32] was used for silver staining, the gel was rinsed 3 times (10 s each) with distilled water (dH₂O) then oxidized with .07 g periodic acid, 30 mL ethanol, 10 mL acetic acid, and 55 mL dH₂O for 20 minutes with gentle rocking. After three rinses with dH₂O (5 min each), staining was performed with 1 g L⁻¹ of silver nitrate in dH₂O for 30 minutes with gentle shaking, then thrice rinsed again. Color development solution was made fresh (3 g sodium carbonate, 0.02 mL formaldehyde, and 100 mL dH₂O) and chilled to 4 °C before applying to gel. Development was stopped with a solution of 10% acetic acid in dH₂O, the gel was imaged with a Gel Doc EZ system (BioRad). A western blot was done on another gel that was left unstained, using the same methods as the whole cell preparation.

3.3.7 Immunofluorescent Staining of Membrane Bound IgM

Sablefish, approximately 100 g, held at the Hatfield Marine Science Center in Newport, Oregon were euthanized and shipped overnight to the University of Idaho. Head kidney tissue was aseptically

collected, and a sterile scalpel blade was used to cut tissues in half. The newly exposed side of tissue was blotted on a microscope slide (Thermo Fisher Scientific) and allowed to air dry. Cells were fixed for 5 minutes with 4% paraformaldehyde (Thermo Fisher Scientific), gently rinsed with dH₂O, and allowed to air dry again. Slides were blocked with PBS-T containing 5% BSA for 1 hour at RT. The UI-25A mAb was diluted 1:80 in PBS-T containing 1% BSA and incubated at RT for 1 hour. Slides were washed with PBS three times for 5 minutes each. A goat anti-mouse secondary antibody conjugated with Alexa Fluor 555 (Thermo Fisher Scientific) was diluted to 2 μ g mL⁻¹ in PBS-T with 1% BSA and incubated for 1 hour in the dark at RT. Slides were washed twice again for 10 minutes each with PBS-T before applying Fluoromount-G Mounting Medium with DAPI (Thermo Fisher Scientific) to slides and sealing with a coverslip. This same process was repeated for head kidney tissue collected from burbot to serve as a negative control. Images were acquired using a Nikon Andor spinning disk confocal microscope with a Zyla sCMOS camera and Nikon Elements software, a 40X objective was used for imaging.

3.3.8 Statistical Analysis

All statistical analysis was performed in R [33]. To compare OD₄₀₅ values from ELISA assays, normality and variance assumptions were determined with Shapiro-Wilks and Bartlett's tests respectively. A one way ANOVA was used to compare differences among treatments and significant groups were determined with Tukey's HSD tests. Data from log antibody titer analysis was non-parametric, as such a Mann-Whitney U test was used for statistical comparison.

3.4 Results

3.4.1 IgM Purification

IgM isolated from sablefish plasma showed distinct bands at both ~75 kDa and ~25 kDa by SDS-PAGE (Figure 3.1). These are the predicted sizes of the H and L chain fragments of based on other teleost specie IgM. Some banding at 100 kDa indicates intact H and L chains that did not fully denature, and higher MW bands correspond to potential monomeric IgM structures.

3.4.2 Hybridoma Production

Wells were coated with five doubling serial dilutions of fish plasma or sera (0.625, 0.312, 0.156, 0.078, and 0.039 μ g mL⁻¹) or with pure sablefish IgM at 1/5 those concentrations (0.125, 0.062, 0.031, 0.015, 0.007 μ g mL⁻¹); for simplicity these will be referred to as the 1st (highest) through 5th (lowest) coating concentrations and results are shown in Figure 3.2. Polyclonal antibodies from immunized mice developed significantly higher absorbance in wells coated with sablefish IgM or plasma from the 1st to 3rd coating concentrations (p < 0.05). At the 2nd concentration, absorbance from

wells coated with sablefish plasma was significantly higher compared to pure IgM (p = 0.04) but was not different at any other concentrations. Absorbance of wells at the 4th coating concentration was different between sablefish plasma and rainbow trout or burbot serum (p < 0.05), there was also a significant difference between pure IgM and burbot serum (p = 0.017) but not rainbow trout serum. At the 5th concentration, absorbance in wells coated with sablefish plasma was significantly higher compared to burbot serum (p = 0.012) but no other coating antigens.

3.4.3 mAb Screening

3.4.3.1 ELISA

Of the 32 mAbs screened, 24 (1, 4, 5, 6, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 17, 18, 20, 21, 22, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32) had a standard error of the mean (SEM) for the OD_{405} value within or greater than 1.0 in wells coated with 1 µg mL⁻¹ of sablefish IgM and were kept for further analysis (Figure 3.3).

No cross reactivity was observed between the 24 mAb candidates and rainbow trout or burbot sera (Supplemental Table 3.1). The 24 mAbs were screened with a range of purified sablefish IgM coating concentrations, all candidates reacted well to high concentrations of purified IgM (Supplemental Table 3.1). There were four mAbs selected for further analysis (1, 9, 25, 30) based on their reactivity to $0.0625 \ \mu g \ mL^{-1}$ of sablefish IgM (Figure 3.4).

Various dilutions of the top four mAbs were tested for their sensitivity to 1 µg mL⁻¹ of sablfish IgM coating antigen. There was no difference in absorbance among the mAbs at dilutions of 1:100 and 1:500k (Figure 3.5). At a 1:1k dilution, mAbs 9 and 30 had significantly higher absorbance than 1 and 25 (p < 0.05). At 1:10k, all were significantly different from each other with mAb 9 being the highest, followed by 30, 25, and 1 (p < 0.05). However, at 1:100k, mAb 25 was significantly higher than all other candidates, while 9 and 30 were only higher than mAb 1 (p < 0.05).

3.4.3.2 Western Blot

The four mAbs (1, 9, 25, 30) with high reactivity at low concentrations of sablefish IgM were used for the western blotting analysis. All showed banding at ~75 kDa, indicating reactivity towards the H chain of sablefish IgM (Figure 3.6), though mAb 1 had faint banding relative to other candidates. Ultimately, mAb 25 was chosen for further testing and application to downstream processes because of the high reactivity and sensitivity towards sablefish IgM during the ELISA screening.

3.4.4 Cloning and Characterization

The three clones of mAb 25 behaved similarly and retained specificity and sensitivity to sablefish IgM as well as lacking cross reactivity to other teleost serum and the *A. salmonicida* T30 antigen. Clone A, referred to as UI-25A, was chosen for further downstream applications. Western blot

analysis shown in Figure 3.7 demonstrates the specificity UI-25A has to the heavy chain of sablefish IgM with banding at 75 kDa, and lack of banding or reactivity to other products in sablefish plasma as well as proteins and carbohydrates in other fish species sera. UI-25A was typed as an IgG2b mouse antibody, and the concentration of the stock used for all other applications described was 60 µg mL⁻¹.

<u>3.4.5 Development of ELISA to Measures A. salmonicida Specific Antibodies in Sablefish</u> Through standard checkerboard titrations, the optimal concentration was chosen for coating antigen, primary, and secondary antibodies. The T30 coating antigen was used at 5 µg mL⁻¹, while the primary and secondary antibodies were optimized at 1:800 and 1:5000 dilutions respectively. Log antibody titers were significantly different between vaccinated and control sablefish (3.86 ± 0.09 vs. 2.43 ± 0.05; p < 0.0001; Figure 3.8). This demonstrates the effectiveness of UI-25A in measuring specific circulating antibodies and differentiating immune responses between vaccination treatments *in vitro*.

3.4.6 Western Blot Analysis of A. salmonicida

Western blotting of the T30 whole cell profile with the immune plasma from vaccinated sablefish showed bands at primary immunogenic regions of 60-80 and 10 kDa (Figure 3.9A), while LPS extract had banding only in the 70-80 kDa region (Figure 3.9B).

3.4.7 Immunofluorescent Staining of Membrane Bound IgM

Imaging showed red fluorescent signals on IgM+ cells collected from head kidney imprints. The UI-25A did not bind to all sablefish head kidney cells (Figure 3.10a) and did not bind to any cells from similarly prepared burbot head kidney tissue imprints (Figure 3.10b). This demonstrates the ability of UI-25A to recognize membrane bound IgM in sablefish in addition to secreted IgM antibodies in circulation.

3.5 Discussion

Literature on fish immunology has increased along with the growth of aquaculture worldwide and reviews can be found on innate [35], cell mediated [36], and humoral immunity [15]. Antibodies (polyclonal or monoclonal) specific to fish Igs are important components in the development of vaccines, immune boosting treatments, and diagnostic assays that further support aquaculture. They are also useful in the management and monitoring of diseases in wild fish populations. In the past these tools were reserved for economically important species such as Atlantic salmon [37] or catfish [38] where demand and funding for vaccines or other diagnostic assays were higher. Presently, fish immunoglobulins, specifically their structures and role in immune function, are much better understood and fundamental research is useful for not only aquaculture but also understanding the

evolution of vertebrate immunity [39]. The reduced cost and increasing availability of tools to create mAbs has led to a renaissance of increased production for niche and emerging aquaculture species.

Sablefish aquaculture attracts growers and investors as an emerging aquaculture species due to its limited commercial availability, high marketability, and their ability to be incorporated into existing aquaculture infrastructure including net pens and commercial salmonid diets [4]. Research of the immune system in sablefish is increasing and recent studies have focused on their susceptibility to pathogens [40], vaccination and pathogen challenges [13,14], and effect of environmental factors on immune function [41]. A polyclonal anti-sablefish IgM chicken IgY antibody was used by Vasquez et al. [14] to measure total circulating IgM, and it was found that ~125 g sablefish had relatively low levels, ~ 75 μ g mL⁻¹, compared to other species. However, the antibody was not able to measure specific antibody levels due to non-specific binding to the A-layer of *A. salmonicida*.

Sablefish IgM, purified through a mannan binding protein matrix, showed two distinct bands at about 75 and 25 kDA in reduced SDS-PAGE conditions. These bands correspond to the H and L chain sizes of other Teleostei IgM such as large yellow croaker [22], Nile tilapia [21], Indian major carps [42], muskellunge [19], Atlantic salmon [37], and sea bass [18]. In this study 32 mAb candidates were evaluated for their specificity and sensitivity to sablefish IgM using ELISA and western blot techniques. The selected mAb, UI-25A, is specific to the H chain of sablefish IgM which is a desired epitope for these tools because of its specificity to individual Ig classes, whereas the L chain may share kappa or lambda chains across different Ig classes [19]. The only other member of the family Anoplopomatiae, the skilfish (*Erilepis zonifer*), is not well studied except for some general information on life history, distribution, and current stock status [43]. Cross reactivity of UI-25A to skilfish IgM was not tested due to lack of opportunistic samples from the species, but there may be interest in the future to determine the extent of similarities in antibody characterization between the Anoplopomatidae family members. To our knowledge, this is the first reported mAb available for detection of sablefish IgM.

The UI-25A mAb is effective in detecting circulating antibodies in sablefish specific to atypical *A*. *salmonicida*, an important pathogen affecting sablefish aquaculture. It is well understood that IgM levels and their specificity to pathogens is important for a well-developed humoral immune response in fish [44]. The ability for mAbs, including UI-25A, to identify specific antibodies in blood circulation is a powerful tool for evaluation of the immune response in fish under various conditions. This study found significantly higher *A. salmonicida* specific IgM titers in vaccinated sablefish compared to a control group (Figure 3.8), which corresponded to significantly higher survival during

a pathogen challenge previously performed with these treatment groups [13]. UI-25A was also successfully used to determine the specificity of antibody responses using immunoblotting of whole cell and LPS extracts from A. salmonicida (Figure 3.9). Banding between 60-80 kDa indicates specificity to the A-layer protein of A. salmonicida isolates [45] and likely the O-polysaccharide-core of the LPS though molecular mass range of LPS can vary among isolates [46]. Similar responses have been observed in other species [47], and future studies may use these techniques to further elucidate the antibody response of sablefish to a variety of A. salmonicida isolates. This technique will also be useful in screening important target antigens for vaccine formulations against A. salmonicida or other pathogens [48]. Prevention of diseases caused by A. salmonicida in sablefish aquaculture is difficult due to the diversity of the pathogen [49]. Western blotting may be used to evaluate the ability of formulated vaccines to induce specific antibody responses against novel or emerging isolates, this has previously been done for other diverse bacterial pathogens [50]. Aside from measuring and evaluating specific antibody presence in the blood, measuring the presence and activity of IgM+ cells is another application that UI-25A can be used in. Through immunofluorescent staining, we have demonstrated that the UI-25A mAb can detect and bind to membrane bound sablefish IgM (Figure 3.10). This type of staining may be applied to similar assays, such as flow cytometry, to detect and quantify the presence and activity of IgM+ B cells or other cell types [18,20]. In summary, a murine mAb specific to the H chain of sablefish IgM was developed. A number of potential mAb candidates were screened by ELISA and western blotting before selecting UI-25A as the optimal clone for downstream applications. UI-25A was successfully applied in an ELISA and western blot to characterize the immune response of sablefish vaccinated against atypical A. salmonicida. In addition, UI-25A was and used in immunofluorescent microscopy to identify IgM+ cells. This study and the characterization of UI-25A provides a valuable tool for the study of immunity in sablefish and has implication for the development of disease prevention strategies and advancing aquaculture for this species.

3.6 Acknowledgements

This work was funded by a grant from the Western Regional Aquaculture Center (Award No. 2020-38500-32561). We would also like to acknowledge the funding for previous work by Arkoosh et al. [13] that was used in this manuscript; National Oceanic Atmospheric Administration Award No. NA14OAR4170078. We thank Cameron Schuster for the collection, organization, and shipment of samples to the University of Idaho. We thank Victoria Hulubei for her assistance and expertise in the development of monoclonal antibodies at WSU. Any use of trade, firm, or product names is for descriptive purposes only and does not imply endorsement.

3.7 References

 Hartley ML, Schug DM, Wellman KF, Lane B, Fairgrieve WT, Luckenbach JA. Sablefish Aquaculture: An Assessment of Recent Developments and Their Potential for Enhancing Profitability 2020. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.25923/cb0y-n468.

[2] Heather Wiedenhoft. Advances in US sablefish aquaculture. Aquaculture North America 2017.

[3] Melissa A. Haltuch, Kelli F. Johnson, Nick Tolimieri, Maia S. Kapur, Claudio A. Castillo-Jordan. Status of the sablefish stock in U.S. waters in 2019. Portland: 2019.

[4] Goetz FW, Anulacion BF, Arkoosh MR, Cook MA, Dickhoff WW, Dietrich JP, et al. Status of sablefish, *Anoplopoma fimbria*, aquaculture. J World Aquac Soc 2021;52:607–46. https://doi.org/10.1111/jwas.12769.

[5] Kennedy WA. Preliminary Study of Sablefish Culture, a Potential New Industry. Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada 1972;29:207–10. https://doi.org/10.1139/f72-035.

[6] Luckenbach JA, Fairgrieve WT, Hayman ES. Establishment of monosex female production of sablefish (*Anoplopoma fimbria*) through direct and indirect sex control. Aquaculture 2017;479:285–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2017.05.037.

[7] Forster IP, Campbell B, Morton B, Hicks B, Rowshandeli M. Optimization of fishmeal, fish oil and wheat in diets for juvenile sablefish, *Anoplopoma fimbria*. Aquaculture Research 2017;48:3032–40. https://doi.org/10.1111/are.13135.

[8] Cook MA, Massee KC, Wade TH, Oden SM, Jensen C, Jasonowicz A, et al. Culture of sablefish (*Anoplopoma fimbria*) larvae in four experimental tank designs. Aquacultural Engineering 2015;69:43–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaeng.2015.09.003.

[9] Lee JSF, Poretsky RS, Cook MA, Reyes-Tomassini JJ, Berejikian BA, Goetz FW.
Dimethylsulfoniopropionate (DMSP) Increases Survival of Larval Sablefish, *Anoplopoma fimbria*.
Journal of Chemical Ecology 2016;42:533–6. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10886-016-0713-z.

[10] Stentiford GD, Sritunyalucksana K, Flegel TW, Williams BAP, Withyachumnarnkul B,
Itsathitphaisarn O, et al. New Paradigms to Help Solve the Global Aquaculture Disease Crisis. PLOS
Pathogens 2017;13:e1006160. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1006160.

[11] Evelyn TPT. An Aberrant Strain of the Bacterial Fish Pathogen Aeromonas salmonicida Isolated from a Marine Host, the Sablefish (Anoplopoma fimbria), and from Two Species of Cultured Pacific Salmon. Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada 1971;28:1629–34. https://doi.org/10.1139/f71-243.

[12] Vasquez I, Hossain A, Gnanagobal H, Valderrama K, Campbell B, Ness M, et al. Comparative Genomics of Typical and Atypical *Aeromonas salmonicida* Complete Genomes Revealed New Insights into Pathogenesis Evolution. Microorganisms 2022;10:189. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms10010189.

[13] Arkoosh MR, Dietrich JP, Rew MB, Olson W, Young G, Goetz FW. Exploring the efficacy of vaccine techniques in juvenile sablefish, *Anoplopoma fimbria*. Aquaculture Research 2018;49:205–16. https://doi.org/10.1111/are.13449.

[14] Vasquez I, Cao T, Hossain A, Valderrama K, Gnanagobal H, Dang M, et al. *Aeromonas salmonicida* infection kinetics and protective immune response to vaccination in sablefish (*Anoplopoma fimbria*). Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2020;104:557–66.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2020.06.005.

[15] Ye J, Kaattari IM, Ma C, Kaattari S. The teleost humoral immune response. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2013;35:1719–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2013.10.015.

[16] Salinas I, Fernández-Montero Á, Ding Y, Sunyer JO. Mucosal immunoglobulins of teleost
fish: A decade of advances. Developmental & Comparative Immunology 2021;121:104079.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2021.104079.

[17] Salinas I, Zhang Y-A, Sunyer JO. Mucosal immunoglobulins and B cells of teleost fish.
Developmental & Comparative Immunology 2011;35:1346–65.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2011.11.009.

[18] Yang S, Tang X, Sheng X, Xing J, Zhan W. Development of monoclonal antibodies against
IgM of sea bass (*Lateolabrax japonicus*) and analysis of phagocytosis by mIgM+ lymphocytes. Fish
& Shellfish Immunology 2018;78:372–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2018.04.042.

[19] Faisal M, Standish IF, Vogelbein MA, Millard E v., Kaattari SL. Production of a monoclonal antibody against of muskellunge (*Esox masquinongy*) IgM heavy chain and its use in development of an indirect ELISA for titrating circulating antibodies against VHSV-IVB. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2019;88:464–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2019.03.002.

[20] Bunnoy A, Na-Nakorn U, Srisapoome P. Development of a Monoclonal Antibody Specific to the IgM Heavy Chain of Bighead Catfish (*Clarias macrocephalus*): A Biomolecular Tool for the Detection and Quantification of IgM Molecules and IgM+ Cells in Clarias Catfish. Biomolecules 2020;10:567. https://doi.org/10.3390/biom10040567.

[21] Velázquez J, Rodríguez A, Aragón H, Haidar A, González M, Valdés R, et al. Monoclonal antibody against Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*) IgM heavy chain: A valuable tool for detection and quantification of IgM and IgM+ cells. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2021;110:44–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2020.12.007.

[22] Huang Y, Yuan X, Mu P, Li Q, Ao J, Chen X. Development of monoclonal antibody against IgM of large yellow croaker (*Larimichthys crocea*) and characterization of IgM+ B cells. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2019;91:216–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2019.05.035.

[23] Ottinger CA, Smith CR, Blazer VS, Iwanowicz LR, Vogelbein MA, Kaattari S. Production and characterization of a mouse monoclonal antibody against smallmouth bass (*Micropterus dolomieu*) IgM. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2021;113:20–3. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2021.03.006.

[24] Wu R, Shen J, Lai X, He T, Li Y. Development of monoclonal antibodies against serum immunoglobulins from gibel carp (*Carassius auratus gibelio*) and their applications in serodiagnosis of inapparent infection and evaluation of vaccination strategies. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2020;96:69–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2019.11.059.

[25] Gong H, Cao J, Liu C, Zhu C, Bergmann SM, Zheng Y, et al. Development and application of monoclonal antibody against IgM of hybrid snakehead (*Channa maculata* $\Im \times$ *Channa argus* \Im). Aquaculture Research 2021;52:4371–9. https://doi.org/10.1111/are.15275.

[26] Maki JL, Dickerson HW. Systemic and Cutaneous Mucus Antibody Responses of Channel Catfish Immunized against the Protozoan Parasite *Ichthyophthirius multifiliis*. Clinical and Vaccine Immunology 2003;10:876–81. https://doi.org/10.1128/CDLI.10.5.876-881.2003.

 [27] Yokoyama WM, Christensen M, Santos G dos, Miller D, Ho J, Wu T, et al. Production of Monoclonal Antibodies. Current Protocols in Immunology 2013;102.
https://doi.org/10.1002/0471142735.im0205s102. [28] Deluca D, Wilson M, Warr GW. Lymphocyte heterogeneity in the trout, *Salmo gairdneri*, defined with monoclonal antibodies to IgM. European Journal of Immunology 1983;13:546–51. https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.1830130706.

[29] Oliver LP. Monoclonal antibody against Burbot (*Lota lota*) IgM. Unpublished Manuscript 2022.

[30] Crowther JR. ELISA Guidebook, The. vol. 149. New Jersey: Humana Press; 2000. https://doi.org/10.1385/1592590497.

[31] LaFrentz BR, LaPatra SE, Jones GR, Congleton JL, Sun B, Cain KD. Characterization of serum and mucosal antibody responses and relative per cent survival in rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss* (Walbaum), following immunization and challenge with *Flavobacterium psychrophilum*. Journal of Fish Diseases 2002;25:703–13. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2761.2002.00424.x.

[32] Long A, Fehringer TR, Swain MA, LaFrentz BR, Call DR, Cain KD. Enhanced efficacy of an attenuated *Flavobacterium psychrophilum* strain cultured under iron-limited conditions. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2013;35:1477–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2013.08.009.

[33] Tsai C-M, Frasch CE. A sensitive silver stain for detecting lipopolysaccharides in polyacrylamide gels. Analytical Biochemistry 1982;119:115–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/0003-2697(82)90673-X.

[34] R Core Team. R: A language and environment for statistical computing 2020.

[35] Rebl A, Goldammer T. Under control: The innate immunity of fish from the inhibitors' perspective. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2018;77:328–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2018.04.016.

[36] Nakanishi T, Shibasaki Y, Matsuura Y. T Cells in Fish. Biology (Basel) 2015;4:640–63. https://doi.org/10.3390/biology4040640.

[37] Håvarstein LS, Aasjord PM, Ness S, Endresen C. Purification and partial characterization of an IgM-like serum immunoglobulin from atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). Developmental & Comparative Immunology 1988;12:773–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/0145-305X(88)90052-3.

[38] Ainsworth AJ, Dexiang C, Greenway T. Characterization of monoclonal antibodies to channel catfish, *Ictalurus punctatus*, leucocytes. Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology 1990;26:81–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/0165-2427(90)90134-E.

[39] Mashoof S, Criscitiello M. Fish Immunoglobulins. Biology (Basel) 2016;5:45. https://doi.org/10.3390/biology5040045.

[40] Arkoosh MR, Dietrich JP. Pathogenicity of Members of the Vibrionaceae Family to Cultured
Juvenile Sablefish. Journal of Aquatic Animal Health 2015;27:96–103.
https://doi.org/10.1080/08997659.2015.1019159.

[41] Leeuwis RHJ, Hall JR, Fabio ZS, Smith N, Clow KA, Kumar S, et al. Climate change may impair fish adaptive immunity via hypoxia-mediated effects. Manuscript Submitted for Publication 2022.

[42] Bag MR, Makesh M, Rajendran KV, Mukherjee SC. Characterization of IgM of Indian major carps and their cross-reactivity with anti-fish IgM antibodies. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2009;26:275–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2008.11.009.

[43] Zolotov OG, Spirin IYu, Zudina SM. New data on the range, biology, and abundance of skilfish *Erilepis zonifer* (Anoplopomatidae). Journal of Ichthyology 2014;54:251–65. https://doi.org/10.1134/S0032945214020131.

[44] Costa G, Danz H, Kataria P, Bromage E. A holistic view of the dynamisms of teleost IgM: A case study of *Streptococcus iniae* vaccinated rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Developmental & Comparative Immunology 2012;36:298–305. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2011.04.011.

 [45] Johnson CM, Tatner MF, Horne MT. Autoaggregation and extracellular A-layer protein in *Aeromonas salmonicida*. Aquaculture 1985;46:163–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/0044-8486(85)90200 5.

[46] Rockey D, Dungan C, Lunder T, Rohovec J. Monoclonal antibodies against *Aeromonas* salmonicida lipopolysaccharide identify differences among strains. Diseases of Aquatic Organisms 1991;10:115–20. https://doi.org/10.3354/dao010115.

[47] Hastings TS, Ellis AE. Detection of Antibodies Induced in Rainbow Trout by Different *Aeromonas salmonicida* Vaccine Preparations. Journal of Aquatic Animal Health 1990;2:135–40. https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-8667(1990)002<0135:DOAIIR>2.3.CO;2.

[48] Chen Z, Peng B, Wang S, Peng X. Rapid screening of highly efficient vaccine candidates by immunoproteomics. Proteomics 2004;4:3203–13. https://doi.org/10.1002/pmic.200300844.

[49] O'hIci B, Olivier G, Powell R. Genetic diversity of the fish pathogen *Aeromonas salmonicida* demonstrated by random amplified polymorphic DNA and pulsed-field gel electrophoresis analyses. Diseases of Aquatic Organisms 2000;39:109–19. https://doi.org/10.3354/dao039109.

[50] Ma J, Bruce TJ, Sudheesh PS, Knupp C, Loch TP, Faisal M, et al. Assessment of crossprotection to heterologous strains of *Flavobacterium psychrophilum* following vaccination with a live-attenuated coldwater disease immersion vaccine. Journal of Fish Diseases 2019;42:75–84. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfd.12902.

3.9 Tables and Figures



Figure 3.1 Purified IgM from sablefish plasma analyzed by SDS-PAGE. Lane L, protein standard ladder; Lane 1, purified sablefish IgM; Lane 2, raw sablefish plasma. Banding at 75 and 25 kDa represent the heavy and light chains of sablefish IgM respectively.



Figure 3.2 Screening serum from mice immunized with sablefish IgM for specificity to various coating antigens (BBT = burbot; RBT = rainbow trout; SBL = sablefish) at different concentrations (From 1 to 5: 0.625, 0.312, 0.156, 0.078, and 0.039 μ g mL⁻¹ for sera and plasma; 0.125, 0.062, 0.031, 0.015, 0.007 μ g mL⁻¹ for purified sablefish IgM). X-axis indicates coating antigen concentrations. Y-axis indicates absorbance values at OD₄₀₅. Values are mean of duplicates ± SEM. Different letters above bars indicate statistically significant differences among groups at specific antigen concentrations (*p* < 0.05).



Figure 3.3 Screening of mAb candidates produced by 32 different hybridoma colonies recognizing purified sablefish IgM. MS, mouse serum positive control. Dashed line at OD_{405} of 1.0 was used as a threshold of high reactivity to target antigen. Values are mean of duplicates \pm SEM. Plates were coated with 1 µg mL⁻¹ of purified sablefish IgM.



Figure 3.4 Screening of top 24 mAb candidates at a 1:50 dilution with wells coated in 0.0625 μ g mL⁻¹ of purified sablefish IgM. MS (dark gray), mouse serum positive control. Top four candidates, bars in light gray (mAbs 1, 9, 25, 30), were chosen for further analysis. Values are mean of duplicates \pm SEM.



Figure 3.5 Screening of the top four mAb candidates at different serial dilutions. X-axis indicates mAb dilution in KPBS-T. Y-axis indicates average absorbance value at 405 nm. Values are mean of 3 replicates \pm SEM. Letters above bars indicate statistical significance among groups at specific dilutions (p < 0.05).



Figure 3.6 Western blot analysis of mAb candidates and their binding specificity to proteins in sablefish plasma. An SDS-PAGE was performed with sablefish plasma, then probed with individual mAb candidates (1, 9, 25, 30) to determine their region of reactivity to sablefish plasma. Bands at 75 kDA represent binding to the heavy chain of sablefish IgM. Numbers above lanes denote mAb candidate used for immunostaining. All mAb candidates were specific to the heavy chain of sablefish IgM.



Figure 3.7 Western blot analysis of raw fish plasma or serum using UI-25A. An SDS-PAGE was performed on several different fish species serum: Lane L, protein standard ladder; Lane 1, sablefish plasma; Lane 2, coho salmon serum; Lane 3, Atlantic salmon serum; Lane 4, rainbow trout serum; Lane 5, burbot serum. White shadows represent proteins in fish plasma or serum that were transferred to nitrocellulose paper, dark bands represent specific binding of UI-25A. This demonstrates the specificity of UI-25A to the heavy chain of sablefish IgM (~75 kDa) and lack of cross reactivity to proteins found in blood circulation of other fish species.



Figure 3.8 *A. salmonicida* specific IgM levels, expressed as log antibody titers, detected using ELISA in vaccinated and naïve sablefish plasma from a previous experiment. Letters above bars indicated significant difference between groups (p < 0.05).



Figure 3.9 Immunofluorescence staining of head kidney imprints from sablefish and burbot. A, immunofluorescence-stained sablefish with UI-25A mAb; B, immunofluorescence-stained burbot with UI-25A mAb. Red color denotes UI-25A visualization and binding to sablefish IgM. Cells surrounded in red are likely B cells expressing IgM on their surface. Cells without red are other tissue cells with no membrane bound IgM.

3.8 Supplementary Material

Supplemental Table 3.1 Absorbance values (\pm SEM) of mAb candidates with different coating antigens

	Coating antigen		
mAb	Burbot serum	Rainbow trout	Purified IgM
candidate	(10 µg/mL)	serum (10 µg/mL)	(1 µg/mL)
1	0.082 ± 0.014	0.067 ± 0.002	1.587 ± 0.019
4	0.0635 ± 0.002	0.059 ± 0.0	1.1065 ± 0.006
5	0.061 ± 0.005	0.06 ± 0.0	1.559 ± 0.034
6	0.0625 ± 0.003	0.0665 ± 0.010	1.4605 ± 0.054
8	0.067 ± 0.003	0.0905 ± 0.016	1.318 ± 0.108
9	0.0685 ± 0.006	0.0725 ± 0.006	1.5425 ± 0.040
10	0.0595 ± 0.001	0.073 ± 0.0	1.4785 ± 0.009
11	0.0755 ± 0.009	0.074 ± 0.004	1.3495 ± 0.026
12	0.0865 ± 0.015	0.0865 ± 0.021	1.399 ± 0.003
13	0.0725 ± 0.006	0.0675 ± 0.001	1.4235 ± 0.009
17	0.0725 ± 0.011	0.0855 ± 0.024	1.268 ± 0.018
18	0.0575 ± 0.004	0.07 ± 0.006	1.322 ± 0.029
20	0.0795 ± 0.007	0.077 ± 0.001	1.367 ± 0.008
21	0.0725 ± 0.012	0.076 ± 0.011	1.315 ± 0.025
22	0.06 ± 0.002	0.1025 ± 0.007	1.309 ± 0.080
24	0.077 ± 0.015	0.092 ± 0.003	1.4335 ± 0.010
25	0.0925 ± 0.013	0.0745 ± 0.009	1.593 ± 0.025
26	0.081 ± 0.002	0.0605 ± 0.002	1.3985 ± 0.004
27	0.0705 ± 0.002	0.066 ± 0.004	1.447 ± 0.004
28	0.0965 ± 0.022	0.0785 ± 0.006	1.376 ± 0.007
29	0.079 ± 0.011	0.0655 ± 0.001	1.5195 ± 0.041
30	0.073 ± 0.0	0.086 ± 0.012	1.4685 ± 0.001
31	0.0775 ± 0.010	0.073 ± 0.008	1.463 ± 0.007
32	0.075 ± 0.013	0.0765 ± 0.001	1.377 ± 0.003

Chapter 4: Conclusion

4.1 General Discussion

The experiments described in this project were undertaken to improve the understanding of oral vaccinations in an established aquaculture species and to develop a new tool for study of the immune system in an emerging marine aquaculture species. The continued growth of aquaculture demands this research type of research in order to manage losses associated with disease. In fact, some research shows that increasing growth and intensification of aquaculture can provide an environment that quickly selects for more virulent strains of fish pathogens [1]. This increases the urgency with which researchers have studied vaccine development for the industry; in the past 5 years there have been multiple reviews focusing on the current status and potential progress of vaccine development [2–10]. As such, this project aimed to provide valuable knowledge about the adaptive immune system of each species studied.

Mucosal vaccination has often been the subject of past research because of the potential ease of administration by immersion or oral routes compared to the injection route that often provides the best protection against disease [11]. In Chapter 2, rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) were vaccinated via three different mucosal routes, immersion, oral, and anal, as well as by injection. Survival after a pathogen challenge was similar across all routes, except when an adjuvant was incorporated into the injection vaccine to simulate the current industry standard for furunculosis vaccines [12]. The highlight of this study was the use of a novel oral vaccine macro-particle; produced by encapsulating an Aeromonas salmonicida bacterin and amino acid filled liposomes within alginate. This is the first known instance of an alginate macro-particle used as a vaccine carrier in fish, and it provided significant protection against disease at both 4 and 13 weeks post vaccination compared to a control group injected with sterile PBS. Though not as high as the adjuvanted injection vaccine, this increase in survival provides strong evidence for the efficacy of this alginate macroparticle as an oral vaccine platform in fish. It was also observed that the orally vaccinated fish had significantly higher specific IgM levels in both the serum and skin mucus 4 weeks post vaccination compared to controls, demonstrating its ability to stimulate both the mucosal and systemic adaptive immune systems. Oral vaccines are sought after because of the reduced handling and stress of fish, the ease of mass vaccination in net pens or ponds, and the potential stimulation of the mucosal immune system [13]. The alginate macro-particle used in the present study provided all these benefits and as such has great potential as an oral vaccine carrier in aquaculture. The relative percent survival was not as high compared to injection vaccines, but oral vaccines have value as an easy way to boost

immunity for extended durations after primary vaccination with more traditional routes such as immersion or injection [14,15]. Supplementing existing injection vaccination programs in farms with immersion and oral vaccines delivered to some fish may provide a more economical route to achieving herd immunity. A portion of fish well-protected against disease by way of injection vaccines may be enough to slow transmission through the rest of lesser-protected fish vaccinated with immersion or oral routes. The relative percent survivals achieved with the oral vaccine in the current study, 40.5% and 50%, is typically not high enough for primary vaccination in most farm settings; however, it was not studied as a booster following other vaccination methods, and further improvements can be made in dosing, feeding, and formulation of the particle that may increase its efficacy. In fact, formulation for more efficient antigen release should provide a boost to immunity. The oral vaccine was delivered at doses approximately 150 times greater than the other routes, even though it provided similar protection during pathogen challenge. Even though the vaccine was present at lower levels in the gut, fish vaccinated by anal intubation demonstrated higher and more consistent anti-A. salmonicida antibodies in both trials. This indicates that antigen release from the particles was inefficient since previous studies in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) demonstrate a strong correlation between a furunculosis vaccine dose and specific antibody response [16]. Though a balance must be struck between high vaccine doses delivered in Chapter 2 and the potential development of oral tolerance to the vaccine antigen, which other studies have shown can lead to a decreased immune response [17,18].

An interesting observation in Chapter 2 is the resistance to disease in fish fed the plain macro-alginate particle without vaccine. At 13 weeks post vaccination, fish fed only these control particles had survival similar to all other vaccination routes and was significantly higher than a PBS control group. When challenged 4 weeks post vaccination, survival was still higher than the PBS injection control group but not significantly; survival was also lower, but not significantly so, compared to the oral, immersion, and anal immunization treatments. This was an unexcepted result and further research is required to characterize the mechanisms behind this additional protection. Rainbow trout may have developed a specific immune response to the alginate in the particle itself, and this carbohydrate specificity may have cross reacted with polysaccharide components of the *A. salmonicida* isolate. However, if the cross reactivity of antigens between polysaccharides in the bacteria and alginate were similar, elevated *A. salmonicida* specific antibodies would have likely been observed in the control particle group. Alginic acid has been studied as an immunostimulant in several fish species including rainbow trout, with evidence that suggests its ability to stimulate the innate immune system [19,20], as well as one study that found increased lymphocyte levels in the blood [21]. Another study showed

that after injection, the highest uptake of alginate nanoparticles was observed in the intestine of rainbow trout [22]. These studies combined with the results discussed in Chapter 2 demonstrate that alginic acid supplements may protect rainbow trout against disease, and that oral delivery may be the most efficient route of administration. The widespread availability and relatively low cost of alginic acid makes this an attractive strategy to improve fish welfare in aquaculture. Further research with the empty alginate macro-particles used in the present study should focus on changes in the immune response, both innate and adaptive. To ensure the alginate macro-particle is safe and does not affect nutrient absorption and growth rates, changes in intestinal morphology or function should be studied by determining differences in cellular makeup through immunohistochemistry. Changes in enzymatic activity and pH of the distinct intestinal segments would also provide valuable information on the effects of the alginate macro-particle.

In order to characterize immune changes in response to vaccines, tools capable to identifying specific components of the adaptive immune system are required. The goal in Chapter 3 was to develop such a tool for an emerging marine aquaculture species, sablefish (*Anoplopoma fimbria*). The same alginate macro-particle discussed in Chapter 2 was also being tested in parallel studies with sablefish by OSU and NOAA, though because sablefish is a relatively new species to intensive aquaculture [23], the ability to characterize specific immunity in response to vaccination was not capable. Previous studies into sablefish susceptibility to pathogens and vaccination techniques relied on relative survival after vaccination and quantification of total circulating immunoglobulins, and not targeting pathogen specific immune parameters [24–26].

As such, a monoclonal antibody (mAb) specific to sablefish Immunoglobulin M (IgM) was made in a mouse model and tested in several applications. Sablefish IgM was purified through a mannan binding protein matrix, the heavy and light chain fragments were found to be similar in size to those purified from other teleost species [27–30]. After screening numerous potential mAb candidates, the selected mAb, dubbed UI-25A, is specific to the heavy chain of sablefish IgM and does not cross react with antigens in the serum of other fish species or bacterial antigens from *A. salmonicida* or *Flavobacterium psychrophilum*. Specificity to the heavy chain is ideal because it is more conserved in teleost IgM compared to light chain fragments that may share chains across different immunoglobulin classes [31]. Using UI-25A, an ELISA was developed in order to measure anti-*A. salmonicida* antibodies in sablefish. Samples from a previously published study by Arkoosh et al. [24] in which a commercial multivalent vaccine that included an atypical isolate of *A. salmonicida*. This atypical isolate was used as a coating antigen in an ELISA, and plasma collected from both vaccinated and

unvaccinated fish were tested. Specific IgM was significantly higher in vaccinated fish, and this correlated to significantly higher survival in a pathogen challenge reported in the previous study [24]. This is an important step for sablefish aquaculture, as it demonstrates a protective role for specific antibodies induced by vaccination. The UI-25A antibody was also used to determine antigenic regions of the *A. salmonicida* isolate in the vaccine. This was done through western blot analysis by probing proteins and carbohydrates with plasma from vaccinated sablefish. Results showed immunogenic regions of the bacteria corresponded to the A-layer proteins and O-polysaccharide-core of the lipopolysaccharide. Research has demonstrated the importance of these components for inactivated *A. salmonicida* vaccines [32–34], and this agrees with work shown in the current project with sablefish. The ability of the UI-25A mAb to bind to membrane bound IgM was also demonstrated through immunofluorescent microscopy in Chapter 3. The validation of its use in this application opens many paths of future research specifically characterizing the presence, function, and response of plasma cells in sablefish in response to pathogen infection or vaccination. Recent studies in more established aquaculture species have characterized the distribution of IgM+ cells and their phagocytic capabilities [35,36], with UI-25A this is now possible to determine in sablefish.

In summary, this thesis describes the evaluation of a novel oral vaccine particle in an established aquaculture species and characterizes a new tool to measure antibody responses in an emerging marine aquaculture species. These findings are impactful for the aquaculture industry because of the risk posed by diseases and the continued expansion of culture operations into new species such as sablefish. This work provides a strong foundation for the continued research of oral vaccines against *A. salmonicida* as well as the potential benefits of a non-specific alginate macro-particle as an immunostimulant capable of preventing disease loss. Groundwork has also been laid for future research of the adaptive immune system in sablefish, and the UI-25A mAb provides scientists with an important tool to assist with the development of vaccines for the industry.

4.2 References

[1] Sundberg L-R, Ketola T, Laanto E, Kinnula H, Bamford JKH, Penttinen R, et al. Intensive aquaculture selects for increased virulence and interference competition in bacteria. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 2016;283:20153069. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2015.3069.

Wang Q, Ji W, Xu Z. Current use and development of fish vaccines in China. Fish &
Shellfish Immunology 2020;96:223–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2019.12.010.

[3] Matsuura Y, Terashima S, Takano T, Matsuyama T. Current status of fish vaccines in Japan.
Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2019;95:236–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2019.09.031.

[4] Munang'andu HM, Evensen Ø. Correlates of protective immunity for fish vaccines. Fish &
Shellfish Immunology 2019;85:132–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2018.03.060.

[5] Ma J, Bruce TJ, Jones EM, Cain KD. A Review of Fish Vaccine Development Strategies: Conventional Methods and Modern Biotechnological Approaches. Microorganisms 2019;7:569. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms7110569.

[6] Adams A. Progress, challenges and opportunities in fish vaccine development. Fish and Shellfish Immunology 2019;90:210–4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2019.04.066.

[7] Giri SS, Kim SG, Kang JW, Kim SW, Kwon J, Lee S bin, et al. Applications of carbon nanotubes and polymeric micro-/nanoparticles in fish vaccine delivery: progress and future perspectives. Reviews in Aquaculture 2021;13:1844–63. https://doi.org/10.1111/raq.12547.

[8] Sudheesh PS, Cain KD. Prospects and challenges of developing and commercializing immersion vaccines for aquaculture. International Biology Review 2017;1. https://doi.org/10.18103/ibr.v1i1.1313.

[9] Dadar M, Dhama K, Vakharia VN, Hoseinifar SH, Karthik K, Tiwari R, et al. Advances in Aquaculture Vaccines Against Fish Pathogens: Global Status and Current Trends. Reviews in Fisheries Science and Aquaculture 2017;25:184–217. https://doi.org/10.1080/23308249.2016.1261277.

[10] Vinay TN, Bhat S, Gon Choudhury T, Paria A, Jung M-H, Shivani Kallappa G, et al. Recent Advances in Application of Nanoparticles in Fish Vaccine Delivery. Reviews in Fisheries Science & Aquaculture 2018;26:29–41. https://doi.org/10.1080/23308249.2017.1334625.

Somamoto T, Nakanishi T. Mucosal delivery of fish vaccines: Local and systemic immunity following mucosal immunisations. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2020;99:199–207.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2020.01.005.

[12] Midtlyng PJ. Vaccination Against Furunculosis. vol. Fish Vaccination. Elsevier; 2014. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-012093040-1/50020-8. Bøgwald J, Dalmo RA. Protection of Teleost Fish against Infectious Diseases through Oral
Administration of Vaccines: Update 2021. International Journal of Molecular Sciences
2021;22:10932. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms222010932.

[14] Romalde JL, Luzardo-Alvárez A, Ravelo C, Toranzo AE, Blanco-Méndez J. Oral immunization using alginate microparticles as a useful strategy for booster vaccination against fish lactoccocosis. Aquaculture 2004;236:119–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2004.02.028.

[15] Jaafar RM, Al-Jubury A, Dalsgaard I, MohammadKarami A, Kania PW, Buchmann K. Effect of oral booster vaccination of rainbow trout against Yersinia ruckeri depends on type of primary immunization. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2019;85:61–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2017.10.049.

[16] Romstad AB, Reitan LJ, Midtlyng P, Gravningen K, Evensen Ø. Antibody responses correlate with antigen dose and in vivo protection for oil-adjuvanted, experimental furunculosis (Aeromonas salmonicida subsp. salmonicida) vaccines in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) and can be used for batch potency testing of vaccines. Vaccine 2013;31:791–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2012.11.069.

[17] Davidson GA, Ellis AE, Secombes CJ. A preliminary investigation into the phenomenon of oral tolerance in rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss, Walbaum, 1792). Fish & Shellfish
Immunology 1994;4:141–51. https://doi.org/10.1006/fsim.1994.1012.

[18] Marana MH, Chettri JK, Salten MB, Bach-Olesen NE, Kania PW, Dalsgaard I, et al. Primary immunization using low antigen dosages and immunological tolerance in rainbow trout. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2020;105:16–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2020.06.049.

[19] Gioacchini G, Lombardo F, Avella MA, Olivotto I, Carnevali O. Welfare improvement using alginic acid in rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) juveniles. Chemistry and Ecology 2010;26:111–21. https://doi.org/10.1080/02757541003627738.

[20] Peddie S, Zou J, Secombes CJ. Immunostimulation in the rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) following intraperitoneal administration of Ergosan. Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology 2002;86:101–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-2427(02)00019-3.

[21] Faghani T, Kousha A, Takami GH, Faghani S. Surveying on Alginic Acid and Antistreptococcus Vaccine Effects on the Growth Performance, Survival Rate, Hematological Parameters in Rainbow Trout (Oncorhynchos mykiss). World Journal of Zoology 2008;2:54–8. [22] Heidarieh M, Daryalal F, Mirvaghefi A, Rajabifar S, Diallo A, Sadeghi M, et al. Preparation and anatomical distribution study of 67Ga-alginic acid nanoparticles for SPECT purposes in rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Nukleonika 2014;59:153–9. https://doi.org/10.2478/nuka-2014-0019.

[23] Goetz FW, Anulacion BF, Arkoosh MR, Cook MA, Dickhoff WW, Dietrich JP, et al. Status of sablefish, Anoplopoma fimbria, aquaculture. J World Aquac Soc 2021;52:607–46. https://doi.org/10.1111/jwas.12769.

[24] Arkoosh MR, Dietrich JP, Rew MB, Olson W, Young G, Goetz FW. Exploring the efficacy of vaccine techniques in juvenile sablefish, Anoplopoma fimbria. Aquaculture Research 2018;49:205–16. https://doi.org/10.1111/are.13449.

[25] Arkoosh MR, Dietrich JP. Pathogenicity of Members of the Vibrionaceae Family to Cultured
Juvenile Sablefish. Journal of Aquatic Animal Health 2015;27:96–103.
https://doi.org/10.1080/08997659.2015.1019159.

[26] Vasquez I, Cao T, Hossain A, Valderrama K, Gnanagobal H, Dang M, et al. Aeromonas salmonicida infection kinetics and protective immune response to vaccination in sablefish (Anoplopoma fimbria). Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2020;104:557–66.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2020.06.005.

[27] Zhang W, Tang XQ, Sheng XZ, Xing J, Zhan WB. Development and application of monoclonal antibodies against IgM of black rockfish Sebastes schlegeli. Journal of Fish Biology 2017;90:1668–75. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfb.13279.

[28] Ottinger CA, Smith CR, Blazer VS, Iwanowicz LR, Vogelbein MA, Kaattari S. Production and characterization of a mouse monoclonal antibody against smallmouth bass (Micropterus dolomieu) IgM. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2021;113:20–3. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2021.03.006.

[29] Gong H, Cao J, Liu C, Zhu C, Bergmann SM, Zheng Y, et al. Development and application of monoclonal antibody against IgM of hybrid snakehead (Channa maculata $\Im \times$ Channa argus σ). Aquaculture Research 2021;52:4371–9. https://doi.org/10.1111/are.15275.

[30] Huang Y, Yuan X, Mu P, Li Q, Ao J, Chen X. Development of monoclonal antibody against IgM of large yellow croaker (Larimichthys crocea) and characterization of IgM+ B cells. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2019;91:216–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2019.05.035. [31] Faisal M, Standish IF, Vogelbein MA, Millard E v., Kaattari SL. Production of a monoclonal antibody against of muskellunge (Esox masquinongy) IgM heavy chain and its use in development of an indirect ELISA for titrating circulating antibodies against VHSV-IVB. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2019;88:464–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2019.03.002.

[32] Bjornsdottir R, Eggset G, Nilsen R, Jorgensen TO. The A-layer protein of Aeromonas salmonicida: further characterization and a new isolation procedure. Journal of Fish Diseases 1992;15:105–18. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2761.1992.tb00645.x.

[33] Lund V, Arne Arnesen J, Coucheron D, Modalsli K, Syvertsen C. The Aeromonas salmonicida A-layer protein is an important protective antigen in oil-adjuvanted vaccines. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2003;15:367–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1050-4648(02)00180-8.

[34] Lund V, Espelid S, Mikkelsen H. Vaccine efficacy in spotted wolffish Anarhichas minor: Relationship to molecular variation in a-layer protein of atypical Aeromonas salmonicida. Diseases of Aquatic Organisms 2003;56:31–42. https://doi.org/10.3354/dao056031.

[35] Yang S, Tang X, Sheng X, Xing J, Zhan W. Development of monoclonal antibodies against
IgM of sea bass (Lateolabrax japonicus) and analysis of phagocytosis by mIgM+ lymphocytes. Fish
& Shellfish Immunology 2018;78:372–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2018.04.042.

[36] Velázquez J, Rodríguez A, Aragón H, Haidar A, González M, Valdés R, et al. Monoclonal antibody against Nile tilapia (Oreochromis niloticus) IgM heavy chain: A valuable tool for detection and quantification of IgM and IgM+ cells. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2021;110:44–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2020.12.007.